
 

 
 

Investment Board 
 
 
Date: 
 

Monday 18 March 2024 
 

Time: 
 

10.00 am Public meeting  Yes 

Venue: 
 

Room 116, West Midlands Combined Authority, 16 Summer Lane, Birmingham, B19 
3SD 
 

 
Membership 
 
Councillor Bob Sleigh (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Finance 
Councillor Mike Bird Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Steve Clark Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Matthew Dormer Non-Constituent Authorities 
Councillor Peter Hughes Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Jim O'Boyle Coventry City Council 
Councillor Stephen Simkins City of Wolverhampton Council 
Councillor Sharon Thompson Birmingham City Council 
Paul Brown Business Representative 
Sue Summers West Midlands Development Capital 
Gary Taylor Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local Enterprise 

Partnership 
 
Quorum for this meeting shall be four members. 
 
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact: 
 
Contact Wendy Slater,  Senior Governance Services Officer 
Telephone 07557831344 
Email wendy.slater@wmca.org.uk 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 

AGENDA 
 
No. 
 

Item Presenting Pages 
 
Meeting Business Items 
  
1.   Apologies for Absence (if any) 

 
Chair None 

 
2.   Notification of Substitutes (if any) 

 
Chair None 

 
3.   Declarations of Interests (if any) 

Members are reminded of the need to declare 
any disclosable pecuniary interests they have in 
an item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of 
it was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or 
£40 (hospitality). 
 

Chair None 

 
4.   Minutes - 12 February 2024 

 
Chair 1 - 8 

 
Business Items for Noting 
  
5.   Investment Programme Update and Dashboard 

 
Ian Martin 9 - 28 

 
6.   WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - 

Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 29 - 32 

 
7.   WMCA Brownfield Land and Property 

Development Fund (BLPDF) - Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 33 - 36 

 
8.   WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - 

Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 37 - 40 

 
Business Items for Consideration 
  
9.   Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme 

 
George Simms 41 - 126 

 
10.   Exclusion of the Public and Press 

[To pass the following resolution: 
That in accordance with Section 100A4 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the following items of business 
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information relating to the business affairs of any 
particular person (Including the authority holding 
that information)] 
 
 
 
 

Chair None 

 



 
Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 

Business Items for Consideration 
  
11.   Stratford Gateway Acquisition 

 
Anna Jones 127 - 196 

 
12.   OBC Change Request – Electric Vehicle 

Charging Area Transit Stations (EV CATS) 
 

Ian Martin 197 - 250 

 
13.   Midland Metropolitan Hospital Learning Campus 

 
John Godfrey 251 - 266 

 
14.   Gee Business Centre 

 
Ed Bradburn 267 - 280 

 
15.   Wavensmere, Canalside South 

 
Kieren Turner-Owen 281 - 294 

 
16.   Proposed Hotel, Edgbaston, Warwickshire 

County Cricket Club 
 

Nick Oakley 295 - 312 

 
Business Items for Noting 
  
17.   WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - 

Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 313 - 320 

 
18.   WMCA Brownfield Land and Property 

Development Fund (BLPDF) - Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 321 - 326 

 
19.   WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - 

Dashboard 
 

Nick Oakley 327 - 332 

 
20.   Land and Property Investment Fund (LPIF) 

 
Kelly Valente 333 - 338 

 
Date of next meeting - 15 April 2024 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

 
 

Investment Board 
 

Monday 12 February 2024 at 10.00 am 
 

Minutes 
 
Present   
Councillor Bob Sleigh (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Finance 
Councillor Mike Bird Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Steve Clark Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Matthew Dormer Non-Constituent Authorities 
Councillor Peter Hughes Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
Councillor Jim O'Boyle Coventry City Council 
Sue Summers West Midlands Development Capital 
Gary Taylor Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local 

Enterprise Partnership 
Councillor Christopher Burden City of Wolverhampton Council 
 
In Attendance via MS Teams  
Councillor Sharon Thompson Birmingham City Council 
 
 
Item 
No. 

Title 
 
112.   Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Simkins (City of 
Wolverhampton Council). 
  

113.   Notification of Substitutes 
Councillor Stephen Simkins (City of Wolverhampton Council) had nominated 
Christopher Burden as his substitute. 
  

114.   Minutes - 15 January 2024 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2024 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
  

115.   WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - Dashboard 
 The board considered a report detailing the Commercial Investment Fund 
dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Resolved: That the report be noted.  
  
  
  

116.   WMCA Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund (BLPDF) - 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

Page 2 of 7 
 

Dashboard 
The board considered a report detailing the Brownfield Land and Property 
Development Fund dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
  

117.   WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - Dashboard 
The board considered a report detailing the Residential Investment Fund 
dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
  

118.   Thrive into Work Individual Placement and Support in Primary Care - 
Change Request 
The board considered a report of the interim Director of Employment, Skills, 
Health and Communities that sought approval for a programme Change 
Request of £7,936.20 grant funding, to continue to deliver Individual 
Placement and Support Services across the region through to 31 March 
2025.  
  
It was noted that the original programme commenced as a pilot in 2018 prior 
to the establishment of the WMCA’s Single Assurance Framework (SAF) and 
the requirement for a business case to be developed. The Change Request 
submitted, seeks to provide assurance to the board in the absence of a 
business case. 
  
The Strategic Lead for Health Inequalities, Tatum Matharu outlined, the 
report and advised the board that the WMCA has successfully secured grant 
funding to continue the Individual Placement and Support Services (IPS) 
initiative that seeks to support adults who have a physical or mental disability 
to move into competitive employment and maintain that employment. The 
IPS initiative is a new model of integrated health and employment support 
that aligns with primary care network boundaries. The programme aims to 
target 3474 individuals with a goal of 1570 new employment outcomes over 
two years. 
  
Councillor Grinsell noted the proposed establishment of an expert advisory 
group that would report into both the WMCA’s Wellbeing Board and its 
Employment and Skills Advisory Panel and enquired as to who would have 
ultimate responsibility for the programme. She considered that it was vitally 
important for primary care (Directors of Primary Care) to be represented on 
the expert advisory group to ensure the programme is delivered in the right 
way. 
  
Councillors O’ Boyle and Burden sought assurance that programme 
providers would work with local authorities who could input in the process. 
 
The Strategic Lead for Health Inequalities, Tatum Matharu, reported that the 
new governance arrangements for the programme had not yet been finalised 
but look would ensure the directors of primary care were involved.  
 
She advised that the transition of the Health and Communities workstreams 

Page 2



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

to the Employment and Skills Directorate would ensure closer and joined up 
working across programmes with local authorities and providers. 
  
Resolved that: 
  

1.    The Change Request (attached as appendix 1to the report) to support 
the ongoing delivery of the Department for Work and Pensions grant 
funded delivery phase of Individual Placement Support Primary Care 
Services (April 2023- March 2025 of £7,936,620 be approved and 

2.    The information within the Change Request setting out the programme 
financial deliverables, commissioning activity and governance 
arrangements be noted. 
 

   
119.   Exclusion of the Public and Press 

Resolved: 
  
That in accordance with Section 100A4 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press And public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the following items of business as they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information relating to the business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
  

120.   Stratford Gateway Collaboration Agreement 
The board considered a report of the interim Executive Director of Housing, 
Property and Regeneration that informed them of the intention for the WMCA 
to enter into a Collaborative Agreement with Stratford- on- Avon District 
Council for the WMCA to facilitate a residential led mixed use development 
on the Stratford Gateway site. 
  
The Development Manager, Acquisitions and Disposals, Anna Jones, 
outlined the background to the scheme that was a priority site for Stratford-
on-Avon District Council. Councillor George Cowcher and Tony Perks from 
Stratford-on-Avon District Council were in attendance to support the 
submission of the report. 
  
In relation to questions raised from members regarding the budget for the 
scheme, land acquisition costs and liabilities related to the listed buildings, it 
was noted these issues would be addressed in the report submitted to the 
board next month that seeks approval for the acquisition of the Stratford 
Gateway site.  
  
The board endorsed the proposed Collaborative Agreement with Stratford-
on-Avon- District Council. 
  
Resolved that: 
   

1.    That the WMCA propose to enter into a Collaborative Agreement with 
Stratford-on-Avon District Council in respect of the WMCA’s 
acquisition and subsequent development of the Gateway site be 
noted; 

2.    The requirement for a budget as set out in the report, to cover the 

Page 3



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

costs of the WMCA negotiating and completing the Collaborative 
Agreement and the costs of negotiating agreed terms for the 
acquisition of the Gateway site be noted; 

3.    That it is proposed that approval be sought from Investment Board at 
its meeting on 18 March 2024 to acquire the Gateway site be noted.  

  
121.   Horton 45, Telford TF7FA/Hortonwood 45 Ltd/ Telford & Wrekin 

The board considered a report of the Director of Commercial and Investment 
that sought approval of loan funding from the Commercial Investment Fund 
(CIF) for the sum specified in the report to the ‘Company,’ for 2 years, for the 
development and construction of industrial space at a key employment 
location in the Hortonwood industrial area of Telford. 
  
Nick Oakley (West Midlands Development Capital) outlined the key aspects 
of the investment proposal detailed in the report. 
  
Resolved that: 
  

1.    The powers and ability of the WMCA to make the proposed loan be 
noted; 

2.    The comments made by Investment Panel when the proposal was 
presented be noted; 

3.    The loan investment from the Commercial Investment Fund for the 
sum specified in the report to the ‘Company’, for a term of 2 years 
under the Commercial Investment Fund/Residential Investment Fund 
as per the terms conditions set out in the report be approved and 

4.    The negotiation and approval of the final terms of the loan be 
delegated to the Director of Commercial and Investment, in 
consultation with the S.151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

  
  

122.   Abberley Street Disposal 
The board considered a report of the interim Executive Director of Housing, 
Property and Regeneration that sought approval in principle for the disposal 
of the site at Abberley Street to the developer for the purpose of a 100% 
affordable housing scheme. 
  
It was noted that the report submitted sought to address the issues and 
concerns raised by members at the last meeting (15 January 2024) when a 
decision on the report was deferred.   
  
The Head of Strategy & Analysis, Rob Lamond, summarised the responses 
to the issues raised with regards to the historical and current valuations of 
the site, assurance and options considered. 
  
Councillor Hughes reported that liaison between the WMCA and Sandwell 
Council needs to be better moving forward but he supported the site being 
utilised for residential and affordable housing. 
 
 
  
In relation to concerns expressed by Gary Taylor regarding the WMCA 

Page 4



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

overpaying for land which could distort the real estate market, the Head of 
Property & Strategic Assets, Nigel Ford, reported that all valuations are now 
based on current market conditions and prevailing planning policy.  
  
Councillor Grinsell considered the need to document lessons learnt and to 
monitor decisions taken by Senior Officers exiting the organisation. 
  
The Executive Director of Finance and Business Hub, Linda Horne, reported 
that the WMCA’s Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee had undertaken an 
investigation into housing as part of a whistleblowing report and all actions 
had been implemented. She undertook to share the committee report with 
members on a confidential basis. 
  
Further to the enquiry made by Councillor O’ Boyle at the last meeting 
regarding why leasehold is not being considered by the WMCA for its land 
disposals, the Director of Commercial and Investment, Ian Martin, reported 
that if the land was disposed of on the open market the developer would 
require the freehold. He advised that this was because a developer would 
wish to sell houses on with a freehold title and the legislation was now 
moving away from allowing leasehold for new build houses. However, if the 
WMCA wished to protect from the scenario where development did not 
occur, then Housing colleagues have reported that the WMCA could include 
a buy back option into any land disposal covering an event where the 
developer purchases a freehold and does not build within a specified time 
period.  
  
  
Resolved that: 
  

1.    Approval in principle to the exploration of the freehold disposal by the 
WMCA of the site at Abberley Street (which is shown edged on red on 
the Plan attached to the report) at a price that is consistent with the 
current unrestricted market value for the purpose of affordable 
housing, to enable a period of due diligence to inform Best & Final 
Offer be agreed and 

2.    The work above be undertaken in order to fully inform Investment 
Board on the matter, for which final approval to the Best & Final Offer 
would be sought at a later date be noted. 

  
123.   Stone Yard 

The board considered a report of the interim Executive Director of Housing, 
Property and Regeneration that sought to update them on the 
implementation of the first resolution of the Investment Board of 13 
November 2023 relating to the change of ownership of Stone Yard 
development site and sought approval to vary the grant agreement between 
the WMCA and Court (the Charter) Birmingham Limited to extend the 
deadline for the letting of the building contract to 31 March 2025. 
  
Martin Yardley, Housing Property & Regeneration Consultant, outlined the 
background to the project, provided an update on the current status with 
Aviva/Moda and outlined the options available to the WMCA. He advised that 
the reasons for the delay to the project (set out in paragraph 5.2 of the 

Page 5



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

report) had been independently assessed and the advice recommended 
support for an extension to the project. 
  
The Executive Director of Finance & Business Hub, Linda Horne, reported 
that all papers have been reviewed since the original decision was taken on 
the project and the conditions for the first grant payment had been met. She 
advised that lessons have been learnt from the project regarding the need to 
improve commercial legal arrangements that are put in place. She added 
that the Monitoring Officer’s advice was not to pursue litigation and 
considered the recommendation put forward was right and in the best 
interests of the public purse. 
  
Gary Taylor noted that the contract had already been extended by 18 months 
and was now extended by a further 12 months and enquired as to what 
would happen if another extension was requested. 
  
Martin Yardley advised that Court were complying with the current contract. 
  
The Executive Director of Finance & Business Hub, Linda Horne, 
acknowledged historical issues regarding the legal agreement had led to the 
current position but reported that the advice she had received was that there 
was nothing further the WMCA could do on the matter and the best course of 
action was the proposed recommendation. 
  
The Chair confirmed that both the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer 
are satisfied that Court have complied with the contract. 
  
Resolved that: 
  

1.    The WMCA be authorised to enter a Deed of Variation of the Grant 
Agreement date 19 March 2021 between the (1) WMCA and (2) Court 
(the Charter) Birmingham Limited to extend by one year the condition 
that requires the letting of a building contract for the construction of 
not less than 497 residential units on the Stone Yard development site 
(31 March 2024 to March 2025) be agreed and 

2.    This report was endorsed by the Investment Panel on 22 January 
2024 be noted. 

  
  

124.   Pipe Hall, Bilston - Update Position 
The board considered a briefing note of the Head of Property & Strategic 
Assets that provided an update on co-development between the City of 
Wolverhampton Council and the WMCA of proposal for Pipe Hall. 
  
The briefing note was submitted further to a request from Councillor Simkins 
who had asked at an update at the meeting of the Investment Board on 11 
December 2023. 
  
The note outlined work in progress and steps which are being undertake to 
determine how the WMCA and the City of Wolverhampton Council with other 
key stakeholders generate a housing, community and heritage led 
regeneration project. 

Page 6



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

  
Resolved that: 
  
The collaborative working between the WMCA, and the City of 
Wolverhampton Council and the range of options being considered be 
acknowledged. 
  

125.   WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - Dashboard 
The board considered a report detailing the Commercial Investment Fund 
dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Nick Oakley (West Midlands Development Capital) reported that £127m from 
the Commercial Investment Fund had been committed, with £66m drawn. 
Combined with RIF, total debt committed is £183m (including the approval of 
Horton 45 at this Board) and £83m drawn. He advised that due to the 
success of the Commercial Investment Fund/ Residential Investment Fund, 
consideration is required to be given to increasing the overall cap of £210m if 
lending is to continue. 
  
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
  

126.   WMCA Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund (BLPDF) - 
Dashboard 
The board considered a report detailing the Brownfield Land and Property 
Development Fund dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Resolved: That the report noted. 
  

127.   WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - Dashboard 
The board considered a report detailing the Residential Investment Fund 
dashboard as at 1 February 2024. 
  
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
  

128.   Land and Property Investment Fund (LPIF) 
The board considered a report detailing the Black Country Land and Property 
Investment Fund as at 31 January 2024. 
  
Resolved that: The report be noted. 
 

 
The meeting ended at 11.30 am. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Investment Board 

 
 
Date 18 March 2024 

Report title Investment Programme Update 

Portfolio Lead Councillor Bob Sleigh - Finance  

Accountable Chief 
Executive 
 

Laura Shoaf 
Email: Laura.Shoaf@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7444 

Accountable 
Employee 
 

Ian Martin  
Email: Ian.Martin@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7926 

Report has been 
considered by 

N/A 

 
The WMCA Investment Board is recommended to: 
 

1. Note approval under delegated authority by WMCA Officers of the business case 
submission disclosed at Section 3. 

2. Note the WMCA Investment Programme funding status and current affordable limit, as 
outlined at Section 4. 

3. Note the Regional Investment Programme delivery update detailed within this report and 
appendices (including the project-level summary within the WMCA Investment 
Programme dashboard at Appendix 2). 

1 Purpose 
1.1 The Investment Board agreed on 26th March 2018 to receive a monthly report on the 

status of the Investment Programme to help set the context for any investment decisions 
being made by the Board. This report fulfils that requirement. 

2 Background 
2.1 The Investment Board was established by the WMCA Board as a key element of the 

approvals process across the Investment Programme.  
2.2 The Investment Board considered and endorsed an enhanced Terms of Reference at its 

meeting on 20th April 2020 (approved by WMCA Board 24th July 2020). This set out an 
enhanced role supporting decision-making, greater post approval controls, performance 
management and effective delivery of monitoring & evaluation requirements.  

2.3 The enhanced Terms of Reference included the following: 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Ian.Martin@wmca.org.uk


• To oversee and monitor all investments made through the Investment Programme. 

• To add conditions to any funding decision that falls within its delegated authority. 
Minimum conditions should specify the availability period, conditions to drawdown of 
funds, conditions for withdrawal of support and terms of clawback, start date and 
completion date for the project or programme. 

• Where oversight of monitoring and evaluation applies to the Investment Board, to 
consider whether a formal review of project or programme is required, and to 
consider this review itself or instruct the Investment Panel to do so on its behalf. 

2.4 On the 10th of June 2022, WMCA Board approved extending the role and remit of 
WMCA Investment Board to cover all WMCA projects (including the CRSTS programme), 
allowing investment decisions to be made for values between £5 million and £20 million 
in line with the Single Assurance Framework. 

3 Investment Programme Assurance Summary 
3.1 Approved grant funding awarded and administered by the WMCA to programmes within 

the Regional Investment Programme totals £854.2 million as at 29th February 2024 
(previously £853.7 million as at 31st January 2024) – refer to paragraph 3.4. 

3.2 These commitment values above exclude the provisional ‘ear-marked’ allocations agreed 
by WMCA Board in March 2021 that are yet to obtain formal approval. Commitments for 
some of these ear-marked items will be confirmed via the approval of further reports to 
WMCA Board. 

3.3 WMCA Investment Programme funding actually drawn / incurred by projects against 
these funding commitments as at 31st December 2023 totals £598.6 million. An analysis 
of funding drawn is provided at Appendix 1. 

3.4 Since the previous full sitting of WMCA Investment Board on 12th February 2024 there 
has been one business case submission approved under delegated powers in respect of 
grant funding. This was a SOC submission for the West Coast Mainline M42 bridge 
project. Funding of £0.5m was awarded from the Investment Programme for the 
development of an OBC.  

3.5 Appendix 1 details the commitments made against the WMCA Investment Programme, 
summarised by programme, to the end of February 2024. The WMCA Investment 
Programme dashboard at Appendix 2 discloses the sums committed against individual 
projects. 

4 Investment Programme Affordable Limit & Gateway Status 
4.1 At the WMCA Board meeting on 19th March 2021, WMCA Board approved an increase 

to the current WMCA Investment Programme affordable limit of £70 million, from £801 
million to £871 million.  

4.2 This remains the current limit of grant funding that can be provided by WMCA from the 
Investment Programme. The WMCA capital programme is currently subject to a review 
due to the opportunities arising from the region’s Single Settlement secured with Central 
Government. 

4.3 Investment Board is advised to note that WMCA are working closely with the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (‘DLUHC’) in respect of an Interim Gateway 
Review.  

• WMCA have worked with DLUHC-appointed consultants SQW, to establish a list 
of projects within scope for evaluation. 

Page 10



• A Local Evaluation Framework (LEF) was drafted in May 2023 and is currently 
with DLUHC for approval. 

• Work on the Mid-Term Gateway Review commenced in September 2023, 
originally a deadline of February 2024 was agreed for documentation to be 
submitted to DHLUC. Following dialogue between WMCA, SQW and DHLUC it 
has been agreed that the Mid-Term Review would be paused – whilst work on the 
LEF is ongoing. 

• Despite the current pause on the Mid-Term Review, the 10-year Gateway Review 
is still expected to be complete by November 2025. 

4.4 An internal Audit is being conducted on the Investment Programme monitoring under the 
instruction of ARAC and as part of routine reports on all aspects of the WMCA 
functionality. The Investment Board will be advised of the outcome and any 
recommendations arising when these are produced – expected in the next few weeks. 

 
5 Investment Programme Delivery and Expenditure 
5.1 The expenditure funded by the WMCA Investment Programme during Q3 of FY23-24 

totals £48.9m. This expenditure comprises: 

• Significant spending of £25.1m in respect of on-site construction works for Phase 1 of 
the Wednesbury to Brierley Hill Metro extension; 

• Construction works for the interim Birmingham Eastside Extension project (endorsed 
at WMCA Board on 17th November 2023) of £8.4m; 

• Land reclamation and remediation works within the Land & Property Investment Fund 
(£6.6m); and 

• Capital expenditure incurred on Wolverhampton Interchange Programme, Rail Camp 
Hill Line Local Enhancements (Package 2), Coventry City Centre South programme, 
Brownfield Land Property Development and the City of Wolverhampton Technical 
Centre.  

5.2 The WMCA Investment Programme dashboard at Appendix 2 provides a detailed 
summary by project of project completion dates, business case stage and commentary 
on key project milestones. 

6 Investment Programme Dashboard 
6.1 The Investment Programme (IP) Dashboard is attached separately at Appendix 2.  
6.2 The dashboard identifies whether project starts, and completions are as forecast when 

compared with the original business case, or funding documentation where this 
supersedes the business case. 

6.3 There are eighty-four projects that have passed the Assurance Process and have 
received a financial commitment (noting that several projects have identified distinct sub-
projects within the approval). One new project has been added to the Investment 
Programme Dashboard – CRSTS – CRNaC – West Coast Mainline M42 Bridge SOC. 
This was approved by DSO on 26 February 2024 and is utilising £510k of residual IP 
funds from the Hub Movement and Connectivity project within the UKC Interchange 
Programme.  

Page 11



6.4 Sixteen schemes have a RED status for completion dates, with the Assurance and 
Appraisal team working with Sponsors to bring forward requests to extend dates to the 
relevant approval body. Those projects with a RED status are brought to the 
attention of Investment Board. 

• UKC Interchange – UGC Business Plan – UGC Operating Costs has moved to a 
RED status due to a Change Request being received in Assurance and Appraisal to 
extend the completion date. The Change Request was resubmitted on 10/01/24 
responding to queries raised by Appraisal. A further resubmission of the Change 
Request was submitted on 27/02/2024, reflecting Appraisal recommendations.    

• UKC Infrastructure – There are now ten schemes which are listed as RED status 
because the original completion date has either expired without the project 
concluding or the project requires a time extension. The IP team are working with 
programme Assurance and Appraisal and Project Sponsor to determine a 
consolidated approach to reflect a number of time extension requests across the 
UKC Infrastructure Programme. The schemes currently RED status are: 

• A45 Damson Parkway Junction Improvements;   
• Solihull Town Centre Public Realm Improvement Scheme;   
• Kingshurst Village Centre;   
• Chelmsley Wood Town Centre;   
• Walking, Cycling & Green Infrastructure Investment Programme;   
• UKC Hub Access and Transport Modelling Programme;  
• Accelerated Housing Delivery - Utilising Solihull Assets;   
• Playing Pitch Implementation Strategy; and  
• Middlewood House.  
• Sustainable Energy – Solihull Town Centre Low Carbon Energy Network.   

• Coventry South Interchange -A46 Stoneleigh Junction (A46 Link Road Phase 1). 
RED status due to approved completion date having expired. A Change Request 
has been received in Assurance & Appraisal to extend the completion date (this has 
subsequently expired); queries raised with project sponsor are currently outstanding. 
Subsequently, the IP SRO has emailed the project SRO requesting an update.  

• Metro Programme. Birmingham Eastside Extension – The original Project Change 
Request has been withdrawn due to a planned refresh of the Full Business Case. A 
date for this is to be confirmed.  

• Rail. A Change Request is awaited from Project Team as the following three 
projects are being rebased, reflecting a number of known challenges: 

• Walsall to Wolverhampton Local Enhancements (Package 1). 
• Camp Hill Line Local Enhancements (Package 2). 
• Sutton Coldfield Gateway 

7 Legal Implications 
7.1 There are no legal implications as a result of the recommendations within this report. 

8 Equalities Implications 
8.1 There are no equalities implications as a result of the recommendations within this report. 

9 Inclusive Growth Implications 
9.1 There are no inclusive growth implications as a result of the recommendations within this 

report. 

Page 12



10 Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
10.1 There are no geographical implications as a result of the recommendations within this 

report. The Regional Investment Programme comprises an array of programmes 
throughout each of the seven West Midlands constituent member areas. These 
programmes also have implications for some non-constituent areas and the wider local 
area beyond the constituent member regions. 

11 Other Implications 
12.1 Not applicable. 
 
13 Schedule of Background Appendices 

Appendix 1: Tables and Graphs 
Table 1: WMCA Investment Programme Commitments (as at 29th February 2024) This 
table summarises the total grant funding approved to date to be provided by WMCA from 
the WMCA Investment Programme, summarised by programme. 
Graph 1: WMCA Investment Programme Funding Drawn This graph shows how 
Investment Programme Funding has been drawn to date and the current expectations for 
future drawings from within the current affordable limit. 
Appendix 2: WMCA Investment Programme Dashboard Report (as at 29th February 
2024) See separate attachment. This appendix summarises the WMCA grant funding 
commitments by project, as well as business case stage and expected project completion 
dates.

Page 13



 

 

APPENDIX 1: TABLES AND GRAPHS 

 

TABLE 1 (£'000)

WMCA Investment Programme Commitment
 Approved 

Commitments 
 Actual Spend

To Date 

Coventry UK Central Plus 94,727 94,356
Sprint Programme 47,034 42,425
Rail Programme 63,026 26,746
Metro Programme 227,030 153,035
UK Central Infrastructure Package 35,678 28,876
UK Central HS2 Interchange 57,539 43,182
Subtotal - HS2 Growth Strategy 525,034 388,621
Coventry City Centre South Regeneration 149,954 68,129
Innovation Programme 16,131 15,304
Land Reclamation and Remediation 103,040 80,272
Commonwealth Games 2022 25,000 25,000
Employment, Education & Skills 1,312 1,312
Business and Tourism Project - BATP 2,600 2,538
Coventry Electric Bus City 5,000 623
Regional Recovery & Risks 26,150 16,757
Subtotal - Other IP Schemes 329,187 209,936
Grand Total 854,221 598,557

WMCA IP Commitments

Page 14



 

 

 

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Prepared By: WMCA Finance & Business Hub

IP Milestone Baseline Summary

0 - 3 month variance 54 0 - 3 month variance 39

3 - 6 month variance 2 3 - 6 month variance 1

6 months or over 0 6 months or over 16

Completed 28 Completed 28

TBC 0 TBC 0

Total 84 Total 84

Investment Programme Dashboard 

Reporting Period: February 2024 Date: 18 March 2024

54

2
0

28

0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 - 3 month
variance

3 - 6 month
variance

6 months or over Completed TBC

S
c

h
e

m
e

s

Time

Approved Projects - Forecast Starts

39

1

16

28

0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0 - 3 month
variance

3 - 6 month
variance

6 months or over Completed TBC

S
c

h
e

m
e

s

Time

Approved Projects - Forecast Completion

Key Movement 

Total number of schemes being reported to 84
54 schemes report Green status
2 schemes continue to report Amber status
0 schemes report Red status
28 schemes completed

Key Movement 

Of the 84 schemes being reported against:
39 schemes report a Green status. 
1 scheme reports an Amber status
16 schemes report a Red status
28 schemes completed

1

P
age 17



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

UKC Interchange 

UGC Business Plan. UGC 

Operating Costs - 8 Years 

to 31/03/24.

SOC
Investment 

Board
13/02/2018 N/A 11.04 10.24 01/04/2016 01/04/2016 31/03/2024 31/03/2027

A change request has been received extending 

the project completion date to 31/03/27 and the 

reallocation of £994k from the HS2 Parallel 

Designs Roundabout Over-Trace. The Change 

Request was resubmitted on 10/01/24 

responding to queries raised by Appraisal. A 

further resubmission of the Change Request 

was submitted on 27/02/2024, reflecting 

Appraisal recommendations.   

HS2 Hybrid Act Change 

(HS2 Parallel Designs)

OBC Investment 

Board
13/02/2018 N/A 9.80 7.91 13/02/2018 13/02/2018 31/12/2025 31/12/2025

HS2 Parallel Designs - 

Automated People Mover 

Alignment and Capacity 

Upgrade

FBC
Investment 

Board
10/08/2020 N/A 5.75 0.00 10/08/2020 10/08/2020 31/12/2029 31/12/2029 Project closure process currently ongoing.

HS2 Parallel Designs - Hub 

Movement and Connectivity
SOC SLT 26/08/2020

OBC

TBC
1.48 0.72 26/08/2020 26/08/2020 30/06/2025 30/06/2025

£510k of IP residual funds have been 

transferred to the approved SOC CRSTS - 

CRNaC - West Coast Mainline M42 Bridge 

project 

HS2 Parallel Designs - 

Arden Cross Multi-Storey 

Car Park & Balancing 

Ponds

OBC WMCA Board 23/07/2021
FBC

2024
7.30 6.76 10/08/2020 10/08/2020 30/06/2024 13/07/2023 Project closure process currently ongoing.

HS2 Parallel Designs -  

Roundabout Overtrace
FBC WMCA Board 13/09/2019 N/A 11.36 10.12 13/09/2019 13/09/2019 31/12/2024 31/12/2024

HS2 Parallel Designs - 

Highway Pinch-Point 

Improvements [NEC 

Longabout]

FBC WMCA Board 08/11/2019 N/A 3.38 0.53 02/12/2019 02/12/2019 31/12/2024 31/12/2024

Birmingham International 

Station - Integrated 

Transport Hub

OBC
Investment 

Board
30/04/2018

FBC 

Dec-22
6.10 6.10 30/04/2018 30/04/2018 31/12/2022 31/12/2022 Project closure process currently ongoing.

Strategy: Utilities, Land 

Value, Car Parking 
SOC SLT 23/05/2017 OBC TBC 0.24 0.24 16/02/2017 16/02/2017 31/03/2023 31/03/2023 Project closure process currently ongoing.

CRSTS - CRNaC - West 

Coast Mainline M42 Bridge
SOC DOS 26/02/2024 OBC 0.51 0.00 TBC TBC 30/06/2025 30/06/2025 Contracting in progress.

IN FLIGHT: Committed Projects (with committed funding) 

2

P
age 18



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

UKC Infrastructure

2016/17 UKC PMO 

Expenditure
SOC 0.44 0.44 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

Management cost incurred by Solihull during 

the inception of UKC Infrastructure SOC Phase 

1 and 2. Project closure process ongoing.

A45 Damson Parkway 

Junction Improvements
SOC SLT 20/02/2019 OBC 1.48 1.48 06/10/2017 06/10/2017 31/12/2023 31/10/2024

Project update received - Value engineering 

exercise underway, FBC submission now 

expected 31/10/2024. IP team working with 

Programme Assurance and Appraisal to 

determine a consolidated change request 

approach to reflect a number of completion time 

extensions across the UKC Infrastructure 

Programme. A comprehensive Change 

Request for the UKC Infrastructure Programme 

is scheduled to be submitted during May 2024. 

A34 Stratford Road 

Enhancement Study
SOC SLT 19/09/2018 OBC 0.81 0.53 19/09/2018 19/09/2018 30/09/2026 30/09/2026

A452 Chester Road 

Enhancement Study
SOC SLT 19/09/2018 OBC 1.11 0.56 19/09/2018 19/09/2018 31/12/2023 30/06/2024

Project update received - Public consultation 

scheduled for Feb 24, OBC submission now 

expected 30/06/2024. IP team working with 

Programme Assurance and Appraisal to 

determine a consolidated change request 

approach to reflect a number of completion time 

extensions across the UKC Infrastructure 

Programme. A comprehensive Change 

Request for the UKC Infrastructure Programme 

is scheduled to be submitted during May 2024. 

Solihull Town Centre 

Access Improvements  
SOC SLT 19/09/2018 OBC 2.39 1.58 19/09/2018 19/09/2018 30/09/2026 30/09/2026

Wildlife Ways (A45 to Town 

Centre Damson Parkway 

Cycle Link)

FBC WMCA Board 28/09/2018 Closure 2.44 2.33 14/09/2018 14/09/2018 31/12/2023 31/12/2023 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Birmingham Business Park 

Southern Access
SOC

Investment 

Board
06/10/2017 Closure 0.07 0.06 06/10/2017 06/10/2017 31/12/2023 31/12/2023 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Solihull Station New 

location feasibility study
OBC

Investment 

Board
16/10/2017 Closure 0.07 0.07 16/10/2017 16/10/2017 30/06/2023 30/06/2023

This project has concluded, stating the rail 

station should stay in its existing location. 

Project complete with closure process ongoing.

3

P
age 19



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Solihull Town Centre Public 

Realm Improvement 

scheme

SOC
Investment 

Board
06/10/2017 OBC 0.58 0.52 06/10/2017 06/10/2017 30/09/2023 30/09/2024

Update received from project sponsor - 

Preparation of OBC being coordinated with a 

National Lottery Heritage Fund application to 

support delivery. OBC submission now 

expected 30/09/2024. IP team working with 

Programme Assurance and Appraisal to 

determine a consolidated change request 

approach to reflect a number of completion time 

extensions across the UKC Infrastructure 

Programme. A comprehensive Change 

Request for the UKC Infrastructure Programme 

is scheduled to be submitted during May 2024. 

Kingshurst Village Centre OBC
Investment 

Board
15/06/2020 FBC 5.73 5.73 15/06/2020 15/06/2020 30/09/2023 31/07/2024

Update received from project sponsor - First 

phase of development, 25 affordable net zero 

homes is underway. Continued engagement 

with WMCA Housing & Regeneration Team to 

identify funding to support the next phases of 

development. FBC submission now expected 

31/07/2024. IP team working with Programme 

Assurance and Appraisal to determine a 

consolidated change request approach to 

reflect a number of completion time extensions 

across the UKC Infrastructure Programme. A 

comprehensive Change Request for the UKC 

Infrastructure Programme is scheduled to be 

submitted during May 2024. 

Chelmsley Wood Town 

Centre
SOC

Investment 

Board
06/10/2017 OBC 3.43 2.70 06/10/2017 06/10/2017 30/09/2023 30/09/2024

Update received from project sponsor - 

Ongoing engagement with new shopping centre 

owners. OBC submission now expected 

30/09/2024. IP team working with Programme 

Assurance and Appraisal to determine a 

consolidated change request approach to 

reflect a number of completion time extensions 

across the UKC Infrastructure Programme. A 

comprehensive Change Request for the UKC 

Infrastructure Programme is scheduled to be 

submitted during May 2024. 

Accelerating Housing 

Delivery - Simon Digby
OBC

Investment 

Board
06/10/2017 FBC 1.13 1.09 06/10/2017 06/10/2017 29/02/2024 31/03/2024

Update received from project sponsor - On 

track to complete Feb 24. Project Completion 

Date has been extended by one month to allow 

for the finalising of contracts. 

4

P
age 20



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Walking, Cycling & Green 

Infrastructure Investment 

Programme

SOC
Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 OBC *2 0.96 0.76 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 31/12/2023 31/08/2024

Update received from project sponsor - 

Programme extended to allow for 

comprehensive stakeholder and public 

consultation. OBC submissions now expected 

31/08/2024. IP team working with Programme 

Assurance and Appraisal to determine a 

consolidated change request approach to 

reflect a number of completion time extensions 

across the UKC Infrastructure Programme. A 

comprehensive Change Request for the UKC 

Infrastructure Programme is scheduled to be 

submitted during May 2024. 

UKC Hub Access and 

Transport Modelling 

Programme

SOC
Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 SOC 0.52 0.49 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 30/09/2023 30/06/2024

Update received from project sponsor -  Slower 

than expected progress due to uncertainty 

around HS2. SOC submission now expected 

30/06/2024. IP team working with Programme 

Assurance and Appraisal to determine a 

consolidated change request approach to 

reflect a number of completion time extensions 

across the UKC Infrastructure Programme. A 

comprehensive Change Request for the UKC 

Infrastructure Programme is scheduled to be 

submitted during May 2024. 

5

P
age 21



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Solihull Station Integrated 

Transport Hub
SOC

Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 OBC 2.07 1.54 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 31/03/2023 15/09/2023 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Solihull Town Centre - 

Development & Investment
SOC

Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 OBC 1.85 1.84 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 31/10/2022 31/10/2022 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Accelerated Housing 

Delivery - Utilising Solihull 

Assets

SOC
Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 OBC 2.82 2.45 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 31/01/2023 30/06/2024

Project Change Request to be submitted to 

WMCA Assurance & Appraisal during March 

2024. OBC to be submitted June 2024. 

Playing Pitch 

Implementation Strategy
SOC SOP 13/01/2022 OBC 0.34 0.04 13/01/2022 13/01/2022 31/08/2022 31/12/2024

Spin-off of Project 31317_Accelerated Housing 

Delivery - Utilising Solihull Assets, with no 

additional funding commitment from WMCA.

Project Change Request to be submitted to 

WMCA Assurance & Appraisal during April 

2024. OBC to be submitted by the end of 2024. 

Middlewood House OBC SOP 04/10/2022 FBC 0.24 0.08 04/10/2022 04/10/2022 13/06/2023 30/04/2025

Spin-off of Project 31317_Accelerated Housing 

Delivery - Utilising Solihull Assets.

Project Change Request to be submitted in 

March 2024 to WMCA Assurance & Appraisal 

to extend completion date. FBC to be submitted 

April 2025. 

Rowood Drive OBC SLT 14/12/2022 FBC 0.50 0.05 05/12/2022 05/12/2022 10/09/2024 10/09/2024

Spin-off of Project 31317_Accelerated Housing 

Delivery - Utilising Solihull Assets. Project 

Change Request scheduled  to be submitted 

May 2024.

Inclusive Growth - Securing 

Social Value
SOC

Investment 

Board
20/08/2018

BCJ / 

Evaluation
1.13 0.79 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 31/03/2025 31/03/2025

Sustainable Energy - 

Enabling Clean Growth and 

Mobility

SOC
Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 TBD 0.65 0.51 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 30/06/2024 30/06/2024

Sustainable Energy - UKC 

Hub Low Carbon Heat 

Network

SOC
Investment 

Board
20/08/2018 TBD 0.20 0.09 20/08/2018 20/08/2018 30/09/2024 30/09/2024

Low Carbon Future Mobility SOC
Investment 

Board
18/09/2018 OBC 0.97 0.64 18/09/2018 18/09/2018 31/03/2025 31/03/2025

6

P
age 22



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Sustainable Energy - 

Solihull Town Centre Low 

Carbon Energy Network

OBC
Investment 

Board
15/06/2020 FBC 2.48 1.82 15/06/2020 15/06/2020 31/07/2023 TBC 

Project update received - working towards 

DBOM contract award in February. Change 

Request to be submitted to reflect updated 

programme. Confirmation to be provided on 

anticipated completion date. IP team working 

with Programme Assurance and Appraisal to 

determine a consolidated change request 

approach to reflect a number of completion time 

extensions across the UKC Infrastructure 

Programme. A comprehensive Change 

Request for the UKC Infrastructure Programme 

is scheduled to be submitted during May 2024. 

Local Strategic Network 

Resilience:  Connectivity 

and Enhancements 

Programme

SOC SLT 18/03/2020 OBC 0.71 0.71 18/03/2020 18/03/2020 28/02/2022

Paused / Part to 

be merged into 

31320

Subprojects:

Smart Resilient Assets: FBC Paused. 

Significant Network Connections: FBC Paused.

Sustainable Mobility Management OBC to be 

merged with Low Carbon Future Mobility.

UKC Hub Access - Balsall 

Common Multimodal 

Transport Package 

SOC Exec Director 19/12/2023 OBC 0.55 0.00 TBC TBC 31/12/2025 31/12/2025 Contracting in progress.

7

P
age 23



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Coventry City Centre First

City Centre First - Coventry 

Station Master Plan
FBC WMCA Board 09/03/2018 N/A 39.40 39.40 30/06/2018 31/10/2018 31/12/2031 31/12/2031

Coventry City Centre First FBC WMCA Board 28/06/2019 N/A 31.60 31.52 28/06/2019 28/06/2019 31/05/2021 31/05/2021
Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

Coventry Regeneration

Coventry City Centre South FBC WMCA Board 08/02/2018 N/A 98.75 21.36 07/03/2018 07/03/2018 31/01/2042 31/01/2042

Completion Longstop Date for Block E1 

31/03/2036. 

Construction Longstop Date for Block E2 

31/01/2041. Change Request received by 

Assurance & Appraisal for an additional 

£12.24m Housing investment to enable the 

incorporation of a 2nd stair core in response to 

new legislation. Approved at Investment Board 

15/01/2024. A refresh of the FBC to be 

submitted by 31 March 2024. 

Coventry Friargate 

Business District Phase 1
FBC WMCA Board 30/09/2018 N/A 51.20 46.76 30/09/2020 25/11/2020 31/12/2035 31/12/2035

The Practical Completion (PC) of the building 

has been delayed until April 2024. This is as a 

result of a delay in concluding legal agreements 

which has resulted in delays in the 

commissioning programme and therefore the 

PC and handover date. 

Coventry South Interchange

A46 Stoneleigh Junction 

(A46 Link Road Phase 1) 
FBC WMCA Board 14/09/2018 N/A 6.60 6.60 19/11/2020 19/11/2020 31/03/2023 30/11/2023

Project Change Request submitted to WMCA 

Assurance & Appraisal in August 2023 to 

extend completion date from March 2023 into 

November 2023. Queries raised with Project 

Sponsor have yet to be addressed. IP SRO has 

emailed Project SRO requesting an update.

A46 Link Road Phase 2

[Strategic Link]
SOC SLT 26/06/2017

OBC 

Jun-21
0.35 0.03 15/06/2020 15/06/2020 31/03/2026 31/03/2026

A46 Link Road Phase 3

[Solihull]
SOC SLT 26/06/2017

OBC

Q4 -21
0.10 0.06 26/06/2017 26/06/2017 31/03/2026 31/03/2026

Coventry South 

Interchange
SOC SLT 26/06/2017 OBC 0.05 0.04 26/07/2017 26/07/2017 31/03/2024 31/03/2024

Tile Hill Station 

Improvements
SOC SLT 26/06/2017

OBC

Nov-21
0.30 0.30 26/07/2017 26/07/2017 31/03/2022 31/03/2022

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

8

P
age 24



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Coventry North 

M6 Junction 3 

improvements
SOC SLT 20/02/2018

OBC

Nov-20
0.10 0.10 02/04/2025 02/04/2025 30/03/2028 30/03/2028

Kersley Link Road SOC SLT 21/02/2018
OBC

Nov-20
0.10 0.10 01/04/2021 01/04/2021 29/03/2024 29/03/2024

Coventry VLR

Very Light Rail SOC WMCA Board 27/11/2017
OBC 

10/09/2021
12.20 12.20 27/11/2017 27/11/2017 31/03/2022 31/03/2022 Project complete. 

Coventry Programme

City of Culture Trust 2021 FBC WMCA Board 13/09/2019 N/A 4.00 4.00 13/09/2019 13/09/2019 31/03/2022 31/05/2022

Due to the pandemic events started in May 

2021 and finished in May 2022. 

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

UK Battery Industrialisation 

Centre [UK BIC]
FBC WMCA Board 13/09/2019 N/A

Up to 

£2.80m 

Interest

(£18.00m 

Loan)

18.00 31/03/2018 31/03/2018 31/12/2033 31/12/2033

Coventry Electric Bus City FBC WMCA Board 19/03/2021 N/A 5.00 0.62 19/03/2021 19/03/2021 31/03/2025 31/03/2025

Sprint 

Sprint Hagley Road - 

Phase 2 Dudley & 

Halesowen

SOC SLT 09/01/2018 OBC 2.90 0.47 06/09/2022 01/12/2022 01/12/2029 01/12/2029

Sprint - Birmingham to 

Sutton Coldfield
SOC SLT 23/05/2017 OBC 1.23 1.23 23/05/2017 23/05/2017 01/12/2029 01/12/2029

Sprint - A34 Walsall to 

Birmingham
FBC WMCA Board 14/02/2020 N/A 19.54 19.45 01/02/2020 01/03/2020 30/06/2025 30/06/2025

Sprint - Birmingham to 

Longbridge
SOC SLT 17/08/2017 OBC 0.30 0.24 01/12/2023 01/12/2023 01/12/2029 01/12/2029

Sprint - Hall Green to 

Interchange via Solihull
SOC SLT 22/11/2017 OBC 0.30 0.10 01/12/2024 01/12/2024 01/12/2029 01/12/2029

Sprint - A45 Birmingham to 

Airport and Solihull
FBC WMCA Board 14/02/2020 N/A 22.76 20.92 01/02/2020 01/03/2020 30/06/2025 30/06/2025

9

P
age 25



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Metro Programme 

Metro East Birmingham - 

Solihull (EBS)
SOC

Investment 

Board
07/07/2017

OBC 

TBC
10.20 9.70 07/07/2017 07/07/2017 31/12/2019 31/12/2019

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

A new project has been developed in the 

CRSTS programme, reviewing options on this 

corridor - with a view to develop a new OBC or  

SOBC.

Metro: Bilston Road Track 

Replacement Phase 2
FBC WMCA Board 17/02/2017 N/A 15.03 13.92 01/01/2017 01/01/2017 31/12/2017 31/12/2022

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

A new project has been developed in the 

CRSTS programme, reviewing options on this 

corridor - with a view to develop a new OBC or 

SOBC.

Metro Birmingham Eastside 

Extension
FBC WMCA Board 14/02/2020 N/A 18.50 13.02 02/01/2020 01/06/2020 31/07/2025 TBC 

The original project change request has been 

withdrawn due to a planned refresh of the FBC. 

Metro Centenary Square 

Extension
FBC WMCA Board 17/03/2017 N/A 63.10 63.10 07/04/2017 07/05/2017 21/12/2021 21/12/2021 Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Metro Wolverhampton 

Interchange
FBC WMCA Board 01/12/2018 N/A 27.40 24.49 01/12/2018 01/12/2018 31/03/2022 24/08/2023 Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Metro Wednesbury to 

Brierley Hill Extension
FBC WMCA Board 22/03/2019 N/A 103.00 38.50 04/11/2019 04/11/2019 31/12/2024 31/12/2024

The Project Change Request for Phase 1 of the 

WBHE approved 15 December 2023 for a 12 

month extension from 31/12/23 to 31/12/24. 

10

P
age 26



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Rail Programme

Rail - Sutton Coldfield 

Gateway
SOC SLT 27/10/2017 OBC 0.87 0.33 27/10/2017 27/10/2017 31/03/2024 TBC 

In August 2023, the Network Programme Board 

endorsed the decision to pause the 

development of an OBC for the Transport Hub 

project, until clarity on the long-term 

requirements for a public transport strategy for 

the town centre and further detail on potential 

land opportunities have been established. IP 

team to work with project on a Change Request 

to reflect this position. 

Rail - Walsall to 

Wolverhampton Local 

Enhancements (Package 

1)

FBC WMCA Board 15/01/2021 N/A 15.99 1.34 30/11/2019 30/11/2019 30/03/2023 31/10/2025

Forecast completion date amended as per 

correspondence from project team.

Project Change Request due to be submitted to 

WMCA Assurance & Appraisal to extend 

completion date.

Rail - Camp Hill Line Local 

Enhancements (Package 

2)

FBC WMCA Board 15/01/2021 N/A 36.35 18.38 30/11/2019 30/11/2019 31/12/2023 31/12/2024

Forecast completion date amended as per 

correspondence from project team.

Project Change Request due to be submitted to 

WMCA Assurance & Appraisal to extend 

completion date.

Perry Barr Railway Station 

and Bus Interchange
FBC WMCA Board 15/01/2021 N/A 9.54 6.63 15/01/2021 15/01/2021 31/08/2022 31/08/2022 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Land Remediation 

Land Remediation (Black 

Country Consortium) [LPIF]
SOC WMCA Board 15/01/2021 N/A 53.04 38.63 17/02/2017 17/02/2017 31/03/2025* 31/03/2025

*Programme management cost profiled to 

31/03/2026. Change Request will be submitted 

to reflect this position.

Brownfield Land & property 

Development Fund 

(BLPDF)

SOC WMCA Board 17/02/2017 N/A 50.00 41.64 17/02/2017 17/02/2017 31/03/2024 31/03/2024

Business Innovation

Innovation - West Midlands 

Innovation Programme
FBC FBC 24/06/2019

FBC  

18/01/2020
3.24 3.13 24/06/2019 24/06/2019 30/12/2022 31/03/2023

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

Innovation - Urban 

Challenge
SOC SLT 12/03/2018 N/A 0.20 0.20 12/03/2018 12/03/2018 01/06/2018 01/06/2018 Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Innovation - West Midlands 

5G
OBC SLT 19/06/2019

FBC 

TBC
5.00 4.28 19/06/2019 19/06/2019 31/03/2024 31/03/2024

Rolling expiry date until funds are spent and 

outputs are delivered.

Innovation - Energy Capital 

(Energy Efficiency and Fuel 

Poverty

SOC SLT 20/03/2019 N/A 0.25 0.25 20/03/2019 20/03/2019 01/03/2023 01/03/2023 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Innovation - Ultra Low 

Emission Vehicle (ULEV) 

Strategy

SOC SLT 20/03/2019 N/A 0.25 0.25 01/06/2019 01/06/2019 30/09/2021 30/09/2021 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

Innovation - West Midlands 

Growth Company
FBC

Investment 

Board
19/11/2018 N/A 7.20 7.20 01/04/2019 01/04/2019 31/03/2023 31/03/2023

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

11

P
age 27



Project

Current 

Business 

Case Stage

Business 

Case 

Approval 

Level

BC Approval 

Date

Next BC & 

Date 

Expected

Committed 

Sum  (£m)

Actual 

WMCA 

Spend to 

Dec-23 

(£m)

Approved  

Start Date:

BC / FA

Forecast / Actual 

Start Date

Approved 

Completion 

Date: 

BC / FA

Forecast / 

Actual 

Completion 

Date

Comment

Employment Education & Skills 

Aspirations for All SOC SLT 21/08/2019 N/A 0.50 0.50 21/08/2019 21/08/2019 30/09/2022 30/09/2022 Project complete, with closure process ongoing.

HS2 Jobs and Skills 

Workstream 
SOC SLT 20/06/2018 TBC 0.81 0.81 20/06/2018 31/08/2018 31/03/2023 31/03/2023

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

Commonwealth Games

Commonwealth Games 

2022 - Alexander Stadium 

Redevelopment

FBC WMCA Board 30/11/2019 N/A 25.00 25.00 20/03/2020 20/03/2020 01/06/2022 01/06/2022
Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Closure report has been received. 

Business and Tourism Project - BATP

Business and Tourism 

Project - BATP
FBC WMCA Board 05/06/2020 N/A 2.60 2.54 05/06/2020 05/06/2020 30/11/2023 29/02/2024

Project will close on 29/02/2024 as per 

correspondence with project sponsor.

WM2041

WM2041 Five Year Plan FBC WMCA Board 19/03/2021 N/A 5.10 2.59 19/03/2021 19/03/2021 31/12/2026 31/12/2026

BJC Net Zero Neighbourhood Demonstrator – 

Brockmoor in Dudley MBC. In November 2022 

approval was given towards £1.65m from within 

overarching £5.1m sum.

City Learning Quarter

College of Wolverhampton 

Technical Centre 

[CoWTechC]

FBC WMCA Board 23/07/2021 N/A 7.75 2.77 23/07/2021 23/07/2021 31/03/2025 31/03/2025

As per correspondence from project Sponsor: 

Construction start date: 14/08/2023. 

Construction forecast end date: July 2024.

West Midlands Co-Investment Fund [WMCO]

West Midlands Co-Invest 

Equity Fund
FBC WMCA Board 14/01/2022 N/A 12.50 0.60 14/01/2022 14/01/2022 31/01/2033 31/01/2033

HS2 Programme Governance

HS2 Growth Delivery 

Programme 

Communications

SOC SLT 20/06/2018
CRF/SOC

TBC
0.33 0.33 01/04/2019 01/04/2019 30/03/2020 30/03/2020

Annual rolling programme. Reported at IB on 

20/04/20, but SOCs were submitted and 

appraised and considered a support function. 

Project complete, with closure process ongoing. 

Actual / Forecast 

Start Date

Actual / Forecast 

Completion Date

N.B.

0 - 3 Month 

Variance

3 - 6 Month 

Variance

6 Months + or 

An Issue
Complete

Approved Start & Completion Dates: Data source comes from 1 of 3 possible options depending 

on the stage the project has reached within the Governance Lifecycle and are: 

1.     Business Case / Change Request

2.     	Governance Board Approval 

3.    	 Funding Agreement / Deed of Variation

KEY 

12

P
age 28



Public Information

WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - Dashboard

01 March 2024

Contents
Page 1 - Investments committed
Page 2 - Investments repaid
Page 3 - Dashboard

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6



Page - 1 Public Information Correct as at

Opportunity - Location Industry Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Local Authority Loan Amount Drawn Amount

Complex Development Projects - Telegraph, Far Gosford 2 Hotel 90 2.56 0 80,000 £70,000 Coventry CC £4,018,526 £4,018,526

Craig Watts - Aliaxis Site Industrial 200 5.3 0 100,000 £0 Cannock Chase DC £3,100,000 £2,839,630

Holbrook Lane Investment LLP - Holbrook Lane Industrial 200 5.6 0 105,000 £450,000 Coventry CC £8,800,000 £8,198,203

St Francis Group - Parallel 113 Industrial 198 6.6 0 113,000 £370,000 Walsall DC £6,400,000 £6,400,000

Redsun Projects Ltd - Halesfield - Investment Industrial 0 0 0 0 £0 Telford & Wrekin £3,550,000 £3,550,000

Holbrook Lane LLP - Phase 2 Industrial 295 6.74 0 149,458 £650,000 Coventry CC £15,000,000 £14,279,773

Complex Developments - Leamington Office 140 0.03 0 18,198 £179,000 N Warwickshire £3,000,000 £1,400,000

KMN Investments Ltd -Drywall Steel Sections - Mayank Gupta Industrial 75 4.5 0 83,174 £290,000 Wolverhampton CC £7,590,000 £7,590,000

Dean Wilson - Halesfield Industrial 99 3.8 0 47,808 £210,000 Telford & Wrekin £4,000,000 £3,480,502

Morris & Co - Stadium Point - Phase 1 Industrial 566 6.81 0 136,557 £596,000 Shropshire £14,020,000 £3,868,183

Colmore Capital - Beldray Industrial Estate Industrial 160 0 0 81,516 £306,000 Wolverhampton CC £5,500,000 £4,589,010

Westbeech Group - Westminster Industrial Estate Industrial 32 1 0 16,000 £128,000 Dudley MBC £1,550,000 £909,252

The Southside Building - Hippodrome Office 20 0 0 4,162 £0 Birmingham CC £5,000,000 £4,700,000

Barberry - Coventry Industrial 112 2.57 0 43,500 £189,312 Coventry CC £3,650,000 £0

Craig Watts - Aliaxis Site Phase 2 Industrial 250 3.1 0 33,000 £0 Cannock Chase DC £2,700,000 £0

Chancerygate - GKN Erdington Industrial 597 12 0 302,000 £2,200,000 Birmingham CC £10,500,000 £0

Horgan Developments Industrial 63 0 0 24,375 £130,000 Birmingham CC £3,100,000 £0

Goold Estates Ltd - Bilston Urban Village Industrial 330 14.8 0 166,000 £816,000 Wolverhampton CC £12,500,000 £0

Nurton & Hortus Office 230 0.5 0 32,229 £450,000 Birmingham CC £5,800,000 £0

Birmingham Property Group - Gracechurch Retail 250 0 0 250,000 £1,090,000 Birmingham CC £10,000,000 £0

Morris - Hortonwood 45 Industrial 276 0 0 107,000 £430,000 Telford & Wrekin £9,000,000 £0

Live outputs Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount Drawn Amount

21 4,183 76 0 1,892,977 £8,554,312 £138,778,526 £65,823,079

Repaid Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

21 3,480 82 513 1,409,400 £7,595,993 £95,795,000

Total Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

42 7,663 158 513 3,302,377 £16,150,305 £234,573,526

01/03/2024

WMCA CIF  - Investments committed and completed funds

P
age 30



Page - 2 Public Information Correct as at

Opportunity - Location Industry Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Local Authority Loan Amount

Barberry - 57 AMH Industrial 230 2.37 0 56,800 £270,000 Birmingham CC £5,030,000

Barberry - 65 AMH Industrial 80 2.9 0 60,000 £208,545 Birmingham CC £3,680,000

Barberry - Kingswood Lakeside Industrial 82 3.45 0 61,600 £177,038 Cannock Chase DC £3,350,000

Barberry - Perry Barr Industrial 75 2.5 0 48,000 £149,448 Birmingham CC £2,900,000

Chase Midlands - Sheldon Roadside/ Leisure 230 1 0 45,140 £374,578 Birmingham CC £7,905,000

Complex Development Projects - Telegraph, Far Gosford (Refi'd) Hotel 200 2.7 423 0 £0 Coventry CC £2,820,000

Cordwell Lesiure - Walsall Roadside/ Leisure 130 1.2 0 35,400 £257,223 Walsall DC £6,950,000

Expert Holdings Ltd Industrial 275 4 0 82,000 £257,223 Coventry CC £2,000,000

Goold Estates Ltd - Steel Park Industrial 165 5.5 0 69,025 £198,378 Wolverhampton CC £3,700,000

Macc Care - Sutton Care Home 60 1.78 10 25,833 £287,000 Birmingham CC £2,350,000

Opus Land - Kingswood Lakeside Industrial 425 14 0 283,185 £807,120 Cannock Chase DC £7,000,000

Opus Land - Seven Stars Industrial 203 6.35 0 120,000 £360,000 Sandwell MBC £5,500,000

Warmflame Developments Ltd - Nuneaton Industrial 68 0.74 0 35,000 £90,000 Nuneaton & Bedworth £2,400,000

WD (Cakemore) Ltd Industrial 107 2.75 0 54,000 £200,000 Dudley MBC £3,600,000

Chancerygate - Minworth Industrial 140 3.13 0 72,010 £300,000 Birmingham CC £6,000,000

Redsun Projects Ltd - Halesfield Industrial 200 5 0 77,000 £209,000 Telford & Wrekin £3,400,000

Morris & Company Ltd - Paragon Point Industrial 75 2.54 0 37,900 £113,000 Telford & Wrekin £2,265,000

Stoford Properties - Sandvik Office 182 8.26 80 20,000 £165,000 Dudley MBC £4,945,000

Barberry - Well Lane, Wolverhampton Industrial 144 3.31 0 55,575 £172,440 Wolverhampton CC £3,000,000

Kinrise - Citadel Office 359 0 0 47,470 £500,000 Birmingham CC £9,500,000

Covanta Europe / Encyclis Green Energy 50 8.2 0 123,462 £2,500,000 Walsall DC £7,500,000

Repaid Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

21 3,480 82 513 1,409,400 £7,595,993 £95,795,000

WMCA CIF  - Investments Repaid

01/03/2024

P
age 31



Page - 3 Public Information Correct as at

Loan amount capped at 4,290,000 which includes capitalised interest, capital repayments now in progress - Extension approved at board 14/12/2021 subsequesntly 12/12/2022

Geography of committed deal values - committed / pipeline over 25%

Birmingham Solihull

£71,765,000 £0

£22,300,000 £0

Cannock Redditch Tamworth Lichfield

£16,150,000 £0 £0 £0

£0 £0 £0 £0

Coventry

£36,288,526

£0

N Warwickshire Nuneaton Rugby Stratford Warwick

£3,000,000 £2,400,000 £0 £0 £0

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Walsall Dudley W'hampton Sandwell

£20,850,000 £10,095,000 £32,290,000 £5,500,000

£0 £0 £0 £2,500,000

Telford Shropshire Various WMCA

£22,215,000 £14,020,000 £0

£22,500,000 £2,500,000 £0

01/03/2024

WMCA CIF  - Dashboard

# Committed / Completed

# Pipeline

Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Coventry & Warwickshire LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Black Country LEP

The Marches LEP

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

£0

£10,000,000

£20,000,000

£30,000,000

£40,000,000

£50,000,000

£60,000,000

£70,000,000

£80,000,000

GBS LEP GBS LEP nc Cov & War Cov & War nc Black Country Marches Various WMCA

LEP committed / pipeline over 25% deal values

2334

957

1172
208

1776

1216
0

7,663
Jobs

26.18

25.85

24.17
0.77

62.47

18.15 0

158
Brownfield Land 

Rem. (acres)

100

423

0

80
00

513
Homes built

(units)

968,019

477,785

459,958
53,198

937,152

406,265 0

3,302,377
Commercial 

floorspace (sq.ft)

£16,150,305
Business

rates

P
age 32



Public Information

WMCA Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund (BLPDF) - Dashboard

01 March 2024

Contents
Page 1 - Investments committed
Page 2 - Dashboard

This report is PRIVATE - exempt from publication under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), Part 1, Paragraph 3

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 7



Page - 1 Public Information Correct as at

Opportunity - Location Industry Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Local Authority Grant Amount Drawn Amount

Cavendish House, Portersfield Phase 1, Dudley (Avenbury)  - WMCA Scheme *Fully Drawn* Residential Property 0 2 28 0 £0 Dudley MBC £724,000 £654,945

Symphony Hall - WMCA Scheme *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 21 0 0 0 £0 Birmingham CC £256,920 £256,261

Anchor Meadow, Aldridge - WMCA Scheme Commercial Property 27 0.49 0 0 £0 Walsall DC £400,000 £388,500

Pipe Hall, Bilston - WMCA Scheme Residential Property 0 0.327 0 0 £0 Wolverhampton CC £1,249,500 £201,436

EVCATS - WMCA Scheme Commercial Property 30 5.5 0 100,000 £250,000 Various WMCA £2,200,000 £0

Sutton Coldfield Town Hall Roof  - WMCA Scheme Commercial Property 16 0 0 0 £0 Birmingham CC £1,000,000 £0

Mucklow Park, Tyseley *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 350 20 0 255,000 £436,489 Birmingham CC £1,011,500 £1,011,500

Opus Land Seven Stars *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 143 6.3 0 120,000 £342,000 Sandwell MBC £2,630,000 £2,627,773

Telegraph, Far Gosford Developments *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 90 2.56 0 80,000 £70,000 Coventry CC £3,800,000 £3,800,000

Vistry Partnerships Ltd *Fully Drawn* Residential Property 0 4.6 0 0 £0 Walsall DC £615,000 £615,000

BCC Commonwealth Games *Fully Drawn* Residential Property 125 13.34 256 269,097 £0 Birmingham CC £20,075,000 £20,075,000

Dudley College *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 150 2.6 0 51,130 £0 Dudley MBC £2,121,000 £2,121,000

Stoford Properties - Shidas Lane *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 450 7 0 55,000 £0 Sandwell MBC £3,450,000 £3,450,000

Cannock District Council - Hawks Green *Fully Drawn* Residential Property 35 2.22 44 0 £0 Cannock Chase DC £900,000 £900,000

Redsun Projects Ltd *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 200 5 0 78000 £209,000 Telford & Wrekin £1,746,080 £1,746,082

Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council *Fully Drawn* Commercial Property 30 2.3 0 56456 £0 Nuneaton & Bedworth £775,000 £775,000

Nuplace - South Waterway *Fully Drawn* Residential Property 6 5.9 46 0 £0.00 Telford & Wrekin £460,000.00 £460,000.00

Mira Technology Park Limited Commercial Property 53 1.5 0 57,759 £296,000 N Warwickshire £2,195,000 £1,574,570

Anthem Lovells - Caparo Residential Property 7 16.53 0 0 0 Walsall DC £575,000.00 £431,250.00

Central & Country - Telford & Wrekin (House Building Programme) Residential Property 77 12.22 96 0 0 Telford & Wrekin £430,000.00 £215,000.00

Goold Estates - BUV Commercial Property 330 14.8 0 166500 £816,000 Wolverhampton CC £3,386,000 0

Total Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Grant Amount Drawn amount

21 2,140 125 470 1,288,942 £2,419,489 £50,000,000 £41,303,316

01/03/2024

WMCA BLPDF  - Investments committed and completed funds

This report is PRIVATE - exempt from publication under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), Part 1, Paragraph 3

P
age 34



Page - 2 Public Information Correct as at

Information to be provided by WMCA. Demolition complete outputs not yet delivered which are linked into Portersfield grant. Residual undrawn grant of £69,055.48.

Geography of committed deal values - committed / pipeline over 25%

Birmingham Solihull

£22,343,420 £0

£345,000 £0

Cannock Redditch Tamworth

£900,000 £0 £0

£9,300,000 £0 £0

Coventry

£3,800,000

£1,000,000

N Warwickshire Nuneaton Rugby Stratford Warwick

£2,195,000 £775,000 £0 £0 £0

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Walsall Dudley W'hampton Sandwell

£1,590,000 £2,845,000 £4,635,500 £6,080,000

£0 £0 £2,780,000 £4,000,000

Telford Shropshire Various WMCA

£2,636,080 £0 £2,200,000

£2,500,000 £0 £0

01/03/2024

WMCA BLPDF  - Dashboard

# Committed / Completed

# Pipeline

Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Coventry & Warwickshire LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Black Country LEP

The Marches LEP

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

£0

£5,000,000

£10,000,000

£15,000,000

£20,000,000

£25,000,000

GBS LEP GBS LEP nc Cov & War Cov & War nc Black Country Marches Various WMCA

LEP committed / pipeline over 25% deal values

0

1105

0

648

154

150 53

2,140
Jobs

0

46.64

0
40.467

26.48

4.61.5

125
Brownfield Land 

Rem. (acres)

0

256

0

186

0 28 0

470
Homes built

(units)

0

699,097

0

244,500

136,456

51,130
57,759

1,288,942
Commercial 

floorspace (sq.ft)

£2,419,489
Business

rates

This report is PRIVATE - exempt from publication under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), Part 1, Paragraph 3

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Public Information

WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - Dashboard

01 March 2024

Contents
Page 1 - Investments committed
Page 2 - Investments repaid
Page 3 - Dashboard

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8



Page - 1 Public Information Correct as at

Opportunity - Location Industry Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Local Authority Loan Amount Drawn Amount

Complex Development Projects Ltd. - Abbotts Lane Residential Property 35 5.5 700 0 £0 Coventry CC £1,021,429 £1,021,429

Rainier Developments - Tenby St Residential Property 2 0.33 37 6,800 £0 Birmingham CC £6,950,000 £1,072,339

Parkes Homes - Various Residential Property 13 1 12 4,240 £0 Various WMCA £1,000,000 £300,000

Cornerstone Partnership Ltd Residential Property 8 2 35 0 £0 Tamworth CC £9,000,000 £9,000,000

Lease Method Management - Harborne Residential Property 43 1 45 5,577 £0 Birmingham CC £7,500,000 £2,331,309

Urban Splash Homes - Port Loop 2 Residential Property 0 3 308 0 £0 Birmingham CC £13,350,000 £4,052,447

Central & Country Residential Property 0 7 36 0 £0 Telford & Wrekin £4,000,000 £0

Button Works Limited Residential Property 0 0.4 29 0 £0 Birmingham CC £4,800,000 £0

Live outputs Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount Drawn Amount

8 101 20 1,202 16,617 £0 £47,621,429 £17,777,524

Repaid Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

3 87 1 40 0 £0 £15,340,000

Total Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

11 188 21 1,242 16,617 £0 £62,961,429

01/03/2024

WMCA RIF  - Investments committed and completed funds

P
age 38



Page - 2 Public Information Correct as at

Opportunity - Location Industry Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Local Authority Loan Amount

Complex Development Projects Ltd. - Carver Street Residential Property 72 0.22 30 0 £0 Birmingham CC £4,220,000

Parkes Homes - Gornal Residential Property 15 0.5 10 0 £0 Dudley MBC £1,120,000

Urban Splash Homes - Port Loop Residential Property 0 0 0 0 £0 Birmingham CC £10,000,000

Repaid Transaction Jobs Created Brownfield Land - Acres Homes Created Com. Space sq ft Business Rates pa Loan Amount

3 87 1 40 0 £0 £15,340,000

01/03/2024

WMCA RIF  - Investments Repaid

P
age 39



Page - 3 Public Information Correct as at

Loan was originally £960k. A&R Doc to increase term signed on 3/10/19 taking affect on 7/4/19. Loan Interest accrued = 31/3/17-6/4/19 = £156,750.39 and added as capital. 

Geography of committed deal values - committed / pipeline over 25%

Birmingham Solihull

£46,820,000 £0

£3,500,000 £0

Cannock Redditch Tamworth Lichfield

£0 £0 £9,000,000 £0

£0 £0 £0 £0

Coventry

£1,021,429

£40,000,000

N Warwickshire Nuneaton Rugby Stratford Warwick

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0

Walsall Dudley W'hampton Sandwell

£0 £1,120,000 £0 £0

£0 £0 £20,000,000 £0

Telford Shropshire Various WMCA

£4,000,000 £0 £1,000,000

£0 £0 £0

01/03/2024

WMCA RIF  - Dashboard

# Committed / Completed

# Pipeline

Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Coventry & Warwickshire LEP

   - non-constituent members

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

Black Country LEP

The Marches LEP

   - part of the LEP but not the WMCA

£0

£5,000,000

£10,000,000

£15,000,000

£20,000,000

£25,000,000

£30,000,000

£35,000,000

£40,000,000

£45,000,000

£50,000,000

GBS LEP GBS LEP nc Cov & War Cov & War nc Black Country Marches Various WMCA

LEP committed / pipeline over 25% deal values

117

8

35

0
15

0 13

188
Jobs

4.95

2

5.5
00.5

7

1

21
Brownfield Land 

Rem. (acres)

449

35

700

0103612

1,242
Homes built

(units)

12,377

00000

4,240

16,617
Commercial 

floorspace (sq.ft)

£0
Business

rates

P
age 40



  

 

 
 

Investment Board 
 

Date 
 

18 March 2024 

Report title 
 

Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme – Programme 
Business Case 

Portfolio Lead 
 

Cllr. Cotton, Lead for Environment, Energy & HS2 

Accountable Chief 
Executive 
 

Laura Shoaf, Chief Executive 

Accountable 
Employee 
 

Cheryl Hiles, Director Energy Capital 
Ed Cox, SENZ Director 

 
Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 
 
The Investment Board is recommended to: 
 

(1) Subject to business case approval by DESNZ, agree to receive at minimum £6.2m 
revenue grant funding from the Department of Energy Security and Net Zero to 
deliver the Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme.   

 
(2) Agree to the WMCA entering into contracts, and to agree onward award funding 

in order to deliver the Local Net Zero Accelerator programme. 
 

(3) Agree to delegate responsibility for receiving and allocating additional funding for 
the Local Net Zero Accelerator programme, up to £20m to the Executive Director 
of SENZ in consultation with the S.151 Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



 
 

1. Purpose 
The LNZA Programme aims to address one of the key barriers to delivering place-based Net 
Zero projects at scale, that include retrofit, which is the gap between funding need and 
availability.  It will create a blended regional fund, combining outcome-seeking finance 
alongside grant funding and private debt to finance whole place solutions and create scalable 
investment opportunities.  
 
A blended approach to funding place-based net zero projects is required because grant 
funding is insufficient to meet the costs associated with meeting our Net Zero targets, so 
other sources of finance are needed. These include return-seeking finance, i.e. where the 
energy cost savings from the project cover some or all of the capital cost, and outcome 
seeking finance, where investors are prepared to fund a project based on non-financial or 
additional outcomes resulting from the project, for example carbon credits, healthcare 
savings and avoided infrastructure investment costs.  

 

Development of Net Zero Neighbourhood projects through LNZA, with a strong focus on data 
collection and business case development, will generate the evidence base needed to 
mobilise outcomes-seeking funding, and produce a pipeline of investable projects. 

 
 
 
2. Background 
 

The WMCA has committed the region to achieving Net Zero by 2041. This requires 
investment into a wide range of infrastructure from homes and businesses to transport 
systems and energy networks. Included within the action plan to deliver the 2041 goal is an 
ambitious plan to retrofit the region's 1.2m homes while furthering the principles of inclusive 
economic growth - to achieve both Net Zero goals, but also transform residents' life 
opportunities by tackling the cost-of-living crisis, alleviating fuel poverty, improving health 
and creating quality jobs.  

We believe a place-based approach to achieving Net Zero is the best way to meet this target. 
We estimate that £30-72bn investment is needed just to decarbonise the region’s homes, let 
alone businesses and wider infrastructure. Public funding will not be sufficient to for these 
changes, so consumer ‘pull’ and significant private finance will also be required. To make 
these investments attractive to investors, attractive to citizens and achieve our aim of 
inclusive growth, we need a finance model that empowers our citizens and to enable place-
based solutions.   

The WMCA has agreed a Trailblazer Devolution Deal with UK Government which will allow 
for more regional control of Net Zero grant funding, starting with a devolved retrofit pilot, 
which increase our ability to leverage private finance. This project will seek to establish how 
funding, including devolved funding from Government, can be blended with private and 
outcomes-seeking finance to achieve Government’s objectives, removing market barriers to 
place-based Net Zero investment and attracting private investment to ensure that the impact 
of devolved public funding is maximised.  

Page 42



 
 

 
The outputs from this project will be replicable across other areas as devolution is rolled out. 
Addressing these barriers and blending finance solutions will make financing for Net Zero 
projects more attractive to funders and maximize the leverage of future devolved funding 
through the Single Funding Settlement to deliver Net Zero at pace and scale. 
 
The core aim of this programme is to develop a scalable, replicable, and financeable model 
for accelerating progress to a just Net Zero energy transition.  To achieve the conditions of 
the funding award, we will design and build a regional Net Zero Fund, taking capital from 
grant funding, return seeking finance and outcomes funding, amalgamating into one funding 
pot and distributing equitably to enable place-based Net Zero projects.  This blended finance 
model will help address one of the key barriers to delivering Net Zero projects at scale – the 
funding gap. 
 
This programme has been built off the back of significant research and evidence, both 
regionally and nationally. Funded by Innovate UK, the Energy Capital Partnership has 
progressed research and understanding through its recent place-based smart local energy 
system (Zero Carbon Rugeley) and Net Zero Living (CAMPOS) projects. In the Innovate UK 
funded Project CAMPOS Phase 1 report, the potential for 'outcomes funding' was explored 
to bring new finance into place-based decarbonisation projects as part of a blended finance 
model - focusing on carbon, energy systems resilience and health outcomes. The results 
highlighted varying degrees of market readiness to fund these outcomes, and the need to 
overcome three key barriers. 
 
The primary barriers that must be removed to persuade outcome investors to engage with 
place-based projects such as WMCA's Net Zero Neighbourhoods (NZN) programme are:  

 
• availability of reliable evidence of measurable outcomes; 
• suitability of appropriate governance structures to reduce investment risk;  
• and the means to consistently engage communities to develop pipelines of 

investable project opportunities.   
 

This project will address these barriers by achieving the following objectives: 
 
1. Data: Developing a robust data infrastructure solution with metrics and key indicators 
to measure outcomes, connecting neighbourhood data to project teams and the 
outcomes market. 

 
2. Governance: Establishing a robust governance structure to manage a regional blended 
finance fund for Net Zero projects, balancing investor, place and community interests to 
ensure a just transition. 

 
3. Participation: Building community trust in Net Zero projects and demonstrating resulting 
quality of life improvements to increase interest and demand. 
 

Page 43



 
 

To accelerate delivery, maximise learning and realise the benefits, we will work with five Net 
Zero Neighbourhood demonstration projects across the region, maximising the value and 
impact of the existing regional NZN programme. By the end of the project, we will have 
delivered tangible outputs against each of the three barriers: 

 
1. Shared data-protocols and infrastructure: 
 

• A tested, legally compliant and scalable data and monitoring infrastructure to 
capture, store and share data from NZN projects. 
• A data framework aligned to the regional Inclusive Growth framework that 
supports the needs of funders, including approved methodologies for monitoring: 
carbon savings; energy demand reduction; physical and mental health 
improvement. 
 

2. Effective governance and terms: 
• A governance structure that integrates the different forms of capital and 
ensures fair and transparent stakeholder participation, providing assurance to 
buyers and communities, with transparent decision-making and monitoring. 
• Terms that set out the relationships and risks held by the various parties 
and ensure compliance with relevant legislative frameworks.  
 

3. Supporting community participation: 
 

• Building participation with residents and local authorities in five 
neighbourhoods. 
• Installing monitoring equipment in hundreds of homes to gather evidence, 
demonstrate benefits of retrofit and provide data to inform the development of 
investment cases for each project 
• Providing minor improvements to homes to build secure citizen 
engagement, build trust and deliver direct energy and carbon benefits.  

 
We will deliver these outputs by utilising the WMCA's NZN demonstrator programme. 
This is a demonstrator in which participating local authorities adopt a place-based 
approach, undertake in-depth community engagement and co-design, to plan and deliver 
a range of Net Zero solutions. These include: 

• warm, energy efficient homes with low carbon heating;  
• low carbon mobility and active travel interventions; and  
• neighbourhood regeneration and green space improvements.  

 
These solutions will help to improve community resilience, support inclusive growth and 
provide increased local economic and employment opportunities.   

 
The NZN programme has been chosen as a demonstrator for this accelerator for multiple 
reasons: 
 

•  The WMCA have already invested time and effort to engage partners 
working in these areas, so the NZN working group, partner local authority 
officers, communities and crucial industry contacts are briefed on the 
current situation and are prepared to mobilise at pace to meet the project 
deadlines 

Page 44



 
 

• The WMCA have already provided £350k of funding to our LA partners to 
develop NZN plans, meaning a series of projects are well scoped and will 
be ready for delivery very shortly. 

 
This will be a 2-year programme, commencing April 2024, with a proposed end date of 
March 2026. 

 
3. Strategic Aims and Objectives 
 

The programme objectives align with several of the WMCA’s strategic aims and 
objectives, as set out in the table below: 
 
WMCA strategic 
objective 

LNZA key objectives 

Reduce carbon emissions 
to net zero and enhance the 
environment 

- Develop a cohort of Net Zero Neighbourhood 
programmes across the region, securing resident buy 
in and undertaking preparatory work 

- Build regional capacity to develop net zero projects 
- Develop data infrastructure to support investment into 

net zero projects 
Ensure everyone has the 
opportunity to benefit 

- Design a suitable governance structure for the 
regional fund, ensuring needs of outcome buyers are 
met, while maintaining fairness and ownership of 
decisions and data with residents 

- Undertake community engagement activities in Net 
Zero Neighbourhood areas, to generate buy-in and 
begin the co-design process. 

Promote inclusive economic 
growth in every corner of 
the region 

- Develop investable business cases for our cohort of 
NZN’s, to facilitate future investment into net zero 
projects at scale   

 
 
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

The funding allocation for this programme has been announced by DESNZ, indicating 
that the region could have access to a minimum £6.2m of revenue grant funding, subject 
to approval from Investment Board.  
 
However, we are yet to receive formal confirmation of these funds and the terms and 
conditions associated with them. The expectation is that the grant will need to be spent 
by 31st March 2026.  
 
The payment details for the grant are also not known, so it is unclear if the grant will be 
allocated upfront via a Section 31 grant or will require to be claimed in arrears via a 
Section 98 grant. The latter will have some negative cashflow implications for WMCA. 
 
The core aim of the programme is to design and build a scalable, replicable and 
financeable model for accelerating progress towards Net Zero energy transition. This 
regional Net Zero Fund would look to attract private investment and blend it with existing 
public sector funding, to fund place-based net zero projects.  
 

Page 45



 
 

By the end of the programme, WMCA expect to have developed a Net Zero Fund and a 
governance structure to manage that fund. It also expects to have developed a pipeline 
of investable propositions with a thorough understanding of risk and reward, which can 
then be funded through the Net Zero Fund.  
 
It is not clear what the governance structure would look like (e.g. a separate entity, an 
ALMO, a joint venture, etc). Where any proposed governance arrangements arising from 
the review relate to specific decision-making powers (specifically around financial 
decisions), approval of the desired governance structure will be required through WMCA 
Board. 
 
WMCA is not required to contribute any match funding although there will be in-kind 
support from existing officers to ensure the programme is successfully delivered. The 
minimum programme budget of £6.2m (shown below) is based on working on Net Zero 
Neighbourhood (NZN) demonstrator projects across five Local Authorities. The table 
below provides an indicative breakdown of costs across the five programme workstreams, 
with the provisional split between WMCA activity, LA grants and external procurement.  
 
  

 
 
As well as feasibility studies, development of the NZN projects (WP1) will include 
community engagement activity, retrofit assessment, installation of monitoring equipment 
and (subject to budget) installation of low-cost energy efficiency measures such as smart 
heating controls. The amount granted to each local authority will depend on the 
procurement approach agreed – i.e. whether WMCA allocates grant funding to each local 
authority to procure delivery partners, or undertakes some procurement activity on behalf 
of LAs – but is likely to range from c. £262k-£500k revenue funding. 
 
The table below provides a breakdown of the indicative budget for NZN demonstrators 
(WP1), based on working across five NZN demonstrator projects.  

 
  
 
 

WMCA
Internal

Resources

WMCA
External

Resources

Local 
authorities

Total

WP1 - NZN development  £        272,415  £     1,745,176  £     1,311,262  £     3,328,853 

WP2 - Data and monitoring  £        121,022  £        695,250  £                  -    £        816,272 

WP3 - Governance &
Fund Development

 £        110,985  £        608,462  £                  -    £        719,447 

WP4 - Market mobilisation 
and investment

 £        107,752  £        375,958  £                  -    £        483,711 

WP5 - Project Management  £        623,309  £          66,736  £                  -    £        690,045 

Contingency  £        161,672  £                  -    £                  -    £        161,672 

Total  £     1,397,156  £     3,491,582  £     1,311,262  £     6,200,000 

Page 46



 
 

Item Indicative budget 
Local authority delivery managers  £   538,762  
Local authority support services  £   257,500  
NZN project development and implementation (split 
between LA and WMCA-led procurement) 

 £   1,570,750  

Techno-economic feasibility and investment case 
development 

 £   689,426  

WMCA internal resource  £   272,415  
Total  £3,328,853  

 
 
Techno-economic feasibility spend in this work package relates to centrally procured 
services necessary to meet wider programme objectives, and support for each Local 
Authority in revisiting and updating their NZN plans. This includes feasibility studies for 
neighbourhood level transport interventions, public sector building decarbonisation, and 
low-carbon heating and energy infrastructure solutions.  Specific support will be provided 
to each local authority to develop a detailed investment case for its NZN plans to help 
secure further funding needed to fully deliver each plan. 

 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 Legal notes the recommendations set out in 1-3 (above) in this report. At present it is 

unclear the basis or otherwise of the terms and conditions of the revenue grant funding 
that will be received from DESNZ. In line with the finance implication comments set out 
in section 4 immediately above, legal would need to have sight of that/those grant funding 
conditions in order to report back to the client team, as well as the executive director of 
SENZ and WMCA section 151 officer; in order to meet the requirements of 
recommendation 3 of this report.  

 
5.2 It should also be noted that pertinent requirements of the DESNZ grant funding conditions 

will need to be captured (as necessary) in any agreements/contracts which are envisaged 
in line with section 10 (other implications) [see below] of this report. This will be required 
in order to meet the requirements of recommendation 2 of this report. 

 
5.3 Legal will assist as necessary in order to facilitate actions arising in relation to the 

requirements of this report and referred to in sub-sections 5.1 and 5.2 above. Given this, 
legal would request that such information i.e. the DESNZ grant funding conditions and 
related information are provided as soon as reasonably possible given that the 2 year 
Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme (‘Programme’) (as set out in sub-section L (within 
section 2 – Background) (see above) states a commencement date of April 2024 for the 
Programme. 
 

 
6. Single Assurance Framework Implications 

 
a) The WMCA will be accountable for at minimum, £6.2m of funding from DESNZ to 

deliver the Local Net Zero Accelerator. Exact terms and conditions for the funding 
are yet to be confirmed, as the DESNZ programme board has not yet been 
established, and the grant agreement had not been issued at the time of writing.  

 

Page 47



 
 

b) The guidance we have received from DESNZ to date, which has informed the 
rescope of this programme is as follows: 

 
“I am writing to confirm the partnership between DESNZ and WMCA to develop a Local Net Zero 
Accelerator pilot. As we’ve discussed, the pilot will run as part of the WMCA devolution deal to 
work together on net zero and will seek to develop a place-based net zero investment strategy 
and test this with the investment market. We want the pilot to test the approach of developing an 
aggregated bundle of projects across multiple net zero sectors, including not only projects that 
can readily provide a financial return for commercial investors but also projects which would be 
difficult or impossible to finance commercially on their own, but for which it may be possible to 
attract commercial investment as part of an investment bundle. The pilot will run until Mar 2026. 
 
The funding available to WMCA will be £6.2m subject to an agreed business case (including 
outcomes, outputs and a delivery plan). This funding is revenue funding and can include spending 
on staff, expertise and project development funding. The pilot approach will need to include 
energy, transport and buildings, but there is flexibility on the precise nature of the pilot to enable 
WMCA to take account of your local needs, circumstances and opportunities.” 
 

c) The programme business case for the LNZA has been shared has been shared 
with DESNZ alongside our internal submission, and his since been used to support 
the sign off the programme internally at DESNZ.  As such, the programme team 
are highly confident the scope of this programme meets the requirements as 
outlined by DESNZ. 

 
7. Equalities Implications 
 

 
The West Midlands is a diverse region, with significant inequalities and the largest fuel 
poverty gap of any English region; equality issues are therefore a key concern. There is a 
danger that policy focusing on decarbonisation could leave marginalised groups behind and 
exacerbate inequalities. The WMCA is therefore committed to embed a ‘Just Transition’ at 
the heart of its strategy to achieve Net Zero by 2041 which means developing projects that 
reflects citizens needs is essential. 

 
This programme is designed to prioritise the needs of communities as a collective rather than 
individuals. This is highlighted by the fact that the demonstrator cohort contains a 
representation of different communities across the West Midlands with different housing 
typologies, tenure types, combinations of demographics and ethnic backgrounds, 
geographical characteristics and income band. The programme will use learnings from 
delivery of these representative demonstrator Net Zero Neighbourhoods to provide solutions 
that can be applied universally across the region. 

 
To date, the team has practised an approach of working transparently, and sharing learnings 
openly within the West Midlands and nationally. The programme team actively seeks 
opportunities to balance representation within the team and ensure all team members are 
valued and their opinions integrated into project design, providing a range of perspective and 
lenes through which to consider the outputs of their work. 

 
The WMCA as the accountable body on the programme will mandates that any procured 
delivery partner on the programme has appropriate EDI policies and action plans that guide 
their work. 

 
 

Page 48



 
 

8. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 

The WMCA’s Inclusive Growth team worked with each of the local authorities to encourage 
integration of the WMCA’s inclusive growth framework in their Net Zero Neighbourhood 
plans. 

 
A detailed monitoring and evaluation framework has been developed for the Brockmoor Net 
Zero Neighbourhood in Dudley, based off the Inclusive Growth fundamentals, and this will 
also be applied to LNZA.  For each fundamental, appropriate indicators have been identified, 
and activities pursued that seek to make improvements against these.  This approach to 
monitoring and evaluation has been shared with the wider cohort of local authorities, and 
they have committed to monitoring their projects using the same approach. 

 
To mobilise the outcomes buying market we need to monitor and report on the co-benefits 
derived from Net Zero projects, for example the health impacts of delivering retrofit. 

 
The project team have collaborated with the Inclusive Growth Business Partner Network, 
and Communities Team to develop a community engagement charter, for use in Work stream 
1 of the LNZA. 

 
Funding a ‘just transition’ is a key ethos of the programme team, and the governance 
structure around the regional fund will be designed to reflect this.  For example, we will 
design-out the ability of investors to cherry pick projects, and design-in mechanisms for 
communities to be involved in decision making processes.  This will be a requirement 
mandated in our procurement exercise. 

 
Inclusive Growth 
Fundamental 

Programme Activities 

Inclusive Economy Building a regional fund that does not allow for cherry-
picking by investors.  Investors will not be able to select 
which projects they fund, meaning no areas are left 
behind 

Power and participation Community engagement is key to the Net Zero 
Neighbourhood approach, therefore each participating LA 
will be required to undertake community engagement 
activities to drive uptake and feed in to the NZN co-design 
process.   

Affordable and safe 
spaces 

Retrofit measures can help drive down fuel bills for 
residents, easing cost of living burdens. 

Connected communities Included within the NZN approach is specific funding and 
resource allocation to implement active travel 
interventions.  Helping provide low carbon connectivity for 
participating neighbourhoods 

Education and learning No programme activities directly link into education 
outcomes, however there is potential for community 
engagement activities to feature educational activities 
around energy savings. 

Health and wellbeing Evidencing the link between net zero projects and health 
outcomes is a key objective of this programme.  To do 
this, data collection techniques (monitoring equipment 
and surveys) will be used to measure the impact on 

Page 49



 
 

health and wellbeing, before and after retrofit measures 
are installed in participants homes.  

Equality The 5 participating Net Zero neighbourhoods were 
chosen partly on an equality basis.  All are above national 
average for levels of fuel poverty, and below average for 
indicators such as life expectancy and employment.  In 
total ~£2m will be invested directly into these 
neighbourhoods through the programme.  

 
 
9. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
 

This programme will see Net Zero Neighbourhood activity commencing in 5 neighbourhoods 
across the West Midlands, in Birmingham (Castle Vale), Wolverhampton (Graiseley), 
Sandwell (Park Lane Estate), Solihull (Chelmsley Wood) and Walsall (Dudley Fields) with 
potential to also include an additional neighbourhood in Coventry. 

 
These neighbourhoods have been chosen for a range of different reasons, the rationale 
behind each LA choice is documented within the Net Zero Neighbourhood Plan documents. 
A summary of the main criteria considered is detailed below: 

• Ranking of the area in the indices of multiple deprivation 
• Experience of fuel poverty 
• Need for community infrastructure development or presence of strong existing 

community infrastructure 
• Suitability of area for other funding opportunities (i.e is this an area that has been 

left behind by other energy efficiency funding/Net Zero funding opportunities or 
can further benefit from additional funding) 

• Potential for local renewable energy generation 
 

Each local authority is a core member of the West Midlands Combined Authority and 
therefore committed to the #2041 climate change target and 5-year action plan, together with 
the application of the principles of the Inclusive Growth Framework. Each Local Authority 
declared climate emergencies between 2019 and 2020, and is committed to the WMCA 2041 
climate emergency target and 5-year action plan. 

  
 
10. Other Implications 
 

The programme team will need to undertake a significant procurement exercise to 
onboard the necessary partners and subcontractors to complete this work.  Soft 
market testing has begun to assess the capability of suppliers to meet our 
requirements, and prepare the market to respond to tenders.  In addition, the 
programme team are preparing ‘meet the buyer’ webinars, supported by the 
procurement team to increase our outreach to a wider network of potential suppliers. 

 
The Energy Capital team will need to undertake extensive recruitment activity to 
ensure that the programme is managed to time and budget, deliverables support 
programme outcomes and that the WMCA is able to build knowledge and capacity in 
this area. Job descriptions have been drafted for roles that will be funded through the 
programme and we are seeking to commence recruitment as soon as possible.  

 

Page 50



 
 

The development of a data infrastructure to gather and manage data arising from 
LNZA projects and other net zero projects across the region will require the guidance 
of WMCA’s digital team. Engagement with the digital team and scoping of this element 
of the programme is already underway.  
 
Following recommendations from Investment Panel, the project team have engaged 
with the WMCA’s Risk Manager for input and guidance, ensuring risk management 
and reporting across the programme are consistent with WMCA policy and guidelines. 

 
 
11. Schedule of Background Papers 
 

1. Net Zero Neighbourhoods Plans 
• Brockmoor NZN Plan 
• Castle Vale NZN Plan 
• Chelmsley Wood NZN Plan 
• Graiseley NZN Plan 
• Park Lane Estate NZN Plan 

2. Zero Carbon Rugeley – Finance & Investment Report 
3. Project CAMPOS Phase 1 report  
4. Programme Business Case for Local Net Zero Accelerator 
5. Programme Risk Register for Local Net Zero Accelerator 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Page 53



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

1 | P a g e  

 

PROGRAMME BUSINESS CASE  

The purpose of the Programme Business Case (PBC) is to select the projects and activities 

required to deliver the programme’s spending objectives in support of the agreed strategy for 

the delivery of policy objectives. 

A PBC should be used where several linked projects contribute to the same outcomes and 

cannot be treated separately. Producing a complete and detailed PBC means that the 

business cases for those projects can be smaller because they can refer to this submission. 

To support better spending, investment decisions and better procurement, this 

Programme Business Case should be written using WMCA guidance. In addition, it is 

a requirement that all proposals for public funds submitted to WMCA are guided and 

based around the HM Treasury’s Green Book and supporting information can be 

found here. 

 

 

 

 

PROGRAMME DETAIL 

Programme Name: Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme and Fund  

Directorate (if WMCA internal): Strategy, Economy and Net Zero  

Organisation (if WMCA external): n/a 

GOVERNANCE  

If external to WMCA, when was 
this project approved by your 
internal governance? 

n/a 

STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT  

Provide the names of the following stakeholders who have been sighted on this business 
case prior to submission, note this is a mandatory requirement: 

Senior Responsible Owner (SRO): Cheryl Hiles 

WMCA Executive Director: Ed Cox 

Finance Lead: Aqeel Rizvi  

Legal Representative: Nigel Channer 

Procurement Lead: Emily Sutton 

Other (i.e., HR / Health & Safety):  

VERSION CONTROL 

Version: 1 Date: 05/01/24 

PBC Prepared by: George Simms Job Title: SMART Hub Lead 

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent/the-green-book-2020?msclkid=e4ea50b2c56a11ec815238da40854bb6


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

2 | P a g e  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

PLEASE PROVIDE A ONE-PAGE STAND-ALONE SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSED 

PROGRAMME WHICH INCLUDES (MAX 500 WORDS) 

• A BRIEF PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION 

• TARGET OBJECTIVES 

• ASSOCIATED OUTPUTS 

 

Summary 

This PBC is for the Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme and Fund. This work was formally 

known as Project CAMPOS (Creating a Market for Place-based OutcomeS), a £4.86m funding 

application made to Innovate UK, which has now been extended and awarded funding directly 

from the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) to establish a West Midlands 

Net Zero Fund and secure an investment partner, as part of our regional Trailblazer status. 

Total funding available for this project from DESNZ is between £6m and £7m of revenue, to 

be spent by March 2026.  

Funding provided will cover staff, expertise, project/programme development, at risk capital 

investment where needed, model design and validation.  At minimum, our model must address 

decarbonisation of transport, energy and buildings (domestic and public sector). 

The core aim of this programme is to develop a scalable, replicable, and financeable model 

for accelerating progress to a just Net Zero energy transition.   

To achieve the conditions of the funding award, we will design and build a regional Net Zero 

Fund, taking capital from grant funding, return seeking finance and outcomes funding, 

amalgamating into one funding pot and distributing equitably to enable place-based Net Zero 

projects.  This blended finance model will help address one of the key barriers to delivering 

Net Zero projects at scale – the funding gap. 

Context 

The WMCA has committed the region to achieving Net Zero by 2041. This requires investment 

into a wide range of infrastructure from homes and businesses to transport systems and 

energy networks. Included within the action plan to deliver the 2041 goal is an ambitious plan 

to retrofit the region's 1.2m homes while furthering the principles of inclusive economic growth; 

to achieve both Net Zero goals, but also transform residents' life opportunities by tackling the 

cost-of-living crisis, alleviating fuel poverty, improving [dh1] health and creating quality jobs. 

We believe a place-based approach to achieving Net Zero is the only way to meet this target. 

We estimate that £30-72bn investment is needed just to decarbonise the region’s homes let 

alone businesses and wider infrastructure. Public funding will not be sufficient to ‘push’ forward 

these changes, so consumer ‘pull’ and significant private finance will also be required. To 

make these investments attractive to investors, attractive to citizens and achieve our equality 

goals as public authorities, we need a blended finance model to enable place-based solutions.  

Page 55



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

3 | P a g e  

 

The WMCA has agreed a Trailblazer Devolution Deal with UK Government which will allow 

for more regional control of Net Zero grant funding, starting with a devolved retrofit pilot, which 

increase our ability to leverage private finance. This project will seek to establish how funding, 

including devolved funding from Government, can be blended with private and outcomes-

seeking finance to achieve Government’s objectives, removing market barriers to place-based 

Net Zero investment and attracting private investment to ensure that the impact of devolved 

public funding is maximised.  

The outputs from this project will be replicable across other areas as devolution is rolled out. 

Addressing these barriers and blending finance solutions will make financing for Net Zero 

projects more attractive to funders and maximize the leverage of future devolved funding 

through the Single Funding Settlement to deliver Net Zero at pace and scale. 

 

Objectives 

This programme has been built off the back of significant research and evidence, both 

regionally and nationally. Funded by Innovate UK, the Energy Capital Partnership has 

progressed research and understanding through its recent place-based smart local energy 

system (Zero Carbon Rugeley) and Net Zero Living (CAMPOS) projects. In the Innovate UK 

funded Project CAMPOS Phase 1 report, the potential for 'outcomes funding' was explored 

to bring new finance into place-based decarbonisation projects as part of a blended finance 

model - focusing on carbon, energy systems resilience and health outcomes. The results 

highlighted varying degrees of market readiness to fund these outcomes, and the need to 

overcome three key barriers. 

The primary barriers that must be removed to persuade outcome investors to engage with 

place-based projects such as WMCA's Net Zero Neighbourhoods (NZN) programme are:  

• availability of reliable evidence of measurable outcomes; 

• suitability of appropriate governance structures to reduce investment risk;  

• and the means to consistently engage communities to develop pipelines of investable 

project opportunities.   

This project will address these barriers by achieving the following objectives: 

1. Data: Developing a robust data infrastructure solution with metrics and key indicators to 

measure outcomes, connecting neighbourhood data to project teams and the outcomes 

market. 

2. Governance: Establishing a robust governance structure to manage a regional blended 

finance fund for Net Zero projects, balancing investor, place and community interests to 

ensure a just transition. 

3. Participation: Building community trust in Net Zero projects and demonstrating resulting 

quality of life improvements to increase interest and demand. 

To accelerate delivery, maximise learning and realise the benefits, we will work with five NZN 

demonstration projects across the region, maximising the value and impact of the existing 

regional NZN programme.  

Page 56

https://www.ukri.org/who-we-are/how-we-are-doing/research-outcomes-and-impact/innovate-uk/zero-carbon-rugeley/
https://www.midlandsnetzerohub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/10059453-IUK-Project-CAMPOS_Phase-1-Report.pdf
https://www.midlandsnetzerohub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/10059453-IUK-Project-CAMPOS_Phase-1-Report.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

4 | P a g e  

 

Demonstration and Outputs 

By the end of the project, we will have delivered tangible outputs against each of the three 

barriers: 

1. Shared data-protocols and infrastructure: 

• A tested, legally compliant and scalable data and monitoring infrastructure to capture, 

store and share data from NZN projects. 

• A data framework aligned to the regional Inclusive Growth framework that supports the 

needs of funders, including approved methodologies for monitoring: carbon savings; 

energy demand reduction; physical and mental health improvement. 

2. Effective governance and terms: 

• A governance structure that integrates the different forms of capital and ensures fair 

and transparent stakeholder participation, providing assurance to buyers and 

communities, with transparent decision-making and monitoring. 

• Terms that set out the relationships and risks held by the various parties and ensure 

compliance with relevant legislative frameworks.  

3. Supporting community participation: 

• Building participation with residents and local authorities in five neighbourhoods. 

• Installing monitoring equipment in hundreds of homes to gather evidence, demonstrate 

benefits of retrofit and provide data to inform the development of investment cases for 

each project 

• Providing minor improvements to homes to build secure citizen engagement, build 

trust and deliver direct energy and carbon benefits.  

We will deliver these outputs by utilising the WMCA's NZN demonstrator programme. This is 

a demonstrator in which participating local authorities adopt a place-based approach, 

undertake in-depth community engagement and co-design, to plan and deliver a range of Net 

Zero solutions. These include: 

• warm, energy efficient homes with low carbon heating;  

• low carbon mobility and active travel interventions; and  

• neighbourhood regeneration and green space improvements.  

These solutions will help to improve community resilience, support inclusive growth and 

provide increased local economic and employment opportunities.   

The NZN programme has been chosen as a demonstrator for this accelerator for multiple 

reasons: 

• the WMCA have already invested time and effort to engage partners working in these 

areas, so the NZN working group, partner local authority officers, communities and 

crucial industry contacts are briefed on the current situation and are prepared to 

mobilise at pace to meet the project deadlines 

Page 57



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

5 | P a g e  

 

• the WMCA have already provided £350k of funding to our LA partners to develop NZN 

plans, meaning a series of projects are well scoped and will become ready for delivery 

very shortly. 

FINANCE SUMMARY 

The funding allocation for this programme has been announced by DESNZ, indicating that the 

region could have access to between £6.2m and £7m of revenue funding. However, we are 

yet to receive formal confirmation of these funds and the terms and conditions associated with 

them. The table below indicates the funding that we expect to receive, subject to further 

development and agreement of a business case with DESNZ. The exact value of the funding 

is still under negotiation with DESNZ and may change during the SAF process, but will be a 

minimum of £6.2m and could be up to £7m. 

Table 1 

Finance Summary PBC (£) 

Total Programme Cost: £6,200,000 

WMCA Funding Required: £6,200,000 

 

WMCA Funding Stream - 

Funds Secured: - 

Funds Not Secured: £6,200,000 

N.B.  

The table below shows the budget breakdown per Work Package for the £6.2m confirmed, 

but WMCA will put forward a budget proposal for the £6.9m DESNZ have indicated will be 

available  

Funding 
provided to: 
 
For: 

WMCA External 
contractors/ 
consultants 

West Midland 
Local 
authorities 

Total 

Work 
package 1 - 
NZN 
development  £    272,415   £        1,745,176   £    1,311,262   £3,328,853  

WP2 - Data 
and 
monitoring  £    121,022   £          695,250   £                -     £   816,272  

WP3 - 
Governance  £    110,985   £          608,462   £                -     £   719,447  

WP4 - Market 
mobilisation 
and 
investment  £    107,752   £          375,958   £                -     £   483,710  

WP5 - Project 
Management  £    623,909   £              66,736   £                -     £   690,645  

Contingency  £    161,072   £                       -     £                -     £   161,072  

Page 58



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

6 | P a g e  

 

Total  £ 1,397,156   £         3,491,582   £    1,311,262   £     6,200,000  

Page 59



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

7 | P a g e  

 

 1 - STRATEGIC CASE  

PROVIDING STRATEGIC FIT SUPPORTED BY A COMPELLING CASE FOR CHANGE 

1.1 PROGRAMME OBJECTIVES AND ALIGNMENT TO WMCA AIMS  

Outline the SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Time-Dependent) objectives of the programme and how they will be 

measured within the table below. Desired outcomes include improved economy, efficiency, effectiveness, replacement and compliance. 

Note, all programmes need to consider Inclusive Growth and its contribution to Net Zero. 

The LANZ Programme aims to address one of the key barriers to delivering place-based Net Zero projects at scale, that include retrofit – the 

funding gap.  Grant funding is insufficient to meet the costs associated with meeting our Net Zero targets, so other sources of finance must be 

brought in. The returns on the retrofit elements of place-based Net Zero projects are not commercially attractive but are an essential part of the 

mix, so this project aims to mobilise outcomes-seeking finance as an additional form an income source into a blended regional fund, alongside 

devolved grant and private debt to finance whole place solutions.  

 

P
age 60



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

8 | P a g e  

 

Table 2 

# Objective Quantitative 

Baseline 

Target Specific actions to achieve 

objective 

How will the customer 

be impacted? (i.e. Outcomes) 

Alignment to WMCA 

Aims and Objectives 

 

1.   Collect baseline 

data on carbon 

emissions, health 

indicators and 

grid capacity in 5 

neighbourhoods 

 NA Tbd pending 

outcome of 

citizen 

engagement 

work in each 

neighbourhood  

WP1 Actions: 

1. Recruitment of 5x LA NZN 

officer(s) 

2. NZN plan review and 

update – choose plans most 

suitable to focus on each 

DESNZ area of interest 

(transport, energy systems, 

building decarbonisation) 

through use of the LAEP+ 

tool. 

3. LA procures delivery partner 

(with procurement support 

available from WMCA) 

4. Initial resident engagement  

5. Retrofit assessments  

6. Install of monitoring 

equipment/ simple retrofit 

measures 

WP2 Actions: 

1. Procure advisory panel on 

outcomes metrics 

 Resident will benefit from: 

Installation of Home Energy 

Monitoring/other energy 

awareness devices that empower 

them to change their consumption 

Retrofit assessments which will 

contribute to planned repairs and 

maintenance & a Net Zero 

Pathway for their home 

Local Authority will benefit from: 

Increased capacity and skills 

Specialist business case 

development support and 

technical advisory 

Reduce carbon 

emissions to net zero 

and enhance the 

environment 

P
age 61



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

9 | P a g e  

 

2. Identify metrics to best 

evidence outcomes from 

place-based NZ projects 

3. Develop data infrastructure 

to measure and record 

outcomes  

2.  Develop a data 

infrastructure 

solution to 

evidence 

outcomes 

generated in 

neighbourhoods 

for outcome-

buyers 

No 

infrastructure or 

capacity/ 

expertise within 

WMCA to 

monitor or 

process data 

generated 

through retrofit/ 

energy 

infrastructure 

investment 

Suitable data 

solution 

designed and 

built to gather, 

collate, and 

process data 

from projects. 

WP2 Actions: 

1. Procure a data systems and 

infrastructure specialist to 

advice on specific 

requirements and activities 

needed to realise our 

desired outcomes 

2. Recruit a Work package 

lead and project officer to 

manage and conduct 

activities, informed by data 

infrastructure specialist. 

3. Procure panel of experts 

across our three target 

outcomes and hold 

workshops to inform on 

appropriate indicators and 

metrics to evidence 

outcomes for monetisation. 

4. Develop data infrastructure 

solution, in accordance with 

guidance from specialist 

 Local Authority will benefit from 

a: 

Verified set of reporting outcome 

metrics/KPIs for their business 

cases. 

WMCA will benefit from a: 

Data architecture on energy and 

retrofit that will allow us to track 

accurate progress towards Net 

Zero (i.e installation of retrofit 

numbers, number of low carbon 

installs etc). 

Method for evidencing the 

outcomes generated through 

retrofit/ NZ projects, bridging the 

gap between outcome-generating 

projects and potential outcome-

buyers. 

Reduce carbon 

emissions to net zero 

and enhance the 

environment 

P
age 62



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

10 | P a g e  

 

5. Populate with baseline data 

from 5 pipeline NZNs and 

live data from Brockmoor. 

3.  Design a suitable 

governance 

structure for the 

regional fund, 

ensuring needs 

of outcome 

buyers are met, 

while maintaining 

fairness and 

ownership of 

decisions and 

data with 

residents.  

No governance 

structure/ 

outline terms 

and conditions 

exist for 

managing a 

Regional Net 

Zero fund that 

can take 

blended finance 

and apply it to 

place-based 

investments 

ensure projects 

are not cherry 

picked  

 Design and 

establish the 

governance 

and legal 

frameworks 

required to 

establish the 

Regional Net 

Zero fund.  

Produce a 

playbook for 

replication – to 

ensure that we 

are meeting the 

requirements of 

the Programme 

funder 

(DESNZ) 

WP3A Actions: 

1. Design and test the 

neighbourhood level 

governance structure in 

partnership with the Local 

Authority and their role in 

programme delivery (ie. 

engagement, installations, 

monitoring and verification 

management, etc.) 

2. Design an oversight 

mechanism (e.g. Review 

Panel) that brings together 

investors, local authorities 

and citizens for ensuring 

outcome contracting is 

carried with in accordance 

to pre-defined principles.  

3. Work with WMCA in co-

designing the data 

framework, and more 

specifically how it relates to 

and impacts potential 

governance implications. 

4. Run a co-design process 

(eg. A series of workshops) 

Private sector investors will 

benefit: 

Being able to see clear 

participation route for investing in 

local Net Zero projects in the 

region. 

WMCA will benefit: 

Produce a Fund capable of 

financing Net Zero projects in the 

region, helping to reduce the size 

of the funding gap that is limiting 

our progress towards Net Zero. 

Local Authorities will benefit: 

By having access to an additional 

funding pot for their Net Zero 

projects. 

Residents will benefit: 

By having contributed to the 

design of a funding structure that 

will generate outcomes that are 

meaningful to them 

Ensure everyone has 

the opportunity to 

benefit 

P
age 63



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

11 | P a g e  

 

with local residents to define 

their role in defining, 

monitoring and validating 

outcomes (eg. whats the 

lived experience of carbon 

emissions reduction). 

5. Run a co-design process 

(eg. a series of workshops) 

to understand resident 

attitudes and reactions to 

the financialisation of 

outcomes, possible 

beneficiaries, and assets 

ownership. 

6. Through the co-design 

process, draft a high-level 

brief / term sheet for drafting 

a future outcomes formal 

legal contract(s). 

7. Publish a playbook for 

replication, based on the 

above learnings, detailing: 

a. Methodology for 

engagement and 

codesign with 

community to scope 

degree of desired 

participation 

P
age 64



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

12 | P a g e  

 

b. Template term sheet 

for outcomes 

contract with options 

WP3B Actions: 

1. Seek legal advice on the 

frameworks required to set 

up a legally compliant fund. 

2. Procure fund design and 

legal specialists to inform 

specifications and exact 

deliverables required to 

setup a legally compliant 

and responsible fund. 

3. Draft legal agreements for 

investors and capital-

seeking projects 

4. Setup required bodies and 

arrangements for the fund. 

5. Legal framework and terms 

and conditions established 

to setup the fund. 

6. Regional fund established. 
 

4.   Develop 

investable grade 

business cases 

for our cohort of 

NZN’s, including 

projections 

 No business 

cases for NZNs 

in Birmingham, 

Wolverhampton, 

Solihull, 

 Investable 

grade business 

cases for each 

NZN 

WP1B Actions: 

 

1. Develop relationships with LA 

delivery officers and gain 

understanding of the scope of 

the plans. 

Private sector investors will 

benefit: 

Being able to see clear 

participation route for investing in 

Promote inclusive 

economic growth in 

every corner of the 

region 

P
age 65



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

13 | P a g e  

 

across our three 

outcomes, to 

facilitate future 

outcomes-based 

finance.  

Business cases 

to ‘major’ and 

‘minor’ on 

DESNZ 

categories of 

interventions 

(transport, energy 

systems and 

building 

decarbonisation) 

Sandwell, or 

Walsall 

2. Support LA’s in identifying and 

collation of relevant data to 

build evidence base for the 

business cases. 

3. Develop first iteration of 

commercial models using 

prerequisite data, and 

outcomes baseline data 

4. Develop first iteration business 

cases, using outputs from the 

commercial modelling and 

working with the LA’s and their 

reviewed NZN plans. 

5. Soft market testing workshops 

with potential buyers and using 

existing SLES Investor Panel 

for feedback 

6. Review business using 

feedback from soft market 

testing 

7. Development of a roadmap for 

utilising outcome-based capital 

for retrofit/NZNs 

well scoped and investible projects 

in the region. 

Local Authorities will benefit: 

By having detailed business cases 

and commercial models for their 

Net Zero Neighbourhood plans, 

facilitating future investment into 

their areas. 

WMCA will benefit: 

By having a pipeline of projects 

ready for funding through the 

Single Funding Settlement 

devolution deal. 

 

5.  Identify, engage 

with, and 

mobilise a group 

of potential 

investors to build 

a blended finance 

Market testing 

has shown that 

no investors are 

currently willing 

to 

contribute due 

At least one 

investor from 

the grant-

funding and 

return-seeking 

capital income 

WP4 Actions: 

1. Identify likely investors, 

building on engagement 

model developed during 

CAMPOS phase 1 

Private sector investors will 

benefit: 

By helping design the monitoring 

framework and selecting 

appropriate indicators, outcomes 

investors will see a collection of 

Promote inclusive 

economic growth in 

every corner of the 

region 

P
age 66



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

14 | P a g e  

 

 

stack to fund the 

NZN projects in 

each local 

authority area. 

to returns being 

too low and risk 

being too high 

streams, and at 

least one 

outcome-buyer 

for each of our 

3 outcomes. 

2. Workshops with potential 

outcome buyers to identify 

appropriate indicators to 

evidence delivery of 

outcomes 

3. Workshops to identify 

suitable payment 

arrangements (e.g. 

payment up-front, or in 

arrears) 

4. Identify the total potential 

value of outcomes 

generated through the NZN 

projects 

5. Use workshop outcomes to 

move towards commercial 

agreements with identified 

investors 

projects evidencing generation of 

outcomes in a way that is 

appropriate for investment. 

 

Local Authorities will benefit: 

By having access to an additional 

funding pot for their Net Zero 

projects. 

 

WMCA will benefit: 

By having identified and 

onboarded a cohort of engaged 

investors, willing to fund Net Zero 

projects in the region. 

  

P
age 67



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

15 | P a g e  

 

 

1.2 ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEW 

Provide a brief overview of the organisation(s) making the case for intervention and 

change. 

West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) was set up in 2016 as a devolved organisation 

to ensure more decisions about the region could be made locally. The aim of the WMCA is to 

make the West Midlands a happy, healthy place to live.  

WMCA is made up of 7 constituent councils and a wider set of non-constituent members, 

totalling 18 local councils and 1 local enterprise partnership (LEPs). Our Chief Executive is 

Laura Shoaf. She leads WMCA along with the Mayor, Andy Street, and the leaders of the 7 

constituent councils. 

Energy Capital is the regional energy partnership for the West Midlands that is part of the 

SENZ Directorate at the WMCA and brings the public and private sectors together to deliver 

place-based energy solutions. Energy Capital provides a single point of contact for 

government, regulators, funders, investors and partners across the West Midlands geography. 

Our aim is to create an attractive environment for energy innovation to thrive in the West 

Midlands and position the region as a leader in the global transition to net zero. Energy 

Capital’s executive team is based within the WMCA and is led by Cheryl Hiles (Director). 

SMART Hub (Sustainable Market for Affordable Retrofit Technologies) is Energy Capital’s 

programme to support development of a functioning market for retrofit within the West 

Midlands and is led by George Simms. The Net Zero Neighbourhoods programme out of which 

the Net Zero Accelerator has been developed is part of the SMART Hub and is led by Ayushi 

Vyas. 

1.3 EXISTING ARRANGEMENTS AND BUSINESS NEEDS 

Provide a complete summary of the organisation’s current service model referring to 

its Business as Usual (BAU) offer, this may also include elements of services 

provided within the organisation’s external environment. 

Also, state the deficiencies associated with the current provision and the implications 

if the programme does not proceed. 

Energy Capital’s SMART Hub programme seeks to support delivery of retrofit projects to homes in the 

region and the development of a thriving retrofit market capable of ensuring that every home in the 

region is low carbon and affordable to heat and power. 

Our work with Innovate UK and partners has shown that scaling the finance model for place-based 

Net Zero solutions that include retrofit, remains one of the most challenging, non-technical, systemic 

barriers to realising place-based Net Zero transition plans. 

We estimate that £30bn-72bn investment is needed to retrofit the West Midlands' 1.2m homes to meet 

our Net Zero goals while transforming residents' life opportunities. Retrofit can help manage the cost-

of-living crisis, alleviate fuel poverty, improve health and creating good quality, skilled, local jobs.  

Public funding will never be sufficient to cover these costs and significant private finance is required. 

WMCA has agreed a Trailblazer Deeper Devolution Deal with UK Government which will allow for 

Page 68



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

16 | P a g e  

 

more regional control of retrofit funding to help better meet the region’s investment needs. This 

programme will pave the way for the long-term success of devolved retrofit funding, putting in place 

the infrastructure needed to leverage government funding and attracting significant private investment, 

while at the same time developing a pipeline of place-based Net Zero project.  

Our aim is to develop an innovative regional fund that brings together three sources of capital to deliver 

place-based retrofit initiatives at scale – government grants, repayment (commercial investment) and 

'outcome-based' capital (from parties looking for specific non-financial outcomes) - alongside a 

governance mechanism that enables full participation from stakeholders across the region to design 

and lead retrofit initiatives, supported by real-life data and insights from the lived experience of 

residents. 

A key part of the capital stack required to fund retrofit programmes is outcomes-based funding.  By 

completing a retrofit, or other place-based Net Zero project additional benefits, beyond the carbon 

savings are generated.  This programme aims to evidence, monetise and sell those additional benefits, 

as an alternative source of capital to fund further retrofit in the region.  While we don’t know how much 

additional funding this approach could generate, current spending across the UK for outcomes is large, 

and increasing to grow.  For example, carbon credits, accounting for 14.9M tonnes of CO2 have been 

purchased by UK companies since 2021, with the number predicted to grow rapidly.  The majority 

(90%) of these credits fund projects in the global south, we propose providing a regional option – 

funding our retrofit programmes. 

Public sector investment is required as our UK climate targets are legally binding, and funding is a key 

barrier preventing large scale roll out of Net Zero projects, required to meet this target.  The public 

sector must do this, as for example, deep retrofit at scale is not currently commercially viable, so we 

cannot wait for the market to move. At the same time, large amounts of investment is being channelled 

into large scale infrastructure projects such as £6 billion into the existing electricity distribution network 

in the West Midlands in the next five years. By coordinating efforts and ensure that this funding is 

spent in a way which enables greater co-benefits of the other elements of the decarbonisation plan, 

we will achieve greater outcomes. BAU currently does not allow for this level of coordination. 

By not proceeding and continuing with BAU, we will never generate sufficient finance to deliver retrofit 

at scale, leaving the majority of people in the region in leaky, inefficient, cold homes.  We will certainly 

miss our regional 2041 decarbonisation target and fail to adequately play our part in meeting the legally 

binding national decarbonisaion target of 2050. 

Page 69



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

17 | P a g e  

 

1.4 KEY RISKS 

Specify the main risks associated with the achievement of the programme’s objectives. Outline the proposed counter measures for 

avoidance, mitigation, and management.  

The information provided should align to both the Risk Register and Issue Log attached with this PBC. 

Table 4 

ID Risk Impact 

(1-5) 

Probability 

(1-5) 

RAG 

Rating 

Risk 

Owner 

Proposed counter measures 

1 Internal legal team do not have 
capacity to support this 
programme to required levels.   

We will require a minimum of 5 grant 
agreements between the WMCA and 
Local Authorities, oversight of 
delivery contracts between local 
authorities and their delivery partners 
(a key learning from delivery of the 
Brockmoor Net Zero Neighbourhood), 
collaboration agreements between 
project partners (number pending 
procurement approach). 

In addition, this programme has the 
potential to generate commercially 
sensitive IP.  As such, we will require 
support from the legal team to protect 
these commercially sensitive outputs. 

We will require input into the design 
and contents of these documents, in 
addition to sign-offs and likely with 
tight turn-arounds to keep the 
programme on schedule. 

5 5 25 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

Legal team have been contacted in advance of PBC 
submission, to highlight scale of incoming works and this 
is being escalated. Attempting to ensure additional support 
being procured by DESNZ also includes legal expertise for 
the WMCA to call on when needed. 

Mitigation: 

Take a portion of the WMCA top slice to hire our own 
dedicated legal support. 

Request for dedicated officer from the legal team to work 
on the LNZA programme. 

Draft grant agreements for the 5 NZNs will be based on 
the existing Brockmoor grant agreement and deliverables 
which will save considerable time. Additionally, we have 
early insight into sticking points on onward procurement 
contracts for delivery partners through Brockmoor which 
will also prove helpful. 

Management: 

Risk has been raised to SENZ senior leadership team in 
advance of PBC submission. 

Procurement/ HR/ Legal tracker maintained by SMART 
Hub team and monitored weekly to minimise delays. 

P
age 70



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

18 | P a g e  

 

2 Internal procurement team do not 
have capacity to support this 
programme to required levels. 

We will require a large procurement 
exercise to onboard sufficient 
expertise into the programme team to 
make the programme a success.   

One potential procurement pathway 
involves issuing one tender, with ~10 
lots to the market.  Each lot will 
require input into their design and 
contents, in addition to sign-offs and 
likely with tight turn-arounds to keep 
the programme on schedule. 

In addition, we propose centrally 
procuring services common across 
the NZN delivery projects on behalf of 
the LA partners.  This may add 
additional procurement requirements. 

5 3 15 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

Procurement team have been contacted in advance of 
PBC submission, to highlight scale of incoming works. 

Draft procurement specifications have been developed in 
advance of PBC submission. 

Procurement strategy has been discussed in advance of 
PBC submission. 

Mitigation: 

Request for dedicated officer from procurement team to 
work on the LNZA programme. 

Management: 

Risk has been raised to SENZ senior leadership team in 
advance of PBC submission. 

Procurement/ HR/ Legal tracker maintained by SMART 
Hub team and monitored weekly to minimise delays. 

Continued regular catchups with procurement team to 
assess capacity to support and plan activities.   

 

3 Internal finance team do not have 
capacity to support this 
programme to required levels. 

We will require significant input from 
the WMCA Green Finance Lead (yet 
to be appointed) to support Work 
Package 3 and Work Package 4 
efforts on the set up of the regional 
fund and helping to engage and own 
relationships with the finance sector. 

 

N.B. DESNZ will be procuring a 
separate service to provide support to 
the Accelerator projects, including 

5 5 25 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

Finance team have been contacted in advance of PBC 
submission, to highlight scale of incoming works. 
Attempting to ensure additional support being procured by 
DESNZ includes the appropriate expertise for the WMCA 
to call on as needed. 

Mitigation: 

Request for dedicated officer from finance team to work on 
the LNZA programme. 

Additional resource (c. £600k) to be provided to the 
WMCA by Southeast Net Zero Hub to provide specialist 
support on: 

- Analysis of investment strategies 

P
age 71



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

19 | P a g e  

 

ours. This will likely give us access to 
around £600k worth of additional 
finance support from whatever entity 
is procured to help ensure our model 
is replicable by other authorities. 

- Commercial modelling of projects 
- Sourcing additional finance 
- Sourcing finance to support setup of agreed legal 

structures (Regional Net Zero Fund) 
- Programme monitoring and evaluation and audit 

The WMCA is in a position to influence the scope of this 
resource, however the LNZA programme team will require 
advice from finance to inform our ask. 

Management: 

Risk has been raised to SENZ senior leadership team in 
advance of PBC submission. 

 

4 Ambition of work scope leads to 
deliverables not being met within 
timelines of the project 

5 3 15 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

Although the scope is ambitious, it has been developed to 
be successful for the Innovate UK Net Zero Living funding 
competition.  As such deliverability was a key 
consideration during scoping and a great deal of 
groundwork has been undertaken.  As this bid was 
successful before being funded by an alternative source, 
Innovate UK believe the scope to be deliverable. 

All project partners are experts in their fields and are 
highly motivated to ensure the quality of outputs. 

Programme timeline has been extended by 3 months, 
relative to the project scoped for Innovate UK.  While we 
have increased the scope of the programme, new 
deliverables have very few dependencies across the other 
workstreams, so the overall risk of overrunning is reduced. 

Mitigation: 

Sufficient allowance (resource and time) with contingency 
has been made for integration of work products. 

Management: 

Detailed project plan developed which is proactively 
managed in agile methodology using weekly sprints.  

P
age 72



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

20 | P a g e  

 

The programme Gannt chart accounts for potential delays, 
showing the latest possible finish time for an activity before 
impacting dependencies.  At minimum this additional 
‘slippage’ time is a month. 

5 Timelines of the project leads to 
deliverables not being of sufficient 
quality to ensure the outcomes of 
the project 

5 2 10 SRO Avoidance: 

All project partners are experts in their fields and are 
highly motivated to ensure the quality of outputs. 

Mitigation: 

This will be assured by the scheduled release of early 
outputs from the process to a separate ‘challenge group’ 
of wider WMCA officers who have both market and place 
making expertise, such as the officers responsible for 
inclusive growth. 

Management: 

As WMCA are leading on the project, and responsible for 
the final deliverables all outputs will be underpinned by the 
Strategic Assurance Framework (SAF) process. 

6 Dependencies across work 
package.  Delays in one may 
impact work for other project 
partners. 

 

5 3 15 SRO Avoidance: 

As this is a complex and interwoven programme of 
projects, dependencies are unavoidable.  

This is a risk inherent to the nature of the programme and 
will have to be managed carefully. The success of the 
programme is dependent on project partners working 
openly together with strong team culture instilled from the 
beginning of the programme. 

Mitigation: 

Budget allows for a project organisation and coordination 
role to manage the interdependencies between work 
packages and create a guidance function. 

 

Strong programme governance (as evidenced in the 
organogram) is also essential to making sure appropriate 

P
age 73



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

21 | P a g e  

 

oversight to ensure dependencies and associated impacts 
are managed ahead of time.  

 

Setting good working practices and principles of 
transparency and shared accountability at the beginning of 
the programme and throughout will help with identifying 
and managing impact of dependencies. 

Management: 

Programme management meetings to track progress of all 
work packages against the combined programme plan. 

 

7 Onboarding of subcontractors and 
sourcing additional capacity 
(WMCA and wider programme 
partners) delay project initiation 

3 3 9 SRO Avoidance: 

Soft market testing for subcontractors conducted during 
bid writing stage.  Partner organisations have extensive 
networks, with strong links to industry, providing a strong 
pool of subject matter experts to support the project.  HR 
teams in partner organisations who are likely to hire 
additional resource have been briefed in advance.   

Mitigation: 

Procurement and HR teams within WMCA and LA’s have 
been briefed in advance, to expert large influx of activities 
due to the programme. 

Management: 

Regular meetings scheduled with the WMCA procurement 
team to monitor progress and highlight any issues in 
advance.  Procurement/ HR/ Legal tracker maintained by 
SMART Hub team and monitored weekly to minimise 
delays. 

 

8 Delay caused by complex 
oversight requirements of 
Programme Funder (DESNZ and by 
association South East Hub). 

4 3 12 SRO Avoidance: 

P
age 74



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

22 | P a g e  

 

This programme is part of a cohort 
of other accelerators being funded 
centrally by DESNZ so there may 
be some inefficiencies that come 
from aligning with the other cohort 
participants. 

 

Separately Innovate UK has 
expressed interest in the 
programme and have requested 
our involvement in the Net Zero 
Living Programme as a cohort 
member which will require 
additional resource to manage. 

 

Due to the nature of the funding and involvement of the 
funder in the Programme Board, this risk will be 
unavoidable. 

 

Mitigation: 

The Energy Capital team has good relationships with 
DESNZ and Innovate UK and have been able to leverage 
these to date to gain clarity where possible on 
expectations. 

 

A further mitigation will be to create strong working 
relationships with the other combined authorities (already 
established with GMCA) to ensure all cohort participants 
are aligned. 

The WMCA are in a strong position to lobby DESNZ and 
the South East Hub such that their input to the WMCA 
programme, and our involvement with the wider Net Zero 
Living and Net Zero Accelerator programmes best 
matches our requirements.  

Regular communication with contacts at DESNZ and 
managing expectations clearly and ahead of time with 
them and the South East Hub will be essential. 

Similarly. Having early oversight of all Innovate UKs 
expectations from us will be essential to managing the 
additional resource and capacity that will be required to 
participate in the Net Zero Living programme.  

 

9 Large dependency on successful 
neighbourhood engagement for 
work packages 1, 2, and 3. 

5 3 15 LA project 
officers 
(funded by 
WMCA 
through the 
programme) 

Avoidance: 

Citizen engagement is a cornerstone of the Net Zero 
Neighbourhood, and wider place-based decarbonisation 
approach.  As such, we are unable to completely avoid 
this risk. 

Mitigation: 

P
age 75



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

23 | P a g e  

 

Neighbourhood engagement work in the Brockmoor NZN 
(separate to this programme) has started in December 
2023.  Learnings from Brockmoor will be shared with 
project partners to inform decision making in their citizen 
engagement work.   

WMCA NZN working group membership includes experts 
in citizen engagement.  We will use this network to inform 
decision making around the citizen engagement work.  
Engagement will be the main agenda item of the next NZN 
working group meeting. 

LA’s and other key stakeholders have been onboarded, 
prior to project initiation to prepare their engagement 
teams. 

Management: 

Cohort approach to NZN delivery allows sharing of best 
practice between LA’s.   

Cohort meetings will track engagement success across 
the neighbourhoods.  Detailed lessons learnt logs will be 
kept for each neighbourhood, ensuring learnings from 
each approach are tracked and actioned.    

Each LA within the LNZA programme will be required to 
produce a community engagement plan, either individually 
or in partnership with an external body with prior 
experience.  This requirement will be formalised in the 
grant agreement to ensure compliance.   

In the delivery plan, 3 months have been allocated for the 
LA’s to conduct their initial resident engagement work.  
Our learnings from the Brockmoor NZN indicate this will be 
sufficient time to begin this work. 

10 Economic or policy changes, and 
supply chain disruptions 
impacting programme 
deliverability and effectiveness of 
outcomes 

4 3 12 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

The programme team have limited ability to impact 
external factors such as economic or policy changes, 
however Energy Capital is well positioned to lobby for 
policy changes.  If economic change makes deliverability 

P
age 76



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

24 | P a g e  

 

of Net Zero projects more difficult, the work in establishing 
this fund becomes more important,  Conversely, if funding 
projects becomes easier, the mechanisms established will 
allow for greater leverage of public funding, delivering 
better outcomes for residents and funders. 

The biggest policy change that could alter the impact of 
this programme is a roll-back on retrofit funding, expected 
through the Single Funding Settlement, as this programme 
is key to preparing the WMCA and wider region to best 
utilise this funding.  Since scoping this programme, retrofit 
funding through the single settlement has been confirmed 
for the next spending review period, with officers 
negotiating with DESNZ and treasury on exact terms. 

Soft market testing has been conducted during the 
programme scoping phase, including securing letters of 
support from key external stakeholders. 

 

Mitigation: 

Multiple focus areas from  DESNZ (energy systems, 
transport and building decarbonisation) will diversify the 
suppliers needed to deliver capital works in the NZN 
areas, reducing  reliance on any one particular contractor.  
Similarly the NZN plans produced by our LA partners each 
have different focuses, further diversifying the contractors 
required. 

Management: 

Programme governance structure allows effective 
dissemination of information regarding policy and 
economic changes to the project team.  Energy Capital 
officers have good oversight of the energy policy 
landscape.  

11 Exact terms and conditions for the 
funding have yet to be signed 
between DESNZ and the WMCA.  
Risk of changes to scope 

4 2 8 LNZA SRO Avoidance: 

DESNZ have indicated a minimum of £6.2m in funding 
quantum for this programme, therefore any changes to the 
funding will only increase the total budget.   

P
age 77



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

25 | P a g e  

 

compared to that outlined in this 
PBC and project plan. 

 

Mitigation: 

The project team have been proactive in supplying as 
much detail about the proposed programme to DESNZ as 
possible, including this PBC to socialise the objectives, 
and influence DESNZ internal approvals. 

For any increases in budget, we propose increasing the 
funding allocated to each local authority for capital works. 
Potential changes in funding will require project change 
requests, and scope for changing funding allocations will 
be included in the grant agreements between the WMCA 
and Local Authorities. 

Management: 

While we do not have an expected date for signing 
agreements, this money has been committed, and the 
project team have high confidence that the scope 
presented in this PBC (to both WMCA internal governance 
teams and DSNZ) will remain unchanged.  Energy Capital 
officers are beginning a series of regular meetings with 
DESNZ to finalise terms, starting w/c 12/02/2024. 

DESNZ have indicated their aim to agree the contract by 
the end of March, however we are yet to receive this in 
writing, and is dependent on the Programme Board 
(DESNZ chaired) being established. 

P
age 78



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

26 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 2 3 4 5

Minimal Minor Significant Major Critical

10

9 12 15

15

8 12 16 204

Likelih
o

o
d

5 - Very 

high
5 10

3 - Medium 3 6

Scoring Matrix

1 - Very low 1 2 3 4 5

2 - Low 2 4 6 8

20 25

4 - High

P
age 79



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

27 | P a g e  

 

1.5 BENEFITS  

State the main benefits associated with achievements of the programme. This should 

be aligned with the Benefits Realisation Plan and Benefits Register appended to this 

PBC. 

Table 4 

# Benefit Benefit Type Beneficiary 

1. Increased awareness and 
participation in and around Net 
Zero & climate change action 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

West Midlands 
citizens  

WMCA 

DESNZ 

2. Pathways to retrofit a large number 
of homes across the WM’s 
following retrofit assessments/ 
citizen engagement in the NZN 
areas 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

Vulnerable WM 
citizens and the 
low carbon sector 

3. Across the WM, domestic heating 
carbon dioxide emissions are 
reduced as a result of light touch 
measures installed in homes 

Monetisable, including cash 
benefits 

West Midlands 
citizens 

Government  

Low carbon 
sector  

4. Ability to reduce energy 
consumption and energy bills, 
reducing risk of fuel poverty 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

Vulnerable WM 
citizens  

Local Authorities 

5. Warmer, more comfortable homes Social value: Indirect public 
sector benefits, including 
Quantifiable (QB) and Non-
cash releasing (non- CRB) 

Social value: Wider 
benefits to UK society, 
including Non-cash 
releasing/non- CRB (e.g. 
social prescribing impact 
on NHS) and Quantifiable 
(QB) & Qualitative (Qual) 
wider social value benefits 
to citizens.  

 

Vulnerable WM 
citizens 

Local Authorities 

WMCA  

Government - 
DESNZ 

6. Better connected neighbourhoods 
through delivery of light-touch 
mobility interventions 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

WM Residents 

7. Greener neighbourhoods through 
delivery of light-touch green space 
interventions 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

WM Residents 

Page 80



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

28 | P a g e  

 

8. The supply chain continues to build 
capability and experience within a 
framework that demonstrates 
continued demand with quality 
assurance and oversight. 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

Low carbon 
sector and supply 
chain 

9. Greater transparency around 
domestic energy consumption and 
impacts of retrofit on planning 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

Distribution 
Network Operator 

10. Improved health and wellbeing of 
residents through more 
comfortable, warmer homes and 
better local amenities 

Social value: Indirect public 
sector benefits, including 
Quantifiable (QB) 

Government - 
DESNZ 

Residents 

11. WMCA build capability and 
knowledge to deliver retrofit 
programmes in the future, helping 
to achieve objectives 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

West Midlands 
Combined 
Authority 

12. WMCA gain learning and evidence 
to enable influencing for wider 
retrofit market development, and 
prepare for greater devolution of 
funding for retrofit 

Quantifiable but not readily 
monetisable benefits (QB) 

 

Cash releasing (CBR) 

West Midlands 
Combined 
Authority 

13. Pipeline of investible retrofit and 
regeneration projects developed 

Cash releasing (CBR) Local Authorities 

Residents 

Low carbon 
sector and supply 
chain 

14. Investors onboarded and ready to 
invest in place-based NZ projects 

Cash releasing (CBR) Local Authorities 

Residents 

15. Additional funding sources secured 
to fund delivery of place-based Net 
Zero projects 

Cash releasing (CBR) 

 

Government - 
DESNZ WMCA 

Local Authorities 

Residents 

NB:  A key goal of this programme is to evidence a monetisable link between carbon, health and energy 

systems outcomes as a result of place-based NZ projects.  As a result, some of the benefits are currently 

not readily monetisable, but will be post-programme. 

 

1.6 CONSTRAINTS 

Specify any constraints that have been placed on the programme. 

The Funding is granted on the condition that it meets that following objective: 

“Design a Net Zero accelerator model which covers energy, transport and building 

decarbonisation as a minimum and design investment model (s) to attract private investment 

- which is scalable, replicable and which leads to contracted or secured investment partners 

capable of delivering at scale by circ. March 26. Delivery must commence shortly after, if not 

before”. 

Page 81



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

29 | P a g e  

 

The funding can be used to cover: 

• Staff and expertise 
• Project / programme development including at risk funding  
• Model/approach design and validation 

The WMCA is currently finalising the funding agreement and conditions with DESNZ and it is 

therefore not yet clear whether there will be any spending profile constraints. Delivery of the 

programme is expected to be completed by March 2026. There are however no spending 

restrictions relating to revenue vs capital spend that have been stipulated.  

1.7 DEPENDENCIES  

Specify any dependencies outside the scope of the programme upon which the 

success of the programme is dependent. 

The success of the programme is dependent on Government funding being confirmed and 

transferred to WMCA within a realistic timeline.  

There are no specific dependencies outside of the scope of the programme on which the 

success of the project is dependent but there are various external factors that could contribute 

to programme effectiveness. Those are: 

• Changes in Government policy may make larger retrofit more commercially 

viable (e.g. levies or other incentives).  However, this is unlikely to completely 

mitigate the need for developing the regional fund, as the finding gap is so 

large, we still need to bring together and merge capital from private finance and 

the public purse. 

• Changes in Government policy around current carbon emissions reporting 

mandates, which may affect the ability to successfully demonstrate and 

establish the ability to sell carbon credits arising from the retrofit projects being 

scoped by the programme 

• Economic or financial instability, which may impact on costs or the ability or 

willingness of potential finance providers to engage with the programme 

• Cost inflation within the supply chain, which may mean that project budgets do 

not cover planned costs and programme 

• Any global shortages of key pieces of equipment or components – e.g. 

microchips or sensors needed for remote monitoring equipment – may impact 

on delivery costs and timescales and may impact on programme deliverables 

and outcomes 

• The readiness and ability of the supply chain to be able to meet the 

requirements of this project – this may be influenced by the timing of separate 

government-funded projects for example, which may take up capacity within 

the supply chain and result in higher costs and/or lower availability of people to 

undertake work, leading to lower quality or fewer outputs 

• Extreme weather events, which may prevent elements of the programme from 

proceeding within the planned timeframes – in particular citizen engagement 

and undertaking retrofit surveys and works 

• The willingness of residents of the five neighbourhood areas to participate 

within the project – while this will be influenced by the programme’s design for 

Page 82



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

30 | P a g e  

 

community and household engagement, success is ultimately reliant on the 

individual decisions of households to participate or not. 

 

2 ECONOMIC CASE 

MAXIMISE PUBLIC VALUE TO SOCIETY THROUGH THE SELECTION OF THE 

OPTIMAL COMBINATION OF SCOPE, COSTS AND OUTCOMES 

 

2.1 CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS  

List the critical success factors i.e., what must this programme achieve to be 

successful? 

Align this to the individual project(s) that will contribute to the delivery of each CSF. 

 

Table 5 

# Critical Success Factor (CSF) Alignment to 
Programme 
Objectives / Related 
Project (s) 

1. Successful resident engagement in 5 NZN areas, leading to 
installs of suitable monitoring equipment and light-touch 
measures to quantify co-benefits delivered by of place-based 
NZ projects. 

To satisfy the funding requirements from DESNZ, interventions 
must cover transport/ mobility, energy systems and building 
decarbonisation. 

WP1a (can expand to 
cover key milestones) 

2. Development of detailed business cases and commercial 
models for the NZNs – producing a pipeline of investible 
projects pitched at both outcomes-investors, and private, 
returns seeking finance. 

WP1b 

3. Development and implementation of an appropriate data 
infrastructure solution to capture and share data from retrofits 
and place-based Net Zero projects on co-benefits. 

WP2 

4. Design the governance structure required to implement a 
regional blended funding model for Net Zero projects.  
Ensuring the needs of residents are met, providing sufficient 
evidence of generated benefits to satisfy investors and 
protecting participants from legal and financial liabilities through 
appropriate governance. 

WP3a 

5. Successfully setup the Regional Net Zero Fund, with clear 
pathways for investors to enter the fund, and a pipeline of 
place-based projects requiring access to capital. 

This addresses DESNZ requirement for our programme to 
produce an outcome that is scalable and replicable. 

WP3b 

Page 83



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

31 | P a g e  

 

5. Investor market is mobilised, with sufficient buy-in to 
investment, once the required infrastructure (data and regional 
fund) are established. 

WP4 

 

 

2.2 LONG LIST OF OPTIONS 

Determine the long list options and undertake SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, 

opportunities, threats) analysis to complete the table below. All supporting evidence 

informing the long list together should be made available if requested for reference 

and/or Assurance and Appraisal purposes. 

Information provided for the short-listed options should also feature below. 

Table 6 

# Option 
Description 

Advantages 

(Benefits) 

Disadvantages 

(Disbenefits) 

Does this option 
meet objectives 

and CSFs? 

(Y/N) 

1. Delivery of 
programme 
focused purely 
on revenue 
spend 

• Capacity building 
 

• No ability to quantify 
the real-world 
benefits of 
interventions – 
makes monetising 
more difficult. 

• Unable to deliver 
interventions in the 
NZN areas.  
Community 
engagement is 
conducted, trust is 
built but likely to be 
lost with no ‘prize’ to 
offer for 
involvement. 

N 

2. Delivery of 
programme 
focused purely 
on capital 
spend 

• Greater evidence 
base on the co-
benefits 
generated by 
place-based NZ 
projects 

• Limited capacity 
within the LA’s to 
deliver the NZN 
plans 

• No spend allocated 
towards governance 
for the regional fund 
– no way to ensure 
it is fit for purpose 
and contributing 
towards a just 
transition 

• We already have a 
NZN in delivery, 
unlikely to generate 
sufficient new 

N 

Page 84



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

32 | P a g e  

 

learnings to justify a 
100% capital spend 

• Unlikely to satisfy 
requirements from 
DESNZ – what are 
we producing/ 
learning that is new, 
scalable and 
replicable? 

3. Programme 
delivered by an 
external entity 

Officer capacity within 
Energy Capital is 
protected. 

 

Way of ensuring delivery 
is managed by an 
organisation with 
experience in 
administering large 
programmes with a cross 
of research/ theoretical 
work and delivery of 
large capital projects. 

• LA’s are fully 
bought in to the 
NZN process 
through years of 
engagement – risk 
of losing buy-in if 
delivery is 
outsourced and the 
messaging/ tone 
changes 

• This is a complex 
programme with 
many cross-project 
dependencies.  
Knowledge and 
understanding of 
the complexities 
exist within Energy 
Capital and are at 
risk of being 
miscommunicated if 
outsourced. 

• Not generating 
capacity within 
Energy Capital for 
data – missing from 
the team and 
required for making 
a success of the 
single funding 
settlement. 

Y 

4. Delivery of 
programme with 
a split between 
capital and 
revenue spend 

• Best balance 
between 
generating 
outcomes for 
residents and 
delivering on the 
technical 
components 
required to 
actualise the 
regional fund. 

• Role of programme 
manager becomes 
more difficult – 
having to 
simultaneously  
manage 5 retrofit/ 
regeneration 
delivery projects 
and research/ 
theoretical work 

Y 

Page 85



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

33 | P a g e  

 

5. Delivery of the 
programme 
focusing capital 
spend on 1 or 2 
neighbourhoods 

• Capital funding 
will stretch 
further, allowing 
full retrofits rather 
than installation 
of lower impact 
measures 

• Easier to manage 
a smaller cohort 
of projects 

• Likelihood of 
delays in 
onboarding are 
reduced 

• Easier 
procurement 
processes 

• Revenue spend 
is reduced (only 
funding 2 FTE 
positions in the 
LA’s. 

• Significant risk of 
reputational 
damage with the 
cohort of LA’s by 
moving to a 
competitive process 

• Each NZN area is 
different and will 
generate different 
outcomes – loses 
the opportunity to 
measure these. 

• More difficult to 
meet DESNZ 
requirement to 
deliver on transport, 
building 
decarbonisation and 
energy systems. 

Y 

6. Delivery of the 
programme 
focusing capital 
spend on 5 
neighbourhoods 
(full cohort) 

• Greater potential 
to deliver a wider 
range of 
outcomes. 

• Greater potential 
to investigate the 
intersectionality 
of outcomes. 

• Maintains buy-in 
from all our LA 
partners 

• Can test multiple 
delivery 
mechanisms, 
generating 
learnings to help 
inform the wider 
NZN programme. 

• Cohort approach 
encourages 
collaboration and 
sharing lessons 
between LA 
partners. 

• Easier to meet 
DESNZ 
requirement to 
deliver on 
transport, building 
decarbonisation 
and energy 
systems. 

• Difficult to deliver 
more than simple 
measures in homes 
– risk that we 
generate buy-in 
within the 
neighbourhoods 
and the ‘prize’ is 
insufficient for 
residents to be 
satisfied. 

• Project 
management of 5 
concurrent delivery 
projects will be 
challenging. 

Y 

Page 86



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

34 | P a g e  

 

• Add clauses to 
the grant 
agreements to 
claw back 
allocated funding 
in case of 
significant delays, 
mitigating 
delivery risks and 
only possible with 
the larger cohort. 

7. Delivery of the 
programme 
focusing capital 
spend on 5 
neighbourhoods 
(full cohort), 
while 
continually 
seeking 
additional 
funding to 
expand 
programme 
scope.  These 
additional 
funding sources 
could include: 

Partner 
organisation 
match funding  

Additional grant 
funding (e.g. 
SHDF funding 
for retrofit 
assessments/ 
measures) 

Spend of early 
investment into 
the fund 

As above plus: 

• Clear pathways 
for additional 
capital spend are 
mapped. 

• LA partners have 
expressed 
readiness to 
receive more 
capital funding for 
NZN delivery. 

• Able to offer more 
to residents – 
helps generate 
buy-in and 
therefore more 
likely to collect 
sufficient data to 
evidence 
outcomes. 

• Offering a greater 
range of 
measures to 
residents will 
allow us to 
investigate a 
wider range of 
outcome-
generating 
measures. 

As above plus: 

• May require 
programme change 
requests for 
significant increases 
to programme 
scope. 

• May need legal 
teams to review 
grant agreements to 
account for 
increases in scope. 

• May require 
additional rounds of 
procurement. 

• Depending on when 
funding is 
announced, there 
may be insufficient 
time to spend 
before the project 
ends.  Reputational 
risk of an 
underspend. 

Y 

8. Not accepting 
the funding 

N.B. The WMCA 

was asked to decide 
prior to the PBC being 
developed if we were 
prepared to accept 
this funding in 
principle so that it 
could be announced 
by Government. We 
were also required to 
withdraw from the 
Innovate UK funding 
competition that we 
had been successful 
in with Project 

• SMART Hub 
team can 
continue focusing 
on existing 
programmes of 
work 

• Political and 
reputational risk 
with DESNZ, LA’s 
and private sector 
organisations 
briefed on the 
programme. 

• Loses opportunity to 
potentially unlock 
significant funding 
streams for Net 
Zero projects in the 
region. 

N 

Page 87



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

35 | P a g e  

 

CAMPOS, in order to 
be able to accept this 
greater sum of 
money, as DESNZ 
was the ultimate 
funder of both 
streams. The 
Executive Director for 
SENZ, CEO, Mayor 
and S151 officer were 
all consulted during 
the two week period 
we had to make this 
decision and it was 
agreed that we would 
withdraw from the 
Innovate UK 
competitive process 
and accept this 
funding instead. 
Subsequently the 
Environment and 
Energy Board also 
endorsed this 
decision. 

• Continuing with 
BAU will mean we 
miss our Net Zero 
targets for the 
region. 

• Loose potential to 
create capacity 
within Energy 
Capital for data 
expert positions 
(required to make a 
better success of 
the Single Funding 
Settlement) 

• Loose our leading 
trailblazing status 

 

2.2 SHORTLISTED OPTIONS 

Describe how proposals for delivering the programme objectives (via projects) have 

been shortlisted. State the preferred way forward which will progress through to the 

development of future project business case stages. 

Options have been shortlisted according to their ability to meet the expectations of the funder 

DESNZ, the WMCA’s wider strategic objectives and has been informed by experience from 

initial pilot projects. DESNZ expects that the programme will help significantly accelerate 

place-based transitions to Net Zero, taking a holistic, place-based approach. The objective of 

the programme is to design and develop a pipeline of Net Zero projects for an area, attract a 

commercial investor at whatever scale we deemed appropriate. 

 

The shortlisted options are: 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 

 

Option 7 is the preferred option as it is most likely to achieve the objectives set out below and 

the critical success factors, as it will address all of the primary barriers identified through the 

WMCA’s IUK-funded Project CAMPOS. These barriers are:  

• availability of reliable evidence of outcomes (through project data);  

• suitability of governance structures to reduce risk to finance providers;  

• and the means of consistently engaging communities to develop project opportunities. 

 

Option 7 will: 

• develop a pipeline of investable area-based Net Zero projects, building community 

trust in retrofit projects and showing how demand, and viable investments, can be 

increased 

• develop metrics and key indicators to measure outcomes in a way that meets the 

needs of funders, and a robust data infrastructure solution, connecting neighbourhood 

data to project teams and the outcomes market 

Page 88



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

36 | P a g e  

 

• establish robust governance structures to manage a regional blended finance fund for 

retrofit projects, balancing investor and neighbourhood interests to ensure a just 

transition to Net Zero 

• demonstrate willingness from a range of investors to put money into a regional fund 

for Net Zero projects 

DESNZ has indicated that additional funding may become available during the course of the 

programme, subject to suitable proposals. In this instance, Option 7 would enable us to 

increase the scope of the programme, however, this additional funding has yet to be 

confirmed.  In addition, Option 7 allows greater flexibility in Net Zero Neighbourhood delivery, 

where project teams can respond to additional funding as it becomes available, allowing 

greater investment into their neighbourhoods. 

 

The WMCA and DESNZ will agree outcome targets for the delivery of this project based on 

this invitation and the proposal received. However, a draft set of outcomes for the 

programme is set out below: 

• Demonstrate a high level of citizen engagement within the demonstration 

neighbourhoods 

• Build a pipeline of Net Zero projects ready for investment (blended finance) 

• Reduce local CO2 emissions 

• Establish functioning data infrastructure that allows baseline data and outputs from 

projects to be captured and assessed and generate outcome reporting for funders 

• Funders and finance providers are able to invest in a Regional Net Zero Fund, which 

is capable of allocating funding to Net Zero projects 

• Private sector investors are ready and willing to invest in Regional Net Zero Fund 

that blends finance. 

 

2.3 SOCIAL VALUE FINDINGS 

Detail the calculation of Net Present Social Value (NPSV) and Net Present Social Cost 

(NPSC) for the shortlisted options. This should also include significant impacts that 

cannot be quantified or included in the NPSV calculation and indicate how the 

preferred way forward offers the greatest value for money. 

The objective of the programme is to develop the means for scaling investment into place 

based Net Zero projects that include retrofit, by designing and developing the infrastructure 

and the project pipeline to realise this.  

The estimated value of the pipeline of just Net Zero Neighbourhood projects this programme 

will create is around £130million (based on estimated cost of delivering seven 300 home scale 

Net Zero Neighbourhoods). The set up of the regional fund and alignment with new housing 

and transport plans and Local Area Energy Planning across the region will result in more 

higher value energy infrastructure projects to enter the pipeline.  

The programme itself holds quantification & measurement of wider system value at its core, 

and developing the methodology for calculating an accurate social value measurement for 

money spent on retrofit and Net Zero projects that can allow actual investment decisions to 

be based on. The social value delivered directly by the programme is relatively limited, but it 

will put in place the enabling infrastructure for much greater social value to be realised as 

investment into Net Zero is scaled as a result. 

Page 89



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

37 | P a g e  

 

Feasibility work on this concept in May 2023 resulted in the following logic to follow 

financialization of retrofit related ‘outcomes’ which is a useful logic to follow generally for Net 

Zero projects. 

 

Figure 1: Financialising outcomes (or social value indicators) that result from retrofit projects 

The methodology followed for this NPSV calculation involved listing the core benefits this 

programme is looking to focus on enabling measurement, evidencing and creation of the 

following Net Zero related benefits resulting from successful investment into the resulting 

pipeline: 

1. Decarbonisation benefits 

2. Energy system benefits 

3. Energy bill savings (regarded here as a social value benefit) 

4. Health benefits 

The wider social costs and benefits associated with abating carbon emissions (as is the key 

focus of the Local Net Zero Accelerator) are diverse but for the purpose of this calculation we 

shall focus quantitatively on these with commentary on additional qualitative benefits detailed 

later in the section. 

Table 1: Assumptions for NPSV calculation 

 Number Source 

Cost of retrofit per home £23,000 Parity Projects for WMCA 
2022 

Carbon emissions reduction 
per home 

1.64 tonnes per home HACT Retrofit Credits (c115 
tonnes for 70 homes) 

Carbon price per tonne £108.70 HACT Retrofit Credits 
(c£25,000 for 115 tonnes 
over a 20 year period) 

Energy system benefit per 
home 

Between £30-£80 Project PIONEER 

(Average taken and 
assumed total value over 30 
years) 

Page 90

Proportional%20Investment%20of%20Networks%20in%20Energy%20Efficiency%20Retrofit%20(PIONEER)


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

38 | P a g e  

 

Energy bill savings per 
home  

£1,218 Average energy bill savings 
for a West Midlands home 
(gas & electricity) 

Health related benefits to 
NHS per home 

£0.42 for every £1 spent Verco & Cambridge 
Econometrics 

 

(Also assumed over a 30 
year period) 

Inflation 5% Blanket assumption 

Discount rate (Carbon, 
Energy System, Energy Bill 
Savings) 

3.5% HM Treasury Green Book 

Discount rate (Health) 1.5% HM Treasury Green Book 

 

Note: This programme will cover building the business case for enabling interventions beyond 

retrofit (and including non-domestic buildings, transport and green spaces) but for the sake of 

simplicity and minimise the effect of the ‘entangled’ nature of these social outcomes we 

decided to focus just on the retrofit interventions for the calculation. 

 

Summary of the Net Present Social Value (NPSV) Calculations are below: 

Cost Domestic decarbonisation (1500 homes) -£                     41,934,966  

Benefits (over 
30 years) 

Decarbonisation benefits  £                       12,143,014  

Energy system benefits   £                       135,093.90  

Energy bill savings  £                       81,186,051  

Health benefits  £                       68,425,653  

NPSV  £                     119,954,847  

 

 

Figure 2: Mapping social benefits associated with retrofit projects 

Furthermore, success of Workstream 1 (Net Zero Neighbourhood delivery) will be measured 

and tracked by indicators determined in Workstream 2 based on the WMCA’s Inclusive Growth 

Framework Fundamentals that will allow us to evidence not just the benefits listed above but 

also: 

- Creation of better places to live due to better air quality, more green spaces and 

warmer more comfortable homes 

Page 91

https://e3g.org/wp-content/uploads/Building-the-Future-The-Economic-and-Fiscal-impacts-of-making-homes-energy-efficient.pdf
https://e3g.org/wp-content/uploads/Building-the-Future-The-Economic-and-Fiscal-impacts-of-making-homes-energy-efficient.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

39 | P a g e  

 

- Increased buy-in from local communities and building awareness of climate change 

- Creation of opportunities for local supply chain growth and skills building (creating a 

workforce that reflect the diversity of the West Midlands) 

- Improved employability for people who face additional barriers in the workplace 

- Reduced social isolation and support for people with vulnerabilities that may be 

exaggerated by climate change 

 

3 COMMERCIAL CASE 

COMMERCIALLY VIABLE AND ATTRACTIVE TO THE SUPPLY SIDE 

At PBC stage, the Commercial Case is not expected to be matured. However, the 

nature of work required to sound out the market and inform the procurement process 

of the future project business case submissions, should be identified.  

3.1 OVERVIEW OF COMMERCIAL CASE IN SUPPORT OF PREFERRED OPTION 

State the ability of the marketplace to provide the required goods or services and the 

attractiveness of this proposal to potential service providers. Also include detail on 

how the respective procurement and legal teams have been consulted with regards to 

the impact of subsidy control on the project’ (including HR/IT personnel implications). 

The programme will be delivered through 5 projects (work packages), originally scoped and 

successful in applying for Innovate UK’s Pathfinder Places Phase 2 funding pot. 

 

WP1A:  NZN Delivery 

Description Responsible 
party: 

Delivered 
by: 

Market 
requirements 

• Focuses on generating 
baseline data on our three key 
outcomes (carbon savings, 
health improvements, and 
energy infrastructure savings) 
by installs of monitoring 
equipment in and around the 
neighbourhoods.   

• Each LA with a NZN plan will 
have an opportunity to revisit 
their plans prior to delivery.  
Addressing concerns raised 
that the plans are outdated 
(originally produced in 2021), 
while allowing a rescope to 
include specific focuses on 
transport, energy systems 
and/ or building retrofit, to 
ensure compliance with 
requirements from DESNZ. 

WMCA: 

NZN delivery 
manager 

WM LA’s Citizen 
engagement 
partners (as 
required) 

Retrofit 
Assessors 

Home energy 
monitoring 
equipment 

Monitoring 
equipment 
(health and 
transport 
indicators) 

Suppliers for 
light-touch 
neighbourhood/ 
retrofit 
interventions. 

Consultancy 
services for 

Page 92



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

40 | P a g e  

 

NZN plan 
reviews 

 

WP1B:  Business Cases and Commercial Modelling 

Detailed commercial models and 
business cases to be developed for 
each Net Zero Neighbourhood, 
producing a pipeline of investable 
projects ready to receive funding. 

Commercial 
modelling 
consultancy, 
with specific 
knowledge of 
green finance 

 

Green 
finance 
partner 
subject to 
procurement 

Consultancy 
services 

WP2:  Data Infrastructure Development  

• Establish expert panel on 
carbon, health and energy 
systems indicators to advise 
on suitable metrics to 
evidence co-benefits 
generated from place-based 
Net Zero projects. 

• Procure data infrastructure 
specialist to inform 
specifications and exact 
deliverables required to deliver 
the data infrastructure 
requirements to evidence 
outcomes. 

• Delivery of outputs required to 
create, test and rollout data 
infrastructure solution. 

WMCA: 

WP2 lead (new 
post) 

WMCA: 

WP2 lead 
and new 
energy 
projects 
officer  

Consultancy 
services: 

 

Data 
infrastructure 
expert 

 

Carbon, health 
and energy 
systems 
indicators 
experts 

WP3A:  Governance 

• Resident engagement to 
identify suitable community-
set indicators 

• Design oversight mechanism 
for outcomes contracting 

• Design and test 
neighbourhood-level 
governance structure with 
LA’s 

• Design high level term sheet 
for future outcomes 
contracting 

• Produce playbook for 
replication 

Governance 
specialist 
consultancy  

 

Governance 
expert 
partner  
subject to 
procurement 

Consultancy 
services  

WP3B:  Creating the Regional Fund 

• Seek legal advice on the 
frameworks required to set up 
a legally compliant fund. 

• Procure fund design and legal 
specialists to inform 
specifications and exact 

WMCA 

Green finance 
lead  

WMCA: 

WP3B lead 

Legal 
consultancy 
services 

Page 93



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

41 | P a g e  

 

deliverables required to setup 
a legally compliant and 
responsible fund. 

• Draft legal agreements for 
investors and capital-seeking 
projects 

• Setup the fund. 

WP4:  Market Mobilisation 

• Market research to identify 
potential investors  

• Similar activity on identifying 
and engaging regional 
investors 

• Produce investor propositions, 
building on business cases 
developed in WP1b, pitched to 
outcome-buyers and 
traditional investors. 

• Draft commercial agreements 
with investors 

Green finance 
specialists 

 

Place-based 
investment 
experts 
subject to 
procurement 

Consultancy 
services 

 

Regional 
investor 
expertise 

 

This programme was scoped collaboratively between Energy Capital, Dark Matter Labs, 

Bankers without Boundaries and Living Places, in application to Innovate UK’s Pathfinder 

Places programme.  As such, consultancy services required to deliver work packages 2, 3, 

and 4 exist in the market, however due to the change in funding source, this work will need to 

be allocated through a procurement process. 

Where specific consultancy knowledge is required, for example on data infrastructure and the 

regional investor landscape, letters of support were obtained in the bid writing process to 

ensure the skills exist in the marketplace to deliver this work. 

The retrofit market is fragmented and underdeveloped; as such the capital spend and 

associated activity in WP1A carries the highest delivery risk in terms of costs and timescales.  

To mitigate this, soft market testing was conducted during the bid writing stage to prepare the 

regional market for a large influx of activity.  Letters of support were obtained from key regional 

players to ensure capacity exists to deliver this work.  Additionally, for the 5 concurrent retrofit 

projects undertaken through WP1A, Energy Capital have proposed centrally procuring 

services common across each LA project.  This will aid mobilisation in the LA’s, while allowing 

greater bargaining power to ensure value for money. 

Energy Capital have consulted heavily with internal procurement team to plan mobilisation of 

this programme and assess options for supporting central procurement on behalf of local 

authority partners.  There will be several large procurement exercises required to deliver this 

programme, including a mix of revenue and capital spend.  As such, procurement 

specifications and strategies have been drafted in advance of submission of this PBC, with 

soft market testing conducted during the bid writing phase to ready the market. 

We expect to require up to an additional 6 internal hires to support this programme.  These 

appointments and HR arrangements, these will follow standard WMCA processes including 

development of Job Descriptions, CtE forms and a RAF process, in addition to other standard 

authorisation processes. The HR team is able to support recruitment of the new roles within 

its existing capacity and parameters. 

Page 94



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

42 | P a g e  

 

 

 

3.2 OVERVIEW OF THE COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 

References the organisations Commercial Strategy and how public value will be 

achieved through economics of scale.  

We have developed a clear initial understanding of the services, outputs and milestones 

required for successful delivery of the programme. A separate operational plan will be 

developed for each work package in partnership with internal and external stakeholders (e.g. 

LAs) once procurement has concluded to collectively determine realistic deliverables and 

timescales. To ensure best possible public value, WMCA will be leading work packages 1 and 

2, where expertise and capacity will be built within Energy Capital in preparation for receiving 

further devolved funding for retrofit through the Single Funding Settlement.  Through the 

programme scoping phase (both for the Innovate UK funding bid and subsequent rescope 

following the DESNZ funding allocation) we have streamlined the programme and each project 

to ensure there is no duplication between WMCA and the project partners, but also internally 

across teams at WMCA (i.e aligning with the Local Investment in Natural Capital work from 

the Environment team, aligning with Inclusive Growth and Research & Intelligence team on 

data architecture and regional metrics etc). 

The Net Zero Neighbourhood Demonstrators specified as part of Work Package 1 also follow 

a place-based approach that in theory will produce delivery efficiencies for channelling 

numerous different interventions through the same delivery partners for multiple benefits. 

Whilst some of the procurement routes will be determined at a later stage, there is a clear 

understanding of the overall procurement strategy and initial implementation timescales for 

potential projects. Supporting payment mechanisms particularly for the devolved grant funding 

will be developed in more detail as part of the operational plans. As part of this, we will also 

explore opportunities for economics of scale particularly through programme design. For 

example, a logic chain will be used to identify where the creative commission element of the 

programme could also link with the skills & business development part of the programme. This 

will provide opportunities to maximise public value derived from this investment.   

The commercial strategy will regularly reviewed as the programme is delivered.

Page 95



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

43 | P a g e  

 

 

4 FINANCIAL CASE 

AFFORDABLE AND FUNDABLE OVER TIME 

Unrounded figures should be used throughout the Financial Case 

4.1 CAPITAL AND REVENUE FUNDING STATEMENT 

Provide an overview of the proposed funding package to deliver the programme 

within the table below and include the remaining funding gap (if applicable).   

All secured funding identified below should be verified by a written confirmation 

attached to this PBC with details of any conditions. 

Table 7 

 Status 

(Secured / Not Secured ) 

£M 

Gross Costs - £6,200,000 

Revenue Not Secured – awaiting 
grant agreement 

£6,200,000 

Capital N/A Nil 

Development Funding 
within the above (funding 
required to reach the next 
stage) 

N/A N/A 

Total  £6,200,000 

 

Table 8 

Funder Amount % of Total Status 
 
(Secured / 
Not Secured) 

Details of Funding 
Status / Timing / 
Conditions etc. 

 DESNZ £6,200,000 100% Not Secured  
TBC – WMCA still 
negotiating   

Total £6,200,000 100%     

 

DESNZ has confirmed in writing to WMCA that the funding will be made available as revenue 

funding. We are expecting this to be allocated in a single tranche via a Section 31 grant 

agreement, but are waiting for DESNZ to confirm the details of the grant agreement. If funding 

is not allocated via a Section 31 grant agreement, WMCA will need to claim in arrears on a 

regular basis and cash flow any up front expenditure. This position will be reviewed once 

DESNZ have confirmed the terms of the grant agreement.  

A detailed budget breakdown for the project has been submitted with this PBC. Budgets are 

subject to change, but a summary of the draft budget position can be found below. This 

includes 2% top slice (£124k) for WMCA corporate services recharge, and contingency of 

Page 96



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

44 | P a g e  

 

£161k (2.6%) has been provisioned to be allocated as needed. An inflation rate of 3% has 

been factored into all relevant costs.  

  WMCA 

External 
contractors/ 
consultants 

Local 
authorities Total 

Work 
package 1 - 
NZN 
development  £    272,415   £        1,745,176   £    1,311,262   £3,328,853  

WP2 - Data 
and 
monitoring  £    121,022   £          695,250   £                -     £   816,272  

WP3 - 
Governance  £    110,985   £          608,462   £                -     £   719,447  

WP4 - Market 
mobilisation 
and 
investment  £    107,752   £          375,958   £                -     £   483,710  

WP5 - Project 
Management  £    623,909   £              66,736   £                -     £   690,645  

Contingency  £    161,072   £                       -     £                -     £   161,072  

Total  £ 1,397,156   £         3,491,582   £    1,311,262   £     6,200,000  

 

 

4.2 OVERVIEW OF FUNDING AND AFFORDABILITY SUMMARY 

A written summary of the overall affordability of the project and the funding that has been 

secured to date must be provided. Where there is a shortfall in available funding, provide 

details of how this will be addressed, and the level of contingency included. 

Complete the table below to provide an overview of WMCA funding.  

Table 9 

Funding Type 

Grant / Cashflow (repayable) / Underwrite 

Grant  

Funding Commencement Date 

 

01/04/2024 

Funding Completion Date  

 

31/03/2026 

Basis of Reimbursement 

Quarterly in arrears of expenditure incurred 
(WMCA Standard) 

The terms and conditions of the grant are 
not yet known. It is assumed that the grant 
will be paid upfront as a Section 31 grant 
from DESNZ to WMCA. 

Any Conditions Precedent? 

 

e.g., securing DfT funding. Include any 
spend deadlines, eligible spend outputs and 

The terms and conditions of the grant are 

not yet known.  

Page 97



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

45 | P a g e  

 

high priority items likely to be included in 
any Conditional Grant offers or 
development agreements in principle 
(Heads of Terms) 

Order in which WMCA Funding is to be 
drawn 

1st/2nd/3rd 

 

WMCA will be the sole recipient of the grant 
funding and will allocate funding to delivery 
partners for each workstream as necessary 
via the appropriate grant agreement or 
contract.  

Partners will include local authorities and 
external contractors and consultants. The 
local authorities are Birmingham, Sandwell, 
Solihull, Walsall and Wolverhampton. The 
external contractors and consultants will 
need to be procured. 

Work streams for which WMCA Funding 
is available to be drawn against 

 

e.g., all / workstream 1, 3 and 4 etc. 

WMCA will be able to draw down funding to 
cover its costs against each of the five 
workstreams. The budgeted costs also 
include for a 2% corporate services 
recharge and a contingency of £161k. 

 

4.3 BORROWING SUMMARY 

Please state if any element of the programme costs is to be financed by borrowing.  

None. 

4.4 IMPACT ON ORGANISATIONAL FINANCES 

The impact on the organisation’s balance sheet and income and expenditure account 

must be explained.  This includes depreciation, impairment, and any contingent 

liabilities or capital changes. 

WMCA anticipates receipt of revenue grant funding from DESNZ during Q4 23/24 as a Section 

31 grant, although this has not been confirmed, nor has WMCA received any associated terms 

and conditions of this award. WMCA expects that this will be confirmed by the time this 

Business Case is formally reviewed for approval at the Board meeting on 18th March 2024. 

We do not anticipate that WMCA will incur any incremental costs in advance of the signing the 

grant agreement; we expect officer time and corporate services (legal, finance and 

procurement), to be covered by existing budgets and the eventual 2% corporate services 

recharge. 

If WMCA is required to claim for grant costs in arrears on a monthly or quarterly basis, the 

project team will consult with the finance business partner and finance colleagues to ensure 

that the appropriate management plans are in place to manage the grant claim process and 

that any risks associated with cash flow and expenditure are fully understood and mitigated 

appropriately. 

The funding is revenue funding, although a small amount of this funding may be capitalised 

for the installation of retrofit monitoring equipment and measures in some homes. Where 

measures are installed, the owner of the property will be in effect gifted these, and will be 

responsible for ongoing maintenance of the measures. Where monitoring equipment is 

Page 98



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

46 | P a g e  

 

installed, this will either be removed at the end of the project, or – subject to budget and data 

infrastructure – kept in place.  

 

4.5 STAKEHOLDER SUPPORT 

Evidence of stakeholder support must be provided where other public sector organisations are 

funding the programme’s outputs and services. 

• CAMPOS phase 1 successfully completed June 2023, public dissemination of the 

outcomes and open access final report 

• Ongoing consultation with members of the NZN cohort (7 member Local Authorities) 

through the regular NZN Working Group throughout delivery of CAMPOS Phase 1 and 

application for Phase 2 

• Consultation with DESNZ on 6 November regarding funding opportunity and various 

dates thereafter 

• DESNZ offer letter issued 09 Nov 2023 

• CAMPOS phase 2 bid successfully won but declined in favour of accepting Local Net 

Zero Accelerator funding (which were deemed non-compatible). Innovate UK as key 

stakeholders were aware of the decision making process. 

• Consultation with various WMCA directorates including SENZ, Investment and Mayors 

office 

• Consultation with potential project partners as defined in original CAMPOS project on 

18 December 2023 

• Consultation with Environment and Energy Board 21 December 2023 

Page 99



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

47 | P a g e  

 

5 MANAGEMENT CASE 

CAN BE DELIVERED SUCESSFULLY BY THE ORGANISATION AND ITS 

PARTNERS 

5.1 MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE 

Provide an overview of the necessary management and governance arrangements 

both in the delivery phase and in operation i.e., include detail on: 

• Governance and decision-making arrangements  

• Change management arrangements (inc. reference to WMCA Change 

Process) 

• Benefits realisation arrangements and plans, including benefits register 

• Contract management arrangements 

• Post evaluation arrangements 

The Governance requirements as set out in WMCA’s Single Assurance Framework (SAF), 

and in any grant conditions applied by DESNZ, will be adhered to throughout the process.  

The Environment and Energy Board have already been briefed and have accepted the aims 

and objectives of the programme.   

The delivery process, particularly around energy systems interventions and investor market 

mobilisation will be informed by the expert advisory Energy Capital Board.   

As part of a cohort of combined authorities delivering Net Zero Accelerators, we will report to 

a programme delivery board chaired by South East Net Zero Hub, who have been designated 

to manage programme assurance on behalf of DESNZ.   

Within the WMCA, an internal advisory panel and programme board will be established.  

Membership of the advisory panel will include representatives from the Inclusive Growth 

Team, Equalities Team, Environment Team, Health Team, and the Communities Team, 

among others.  Membership of the programme board will include SENZ senior leadership, 

representatives from Appraisals and Finance teams, TfWM, and the Midlands Net Zero Hub.  

These meetings will follow the format of the monthly Retrofit Delivery panels, which have been 

singled out within the WMCA as best practice for accountability and reporting. 

A comprehensive decision-making protocol has been established between Energy Capital, 

Dudley MBC and EQUANS, for delivery of the Brockmoor Net Zero Neighbourhood (this has 

been attached as an Additional Appendix for reference).  This will be replicated for the other 

LA’s delivering Net Zero Neighbourhoods through Work Package 1A, and their respective 

delivery teams. 

The directorate comply with the requirements for SAF, with regular meetings to be scheduled 

with the assurance team to review the programme activity register and to ensure team 

members are completing and progressing projects or programmes through the necessary 

governance aligned to this, including SAF Appraisal Panel and Investment or Full Board.  

The dedicated programme delivery team, working together with WMCA senior leadership, will 

monitor performance against contracts and change requests will be managed in line with 

WMCA SAF processes, as outlined on WMCA intranet: WMCASAF_Change Control 

Process_v2.0.  Each project will be expected to manage individual change requests, with a 

programme change request submitted through the SAF process for project changes that 

Page 100

https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/WMCASAF%20Change%20Control%20Process%20V2.pdf
https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/WMCASAF%20Change%20Control%20Process%20V2.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

48 | P a g e  

 

impact delivery of the wider programme.  Change request forms have been prepared in 

advance of programme initiation. 

A detailed benefits map has been developed as part of Project CAMPOS Phase 1, mapping 

the wider benefits derived from place-based decarbonisation projects (this has been included 

as part of Appendix 1). Note that accurately measuring, recording and evidencing delivery of 

these benefits is crucial to mobilising the outcome-buying market and as such, significant 

project resource has been allocated to identifying the metrics required to show change, and 

develop the infrastructure required to communicate them (WP2). 

Contracts will be managed at the Programme Management level to ensure all delivery 

partners, contractors and sub-contractors are adhering to signed specifications and agreed 

deliverables. Overall responsibility for this sits with the SRO and the Programme Manager. 

As this programme looks to set up a permanent monitoring and evaluation framework that will 

stay in place and provide value to the WMCA and Energy Capital long after the end of the 

programme, post evaluation arrangements have been scoped into the delivery plan from the 

outset as part of Work Package 2. It will require any new projects funded by Energy Capital or 

delivered by Energy Capital to fit into the built data architecture and report on the indicators 

specified as part of this programme. 

Considering Birmingham City Council’s recent Section 114 notice, the programme team 

have been in regular contact with BCC’s project lead, to assess their capacity to deliver as 

part of the wider programme.  Collaboration agreements between BCC and the University of 

Birmingham (UoB) will allow project activity in Birmingham to commence, with grant funding 

being awarded directly to UoB, a key project partner for the Castle Vale Net Zero 

Neighbourhood.  Precedent for this approach exists, with UoB delivering the WM-Air project, 

on behalf of, and in collaboration with BCC. 

The WMCA legal team have been sighted of this proposal, with existing collaboration 

agreements between UoB and BCC under review.  BCC involvement in the LNZA 

programme will be dependant on sign-off from the WMCA legal team.  If sign-off is not 

granted, funding allocated to BCC will be redistributed among the remaining local authorities, 

mitigating the risk of their non-involvement. 

 

5.2 PROGRAMME SCHEDULE FOR DELIVERY 

List key programme milestones below including project start and end.  The 

information provided should align with the Programme Schedule attached with this 

PBC. 

The key project milestones table below is a summary of those key milestones aligned 

to the Programme Schedule, which must be appended to this PBC. Include dates for 

future business case submissions (i.e., individual projects) and a longstop date by 

which all monies for this programme will be drawn 

Table 11 

# Milestone Start Date End Date 

Page 101

https://www.kumu.io/pocalvin/net-zero-neighbourhoods-outcomes-937dce13-8369-46bd-9ba7-10e6f99f6695


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

49 | P a g e  

 

1. WMCA programme delivery team in 
place 

April-24 June-24 

2. Procurement complete (WP lead 
partners and additional 
subcontractors) 

April-24 June-24 

3. Net Zero Neighbourhood resident 
engagement and retrofit assessments 

Nov-24 May-25 

4. Net Zero Neighbourhood delivery and 
post-measure monitoring 

Jun-25 Feb-26 

5. Business case development for 5 Net 
Zero Neighbourhoods 

Feb-25 May-25 

6. Co-benefits (outcomes) deep-dives to 
identify suitable metrics for reporting 

Aug-24 Nov-24 

7. Develop data infrastructure for 
reporting co-benefits 

Nov-24 May-25 

8. Develop governance structure for 
regional fund 

Apr-24 Nov-24 

9. Setup regional fund and secure 
investors 

Dec-24 Jan-26 

10. Mobilise regional outcome buying 
market and produce draft commercial 
agreements with investors 

Apr-24 Jul-25 

11. Key projects completed  Feb-26 

12. Evaluation completed  Mar-26 

 

5.3 PROGRAMME TEAM ORGANOGRAM 

Insert a Programme Organogram which distinguishes between full-time, part-time and fixed 

term staff. A Senior Responsible Owner (SRO) should be appointed and identified in the 

organogram  

This structure is part of the wider SINZ organisational structure, please visit: Visio-Strategy, 

Integration and Net Zero.vsdx (wmca.org.uk) 

For a more detailed diagram, showing the roles of subcontractors and highlighting where 

cross-work package collaboration is required, see here: 

https://miro.com/app/board/uXjVN9FxTbY=/ 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102

https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/Strategy%2C%20Integration%20and%20Net%20Zero%20structure%20as%20of%203%20March%202023.pdf
https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/Strategy%2C%20Integration%20and%20Net%20Zero%20structure%20as%20of%203%20March%202023.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

50 | P a g e  

 

 

SENZ Executive Director:

Ed Cox

FT permanent role

Energy Capital Director:

Cheryl Hiles

SRO

FT permanent role

SMART Hub Lead:

George Simms

FT permanent role

Net Zero Neighbourhood 
Delivery Manager:

Ayushi Vyas

FT permanent role

LNZA Programme 
Orchestration:

Position to be filled

PT fixed term role

LNZA Programme Manager:

Position to be filled

FT fixed term role

Work Package 1 Lead

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

Work Package 1 Energy 
Projects Officer

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

Work Package 2 Lead

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

Work Package 3 Lead

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

Work Package 4 Lead

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

LNZA PMO Support

Position to be filled

Fixed term or consultant role

Page 103



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

51 | P a g e  

 

5.4 PROGRAMME DELIVERY ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITES  

Classify the roles and tasks to determine who is Responsible ( R ) , Accountable ( A ) , 

Consulted ( C ) and Informed ( I ). 

Table 12  

 Director 
SENZ 

Director, 
Energy 
Capital 
(SRO) 

SMART 
Hub Lead  

Net Zero 
Neighbourhood 
delivery 
manager 

Programme 
manager 

Work 
package 
leads 

Drafting and 
execution of 
grant 
agreements  

A A A C R R 

Procurement of 
external 
contractors 

I A A C R R 

Delivery of NZN 
demonstrators 
(WP1) 

A A A R R R 

Design and 
development of 
data 
infrastructure 
(WP2) 

I A A C R R 

Design and 
development of 
governance 
infrastructure 
(WP3) 

A A A C R R 

Engagement 
with finance 
providers (WP4) 

I A A C R R 

Reporting to 
DESNZ and 
project boards 

A R R R R R 

 

Note that the table above other WMCA officers will need to be consulted, involved and take 

shared responsibility for the design and delivery of the various work packages. For example, 

Work Package 2 (data and monitoring infrastructure) will need input from the WMCA’s data 

protection officer and digital and data team. Work Packages 3 and 4 will need responsibility 

for the regional fund to be shared with the finance team.   

5.5 USE OF SPECIALIST ADVISERS 

Specify what support and SME advice is required from outside the project team. 

Include both resources inside your organisation (e.g., legal and finance) and those 

outside (e.g., technical consultants) 

The project will require WMCA to appoint a number of external consultants and contractors to 

deliver elements of each work package. The exact procurement approach is to be confirmed, 

and WMCA may choose to combine separate elements into a single procurement where 

Page 104



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

52 | P a g e  

 

appropriate. The table below summarises the external contracts that we anticipate will be 

necessary to deliver the programme outcomes. 

Legal, finance and procurement advice from inside WMCA will be needed to support the 

procurement, contracting and delivery of these elements, and other elements within the 

WMCA will also need to be consulted on different programme elements.  

Work package Requirement Input needed 

WP1 – NZN 
demonstrators 

Feasibility studies Specialist consultant 

Retrofit assessments Accredited contractor 

Community engagement and 
marketing 

Specialist consultant 

Monitoring equipment installation Specialist contractor 

Measure installation Specialist contractor 

WP2 – data and 
monitoring 

Data architect Specialist consultant 

Data infrastructure developer Specialist contractor(s) 

Data infrastructure design input WMCA Inclusive Growth Team, Environment 
Team, Digital and Data Team, Data 
Protection Officer 

Business case development  Specialist consultant 

WMCA Commercial and Investment Team 

Financial modelling External specialist to provide guidance to 
WMCA officers undertaking work 

WP3A – 
Governance 

Governance structure design Specialist consultant 

Governance structure 
implementation 

Specialist consultant and legal support 

Governance structure design and 
delivery input 

WMCA Finance Team 

WMCA legal team 

Legal and contractual support Specialist consultant 

Page 105



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

53 | P a g e  

 

WP3B – Fund 
Setup 

Fund design support Specialist consultant 

WMCA Finance Team 

WP4 – market 
mobilisation  

Finance provider engagement 
and mobilisation 

Specialist consultant 

WP5 – 
programme 
management 

All procurement and contracting WMCA finance, legal and procurement teams 

Programme orchestration Specialist consultant 

 

5.6 CHANGE AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

Explain how contracts and changes will be managed. The information provided 

should align with the Change Strategy attached with this PBC. 

Contracts will be managed through the dedicated WMCA delivery team, in consultation with 

WMCA’s legal, procurement, finance, HR and SAF teams. WMCA as an organisation already 

has substantial experience in managing delivery programmes of similar size. The more 

detailed operational plan for the programme will also consider aspects relating to contract 

management, together with managing relating risks and timelines. WMCA will hold all 

contracts, although as part of the double devolved grants, LA’s may choose to use their own 

contractual arrangements but within the allowed framework. For the LA grants, a Programme 

and Project Delivery Schedule will be created to confirm project interventions, outputs and 

outcomes for each Local Authority in line with the programme plan. This will include a 

deliverables matrix and details of the investment breakdown. 

Any change requests will be managed according to WMCA’s SAF processes, as outlined on 

WMCA internal website: WMCASAF_Change Control Process_v2.0.  

This will include the requirement for any programme partners to submit a SAF change request 

form in case there are any material changes to their deliverables, outcomes, budget or 

timelines. 

Any changes would be managed in line with programme level tolerances providing some 

flexibilities, although at the same time ensuring effective overarching deliver against agreed 

outputs and outcomes. This would also include ensuring financial and other compliance. 

Contracts and change management will also be monitored through regular delivery team 

updates and progress review meetings.   

5.7 RISK AND ISSUE MANAGMENT 

State how risk is managed and confirm that the risk register is an integral part of 

programme management meetings. The information provided should align to both the 

Risk Management Strategy and Risk Register and Issue Log attached with this PBC. 

Risks will be managed through a specific Risk Management Strategy together with a Risk 

Register and Issue Log (see Appendices 2 & 4 both of which are based on the delivery of the 

Page 106

https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/WMCASAF%20Change%20Control%20Process%20V2.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

54 | P a g e  

 

existing Brockmoor NZN). The main responsibility for risk management will be with the SRO, 

although each delivery team member will need to have an oversight of any risks relating to 

their delivery area. This will include risks relating to all parts of the programme management 

such as performance, compliance, financial management, service provision and changes in 

external/internal operating environment.  

 

The current risk register includes risks relating to:  

• Government delays – linking to any potential issues relating to delays in receiving 

funds 

• Issues with recruitment of delivery team 

• Inflation and budgeting risks    

• Services risks  

• Design issues in relation to delivery planning of work package 1 

• Competency based risks for delivery team  

• Unexpected external factors  

• Reputational risk associated with non-delivery of programme 

The biggest specific risks associated with the successful delivery of this programme and their 

proposed mitigations from this list are detailed below: 

1. Availability of the appropriate resource within internal legal, procurement and HR 

teams to ensure a timely mobilisation phase. This is currently being managed by 

actively engaging all relevant internal teams and escalating accordingly based on 

incoming resource impacts as well as creating detailed specifications where possible. 

Due to the innovative nature of this programme, a collaborative working mindset with 

all internal teams will be required. 

2. Timely agreement of procurement contracts and onboarding of delivery partners. Due 

to the NZN delivery projects in WP1 being first of a kind, there is a risk that agreeing 

contracts and subsequent delivery models will involve complexity and therefore take 

time. Experience with the Brockmoor NZN has resulted in existing contractual 

agreements between WMCA, local authorities, between local authorities and their 

onward delivery partners and has given early insight into the sticking points likely to 

cause delays. These have been captured in issues and lessons log so that re-

occurrence in this programme can be appropriately mitigated. 

Risks will be regularly reviewed and updated as delivery design for each Work Package is 

confirmed, procurement contracts are confirmed and partners onboarded. Regular meetings 

and progress reviews will form a key part of the activities of the programme delivery team. 

These will include reviewing each risk and considering any new ones, as well as consider any 

mitigations that could be implemented in relation to live risks. Risks that are no longer relevant 

will be closed.  

Risks relating to procured contracts and double devolved funds will be managed through 

contractual arrangements, templates and regular reporting requirements. Risk strategy will 

include clear routes for escalation as per WMCA’s organisational processes as well as 

considerations for legal obligations. SENZ Directorate does currently not have a Directorate 

level risk register but there are plans to create one soon. Once this is done, the SRO would 

also be responsible for ensuring relevant risks get added to this register.    

Page 107



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

55 | P a g e  

 

The delivery team recognises that effective risk management supports the achievement of 

wider aims, such as: 

• Effective change management 

• The efficient use of resources 

• Better programme and project management 

• Minimising waste and fraud 

• Innovation 

5.8 PROGRAMME ASSURANCE 

Set out the arrangements for programme assurance, including the use of Cabinet 

Office Gateway Reviews.   Other sources of assurance should be considered: 

technical, quality etc. Specify the probable timescales for undertaking project 

implementation and post evaluation reviews. 

A detailed organogram for the programme has been created to ensure team structure, 

reporting lines and clear accountability is in place. As part of this structure there are several 

routes that provide overall programme assurance. 

This Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme is part of a cohort of combined authorities, we 

will report to a Programme Delivery Board chaired by South East Net Zero Hub, who have 

been procured to manage programme assurance on behalf of DESNZ (who will sit on the 

board as project funder). 

Within the WMCA, an internal advisory panel and Programme Board will be established.  

Membership of the advisory panel will include representatives from the Inclusive Growth 

Team, Equalities Team, Environment Team, Health Team, and the Communities Team, 

among others.  Membership of the programme board will include SENZ senior leadership, 

representatives from Appraisals and Finance teams, TfWM, and the Midlands Net Zero Hub.  

These meetings will follow the format of the monthly Retrofit Delivery panels, which have been 

singled out within the WMCA as best practice for accountability and reporting. 

In addition, separate cross-partner meetings will be organised with relevant stakeholders 

through existing infrastructure (further information is detailed in Appendix 4 showing all 

stakeholders to the programme). These include the Net Zero Neighbourhood Working Group, 

membership to the National Retrofit Working Group, the SLES Investor Panel and various 

others. 

Specific learnings and lessons around NZN delivery will be reported on a 6 weekly basis to 

the Net Zero Neighbourhoods Working Group whose membership includes all West Midlands 

NZNs as cohort members as well as other NZNs across the region. 

The programme also contains a detailed Project Management work stream which specifies 

dedicated work package leads and further LA NZN delivery leads on which recruitment 

specifications are in progress to determine the right level of skill and experience 

(understanding that the right mix of skills may not exist and the Programme team will have to 

spend time helping to develop people into the right roles). 

Weekly partner catch ups, monthly reporting and quarterly all Work Package meetings have 

been included on Appendix 5. 

Any planned audits by DESNZ as the funding entity are not yet known. 

Page 108



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

56 | P a g e  

 

There will be a 3 month programme close down at the end of the programme which will include 

a transitionary phase into BAU where any IP, data architecture and ongoing monitoring and 

evaluation will be handed over to permanent members of the WMCA team to take on as 

additional capabilities. This process will be essential to the success of the programme after 

March 2026 and into the devolved funding period. 

Post-evaluation will focus on the SMART objectives set for the overall programme, together 

with the measures outlined in the bespoke evaluation framework. These will be monitored 

through the weekly team meetings as well as at internal Project Board reviews. A Project 

Implementation Review (PIR) and a Post Evaluation Review (PER) will be taken jointly.   

5.9 CONTINGENCY ARRANGEMENTS 

Set out the contingency plans in the event of any delays or disruptions to anticipated 

services. 

Each delivery strand budget will include a 5% contingency element that is built into the 

programme and not expended until a point when the outcomes and outputs from the delivery 

strand are secured, with no need for mitigating steps identified. This will be monitored though 

the Programme Board and team meetings. Where more significant changes are identified due 

to e.g. unexpected external factors, this would trigger a change request approved by the 

Programme Board and then following the normal WMCA SAF processes: 

WMCASAF_Change Control Process_v2.0 

Project timelines include contingencies to up to 6 weeks to mitigate against any service related 
risks or changes. Again, these will be monitored through the assurance processes and 
significant changes will be taken through the WMCA Change Control Process.  
 
Proceeding with a cohort of 5 Net Zero Neighbourhoods allows reallocation of budget and 
resource in the event of significant delays or disruptions, de-risking delivery of WP1A.  The 
grant agreements between the WMCA and Local Authorities will be developed to include 
clawback clauses to account for this. 
 
Government is also procuring separate finance support for this programme which will provide 
additional contingency for areas that we are unsure of the likely cost and complexity of relating 
to the set up of the fund itself and ensuring its replicability.  
 
Overall, these factors will be monitored through the programme assurance and risk monitoring 
processes.  
 

5.10 LESSONS LEARNT 

Detail how Lessons Learnt have been considered during the development of this proposal 

and plans for capturing Lessons Learnt during this programme. 

Lessons learnt from previously completed relevant programmes have been considered 
through:  
 

• Learning from the delivery of the first ever Net Zero Neighbourhood project in 
Brockmoor, which is currently in Month 3 of delivery following a lengthy process to 
agree contracts between WMCA, Dudley MBC and their onward delivery partners. 
Lessons have been captured in a Lessons Learnt log (which features as part of 
Appendix 3.2). The creation of the Net Zero Neighbourhoods working group has 

Page 109

https://intranet.wmca.org.uk/system/files/WMCASAF%20Change%20Control%20Process%20V2.pdf


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

57 | P a g e  

 

allowed the delivery of this project to remain accountable to other members of the Net 
Zero Neighbourhoods cohort to whom regular updates are given through this meeting. 

• Learning from the delivery of the 3 month Phase 1 feasibility of Project CAMPOS which 
involved building relationships with relevant project partners with the correct expertise 
for this programme. An open and collaborative working culture was set up to address 
the innovative nature of the work to ensure complexity, risk and scope creep were 
being managed constantly. Lessons learned were captured at the end of the project 
through a project close workshop that has been recorded on Miro. 

• Learning from the delivery of various government funded retrofit programmes such as 
SHDF, Sustainable Warmth Competition and Home Upgrade Grant programme. 
These projects have created a wealth of data and insights on the real challenges of 
trying to make retrofit and Net Zero relevant to people in the West Midlands. It has also 
allowed for the retrofit assessment and installation process and associated customer 
journey to be scrutinized in detail for where things can be done differently given the 
flexibility of the funder. 

• Learning from the delivery of the Prospering for the Energy Revolution project Zero 
Carbon Rugeley which covered in great detail the theoretical design of a Smart Local 
Energy System for Rugeley town. It covered the same challenges as Net Zero 
Neighbourhoods at a larger scale with a heavy focus on the local energy system which 
set excellent context for this programme in terms of local governance structures and 
funding entities which we will be building on in Work Package 3. 

• Learning from the delivery of the Prospering for the Energy Revolution project Regional 
Energy System Operator which looked at the theoretical governance structure of a 
regional energy system operator which would greatly enable a huge amount of energy 
system and decarbonisation innovation.  

 
Ongoing lessons learnt during delivery will be captured through monitoring and programme 
team meetings, individual work package meetings, fed up into the Project Board and the 
Programme board as well as evaluation for the whole programme. 
 
A lessons learnt/ issues log will be developed for the programme building on our existing 
lessons learnt log from the Brockmoor NZN project. Transparency and honesty will be key 
principles to ensure that delivery partners are sharing issues and solutions throughout the 
Programme especially in Work Package 1 where there is a cohort of 5 NZNs that will all need 
to learn from each other and work together for success and efficiency. 

 

5.11 MONITORING AND EVALUATION  

Set out a summary of the outline Monitoring Evaluation arrangements for the 

programme and milestones leading to Programme Evaluation. 

Include detail on the following:  

• Do you have an initial idea how performance will be measured? – 
Indicator/metrics  

• How does previous M&E learning inform the driving policy and or the 
project/programme?   

• Do you have an initial estimate of budget & resources for M&E (note, this should 
align to the financial case)?    

The programme will be evaluated through a specially designed evaluation framework based 

on the WMCA corporate M&E framework template, which will track achievement of KPIs and 

milestones. This will align with the programme and workstream goals developed by the project 

team and to be approved by local and national programme boards. The table below provides 

a draft evaluation framework: 

Page 110

https://miro.com/app/board/uXjVPnA9SD8=/


 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

58 | P a g e  

 

Work 

Package 

Outcome Evaluation type/approach 

WP1 
High level of citizen 
engagement within 
the neighbourhoods 

KPI: number of homes signed up for retrofit assessments and 

home monitoring packages (%ge of homes in area) 

KPI: %ge of customers providing positive feedback on 

programme  

NZN demonstrator 
projects are ready 
for investment 
(grant funding or 
finance)  

KPI: number of retrofit assessments and medium term 

improvement plans completed, providing costs and likely 

benefits 

KPI: number of functioning monitoring systems installed and 

providing data for business case 

KPI: Value of pipeline of Net Zero projects idenfied through 

regional fund (£) 

Milestone: Business cases for five NZN areas complete, 

including detailed breakdown of costs and benefits for both 

domestic retrofit and wider Net Zero investments (%) 

Reduced local CO2 
emissions 

KPI: reduction in carbon emissions from participating homes, 

evidenced through deemed savings or real world 

measurement from measures installed and behavioural 

change 

WP2 Functioning data 

infrastructure that 

allows baseline 

data and outputs 

from projects to be 

captured and 

assessed and 

generate outcome 

reporting for 

funders 

Milestone: procurement of data architect and data delivery 

partners complete (%) 

 

Milestone: design for data infrastructure arrangements 

completed (%) 

 

Milestone: data infrastructure development completed (%) 

WP3 Funders and 

finance providers 

are able to invest in 

a Regional Net 

Zero Fund, which 

had the ability to 

allocate funding  

Milestone: procurement of governance design partners 

complete (%) 

 

Milestone: design for governance arrangements completed 

(%) 

 

Milestone: procurement of governance infrastructure  partners 

complete (%) 

 

Milestone: fund is active - development and governance 

arrangements complete (%) 

Milestone: data infrastructure development completed (%) 

WP4 
Private sector 
investors will be 
ready and willing to 
invest in Regional 
Net Zero Fund 

Milestone: procurement of finance sector enagagement 

delivery partners complete (%) 

 

Milestone: finance sector engagement strategy complete (%) 

Page 111



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

59 | P a g e  

 

 

Milestone: finance sector engagement complete complete (%) 

 

KPI: Number of investors signing agreements or heads of 

terms to commit funding to Regional Net Zero Fund 

 

KPI: Quantum of funding raised for Regional Fund or 

committed through heads of terms (£) 

 

The evaluation framework will be embedded into delivery, procurement and grant contracts 

as applicable and will be conditions for any devolved funding and progress will be monitored 

through monthly project team meetings and by local and national programme boards. The 

project team will also maintain a lessons learned log to capture what has and hasn’t worked 

well.   Work package leads will be responsible for monitoring and evaluation on a project level, 

with the programme manager holding responsibility for programme-level monitoring and 

evaluation.  

The above will be developed into a coherent evaluation framework which will consider both 

qualitative and quantitative metrics and approaches.  

A robust process will be created for monitoring the activity, particularly where funding is double 

devolved to local authorities. Specific monitoring & evaluation return forms will be created for 

double devolved grants, and modelled on reporting arrangements developed by the Energy 

Capital Team for the Brockmoor NZN demonstrator. The Energy Capital team has extensive 

experience in running grant programmes and monitoring delivery of complex programmes.  

The monitoring and evaluation framework(s) will be developed during the programme 

mobilisation phase, and at latest in advance of the first monthly reporting meeting. 

A budget of £40,000 is specifically set aside towards evaluation, with programme level 

contingency potentially also providing for additional evaluation activity.   

  

Page 112



 

                                                     SINGLE ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

60 | P a g e  

 

 

MANDATORY APPENDICES REQUIRED FOR THIS PBC 

The following documents must be appended to this PBC:  

APPENDIX PROVIDED (Y/N) 

Appendix 1 - Theory of Change_Benefits Plan Y 

Appendix 2 - Risk Management Strategy NZA PBC Y 

Appendix 3.1 - Risk Register Y 

Appendix 3.2 - Issue Log Y 

Appendix 4 - Stakeholder & Communications Strategy Y 

Appendix 5 - Programme Gantt Chart Y 

Appendix 6 - Change management strategy NZA PBC Y 

7. If Investment Programme, Project Delivery Plan on a Page 
(POAP)  

N 

If CRSTS, DfT Additional Appendix N 

Confirmed funding details Y 

Additional Appendix - NZN Decision Making Protocol Y 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

0 | P a g e  

 

 

 

  

The Risk & Investment Appraisal has been completed to support better 

and more informed spending and investment decisions at the WMCA 

Risk and Investment Appraisal 

The purpose of this report is to: 

• Provide a high-level summary of the risks (project and 
strategic), commercial viability and Value for Money (VfM) of 
the investment and the opportunities it brings forward, 

• Determine if and how the proposal is aligned to WMCA Aims 
and Objectives and other regional Policy, 

• and act as an informative tool for decision-makers that 
accompanies the business case through to an approval 
decision.  

 
Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme and 

Fund 

PBC 

26th February 2024 

Tahyba Nud 

Details of Decision Outcome 

Forum / Decision Maker:  Investment Board/Investment Panel 

Date of Decision:  TBC 

Outcome of Decision: TBC 

Conditions / AOB: TBC 

 

Page 115



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

1 | P a g e  

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Programme Business Case (PBC) has been submitted by Alex Gordon/Ayushi Vyas from 
Strategy, Integration & Net Zero. 

This PBC is for the Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme and Fund. This work was formally 
known as Project CAMPOS (Creating a Market for Place-based Outcomes), a £4.86m funding 
application made to Innovate UK, which has now been extended and awarded funding directly 
from the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) to establish a West Midlands Net 
Zero Fund and secure an investment partner, as part of regional Trailblazer status. Total funding 
available for this project from DESNZ is approximately £6.2m of revenue to be spent by March 
2026. The core aim of this programme is to develop a scalable, replicable and financeable model 
for accelerating progress to a  Net Zero energy transition. To note, the funding conditions are still 
being negotiated with the funder.  

This project will seek to establish how funding, including devolved funding from Government, can 
be blended with private and outcomes-seeking finance to achieve Government’s objectives, 
removing market barriers to place-based Net Zero investment and attracting private investment to 
ensure that the impact of devolved public funding is maximised.  

This project will address the following objectives:  

1. Data: Developing a robust data infrastructure solution with metrics and key indicators to 
measure outcomes, connecting neighbourhood data to project teams and the outcomes market.  

2. Governance: Establishing a robust governance structure to manage a regional blended finance 
fund for Net Zero projects, balancing investor, place and community interests to ensure a just 
transition.  

3. Participation: Building community trust in Net Zero projects and demonstrating resulting quality 
of life improvements to increase interest and demand.  

To accelerate delivery, maximise learning and realise the benefits, the project will work with five 
Net Zero Neighbourhoods (NZN) demonstration projects across the region, maximising the value 
and impact of the existing regional NZN programme. The following Local Authorities will be part of 
this programme Birmingham, Wolverhampton, Solihull, Sandwell and Walsall.  

Finance Summary:  

  

Investment Board are required to make a decision on this business case to spend £6,200,000 

from DESNZ to accelerate the regions Net-Zero energy transition. 

 

 

Page 116



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

The PBC has been reviewed by, or had input from, the following stakeholders:  

• Tahyba Nud, Programme Appraisal 

• Marzena Kubiak, Programme Assurance 

• Aqeel Rizvi, Finance Business Partner  

• Nigel Channer, Legal Representative 

• Emily Sutton, Procurement 

____________________________ 

 

  

Page 117



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

3 | P a g e  

 

2.0 APPRAISAL RECOMMENDATION 

  
 
Based on an independent assessment of the risks and opportunities presented in this 
report: The Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme and Fund, the appraisal 
recommendation is to approve based on the following proposed conditions: 
  

1. Sustainability integration – committing to integrating sustainable and low carbon methods in 
all stages of the project. 

2. Deepen engagement with key stakeholders including local communities and industry 
partners etc to ensure the projects outcomes are inclusive and supported. 

3. Produce a Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) report showing impact and progress towards 
project objectives before the end of the project, with a final closure report following 
conclusion of the project. 

4. Employ a robust project Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) plan (using agreed KPI’s) to track 
outputs and outcomes through to fruition. 

5. Project team to determine risk ownership (including supplier related risks) within their Risk 
Register to demonstrate appropriate risk management. Once updated this document should 
be shared with the WMCA Strategic Risk Manager.  

 
There is a key risk for decision makers to note that   the agreement with DSENZ has not been 
officially signed, it has been noted that Internal approvals within DESNZ have been confirmed and 
have indicated their aim to agree the contract by the end of March, however this is yet to be 
received in writing and is dependent on the Programme Board (DESNZ chaired) being 
established. However, the project has demonstrated a proactive approach to addressing risks and 
capitalising on opportunities to advance Net Zero objectives. 
 

  
 

 

2.1 RISKS 

 
The risks outlined within Table 1 below have been noted by the lead appraiser and categorised in 
accordance with the WMCA’s Strategic Risk Framework and using the following RAG status: 
 
High Risk   Project must resolve / update the business case ahead of delivery. Any unresolved, red-rated risks will be 

highlighted to the decision maker when the business case is submitted for approval. If ignored, successful 
delivery will not be possible.   

Medium Risk   Project should resolve / update business case ahead of next submission or delivery. If ignored, they may 
impact chances of successful delivery.    

Low Risk   Project could resolve /update the business case ahead of next submission or delivery. If responded to, 
they will improve chances of successful delivery.   
   

 

 

Table 1 

Case / Misc RAG Risk Project Response 

Page 118



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

4 | P a g e  

 

Management 
Case 

 Delivery Risk: Economic or policy 
changes, supply chain disruptions could 
impact program deliverability and 
outcome – are appropriate contingency 
plans in place and/or is this being 
considered? 

Soft market testing has 

been conducted during the 

programme scoping phase, 

including securing letters of 

support from key external 

stakeholders. 

Multiple delivery areas from  

DESNZ (energy systems, 

transport and building 

decarbonisation) will 

diversify the suppliers 

needed to deliver capital 

works in the NZN areas, 

reducing  reliance on any 

one particular contractor.  

Similarly the NZN plans 

produced by our LA 

partners each have different 

focuses, further diversifying 

the contractors required. 

 

The biggest policy change 

that could alter the impact of 

this programme is a roll-

back on retrofit funding, 

expected through the Single 

Funding Settlement, as this 

programme is key to 

preparing the WMCA and 

wider region to best utilise 

this funding.  Since scoping 

this programme, retrofit 

funding through the single 

settlement has been 

confirmed for the next 

spending review period, 

with officers negotiating with 

DESNZ and treasury on 

exact terms. 

Page 119



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

5 | P a g e  

 

Updated PBC Section 1.4: 

Key risks.  Risk ID 11 

(p.25) 

Strategic Case  Delivery Risk: Ambitious work scope – 
may lead to deliverables not being met 
within the project timelines – affecting 
program quality and outcomes.  Linking 
in with procurement (large number of 
subcontractors working on project), is 
there any further information you can 
provide to show what strategies are in 
place to tackle any constraints and 
further delays 

Programme timeline has 

been extended by 3 

months, relative to the 

project scoped for Innovate 

UK.  While we have 

increased the scope of the 

programme, new 

deliverables have very few 

dependencies across the 

other workstreams, so the 

overall risk of overrunning is 

reduced. 

The programme Gannt 

chart accounts for potential 

delays, showing the latest 

possible finish time for an 

activity before impacting 

dependencies.  At minimum 

this additional ‘slippage’ 

time is a month. 

Soft market testing has 

been conducted during the 

programme scoping phase, 

including securing letters of 

support from key external 

stakeholders. 

Procurement specs are 
being finalised in advance 
of programme sign-off to 
minimise delays to project 
kick-off. 

Prior indication notices are 
being drafted, and the 
project team intend to hold 
‘meet the buyer’ webinars 
prior to procurement going 
live, to further prepare the 

Page 120



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

6 | P a g e  

 

market and ensure quality, 
timely responses. 

 

Updated PBC Section 1.4: 
Key risks.  Risk ID 4 (p.19) 

Finance Case  Delivery Risk: It is noted that the official 
agreement with DESNZ has not been 
signed confirming the terms - is there a 
date in which the agreement would be 
aimed to be finalised? 

The project team have 
shared the PBC with 
DESNZ.  Internal approvals 
within DESNZ have been 
confirmed, with this 
document in sight.  
Therefore, it is highly 
unlikely the scope will 
change between now and 
project initiation. 

 

DESNZ have indicated a 
minimum of £6.2m in 
funding for this programme, 
therefore any changes to 
the funding will only 
increase the capital 
allocated to each local 
authority for capital works. 

 

While we do not have an 
expected date for signing 
agreements, this money has 
been committed, and the 
project team have high 
confidence that the scope 
presented in this PBC (to 
both WMCA internal 
governance teams and 
DSNZ) will remain 
unchanged.  Energy Capital 
officers are beginning a 
series of regular meetings 
with DESNZ to finalise 
terms, starting w/c 
12/02/2024 

 

DESNZ have indicated their 
aim to agree the contract by 
the end of March, however 
we are yet to receive this in 

Page 121



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

7 | P a g e  

 

writing, and is dependent on 
the Programme Board 
(DESNZ chaired) being 
established. 

Updated PBC Section 1.4: 
Key risks.  Risk ID 4 (p.24) 

    
 
 

2.2 RESOLVED / MITIGATED RISKS  

 
The below risks were noted during the appraisal but have since been mitigated through updates to 
the business case or clarification in the project responses. 
  
 

Table 2  

Case Risk Project Response 

Strategic Case Delivery Risk: Success of the programme is heavily 
dependent on successful neighbourhood 
engagement – risk is if the community “buy-in” is not 
as expected- So how would this consider within the 
delivery mechanism? 

Community 

engagement is key to 

the Net Zero 

Neighbourhood 

model, as such NZN 

plans have been 

drawn with a specific 

focus on existing 

community 

infrastructure, and 

methods to mobilise/ 

ensure engagement. 

 

Energy Capital 

officers chair the 

NZN working group, 

attended by LA 

officers across the 

region. Community 

engagement is  a 

frequent topic of 

discussion at the 

working group, with 

Page 122



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

8 | P a g e  

 

lessons learnt and 

best practice shared 

between other LA’s 

with existing Net 

Zero 

Neighbourhoods. 

 

Each LA within the 

LNZA programme 

will be required to 

produce a community 

engagement plan, 

either individually or 

in partnership with an 

external body with 

prior experience.  

This requirement will 

be formalised in the 

grant agreement to 

ensure compliance. 

 

In the delivery plan, 3 

months have been 

allocated for the LA’s 

to conduct their initial 

resident engagement 

work.  Our learnings 

from the Brockmoor 

NZN indicate this will 

be sufficient time to 

begin this work. 

Updated PBC 

Section 1.4: Key 

risks.  Risk ID 9 

(p.23) 

 

2.3 KEY OPPORTUNITIES  

 

Page 123



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

9 | P a g e  

 

• Development of scalable, replicable, and financeable Net Zero Project models 

• Enhancement of public and private sector collaboration towards achieving Net Zero Targets 

• Contribution to the creation of a sustainable and just energy ecosystem. 
 
 
Inclusive Growth 

 

This programme will contribute towards Inclusive Growth within the West Midlands by: 

• Supporting the transition to a low carbon economy, creating green jobs and skills 
development opportunities 

• Promoting equitable access to the benefits of Net Zero projects, ensuring communities across 
the region can participate and benefit. 

• Fostering innovation and investment in sustainable infostructure and technologies, leading to 
economic diversification and resilience 

• Encouraging Public and Private sector collaboration, leveraging investments that benefits all 
socio-economic groups. 

• Enhancing environment sustainability, improving quality of life and health across communities 
in West Midlands. 
 

 
 
#WM2041 Net Zero 

 

WMCA declared a climate emergency in 2019 and identified a target date of 2041 by which the 

region should meet net zero target emissions.  

This business case will contribute towards #WM2041 by: 

• Accelerating the implementation of energy efficiency and renewable energy projects across 
the West Midlands 

• Mobilizing significant investments in low carbon technologies and infrastructure. 

• Supporting the development and deployment of innovative Net Zero Solutions 

• Enhancing collaboration between public, private and community sectors to drive widespread 
adaptation of Net Zero practises. 

• Building capacity and skills within the region to sustain long-term Net Zero objectives. 
 

3.0 ASSURANCE FINDINGS 

 
The BCAT (business case assessment tool) is a snapshot of the achievability of the programme at 
a precise moment in time, and since the assurance activity, the business case author has added 
further detail to the business case which provides more confidence that this PBC can deliver its 
objectives successfully.  
 
WMCA Assurance rated the overall maturity of this business case as 95% which is defined as:  
 

Page 124



 

 
Risk & Investment Appraisal 

Single Assurance Framework 

 

10 | P a g e  

 

Green 80 – 100%: Successful delivery of the project / programme to time, cost and benefits 
realisation rather than quality… appears highly likely and there are no major outstanding issues that 
at this stage appear to threaten delivery.  
 
 
 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 175

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 197

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 209

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 267

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 281

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 295

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 313

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 321

Agenda Item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 327

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 333

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes - 12 February 2024
	5 Investment Programme Update and Dashboard
	1.	Note approval under delegated authority by WMCA Officers of the business case submission disclosed at Section 3.
	2.	Note the WMCA Investment Programme funding status and current affordable limit, as outlined at Section 4.
	3.	Note the Regional Investment Programme delivery update detailed within this report and appendices (including the project-level summary within the WMCA Investment Programme dashboard at Appendix 2).
	1	Purpose
	1.1	The Investment Board agreed on 26th March 2018 to receive a monthly report on the status of the Investment Programme to help set the context for any investment decisions being made by the Board. This report fulfils that requirement.

	2	Background
	2.1	The Investment Board was established by the WMCA Board as a key element of the approvals process across the Investment Programme.
	2.2	The Investment Board considered and endorsed an enhanced Terms of Reference at its meeting on 20th April 2020 (approved by WMCA Board 24th July 2020). This set out an enhanced role supporting decision-making, greater post approval controls, performance management and effective delivery of monitoring & evaluation requirements.
	2.3	The enhanced Terms of Reference included the following:
		To oversee and monitor all investments made through the Investment Programme.
		To add conditions to any funding decision that falls within its delegated authority. Minimum conditions should specify the availability period, conditions to drawdown of funds, conditions for withdrawal of support and terms of clawback, start date and completion date for the project or programme.
		Where oversight of monitoring and evaluation applies to the Investment Board, to consider whether a formal review of project or programme is required, and to consider this review itself or instruct the Investment Panel to do so on its behalf.
	2.4	On the 10th of June 2022, WMCA Board approved extending the role and remit of WMCA Investment Board to cover all WMCA projects (including the CRSTS programme), allowing investment decisions to be made for values between £5 million and £20 million in line with the Single Assurance Framework.

	3	Investment Programme Assurance Summary
	3.1	Approved grant funding awarded and administered by the WMCA to programmes within the Regional Investment Programme totals £854.2 million as at 29th February 2024 (previously £853.7 million as at 31st January 2024) – refer to paragraph 3.4.
	3.2	These commitment values above exclude the provisional ‘ear-marked’ allocations agreed by WMCA Board in March 2021 that are yet to obtain formal approval. Commitments for some of these ear-marked items will be confirmed via the approval of further reports to WMCA Board.
	3.3	WMCA Investment Programme funding actually drawn / incurred by projects against these funding commitments as at 31st December 2023 totals £598.6 million. An analysis of funding drawn is provided at Appendix 1.
	3.4	Since the previous full sitting of WMCA Investment Board on 12th February 2024 there has been one business case submission approved under delegated powers in respect of grant funding. This was a SOC submission for the West Coast Mainline M42 bridge project. Funding of £0.5m was awarded from the Investment Programme for the development of an OBC.
	3.5	Appendix 1 details the commitments made against the WMCA Investment Programme, summarised by programme, to the end of February 2024. The WMCA Investment Programme dashboard at Appendix 2 discloses the sums committed against individual projects.

	4	Investment Programme Affordable Limit & Gateway Status
	4.1	At the WMCA Board meeting on 19th March 2021, WMCA Board approved an increase to the current WMCA Investment Programme affordable limit of £70 million, from £801 million to £871 million.
	4.2	This remains the current limit of grant funding that can be provided by WMCA from the Investment Programme. The WMCA capital programme is currently subject to a review due to the opportunities arising from the region’s Single Settlement secured with Central Government.
	4.3	Investment Board is advised to note that WMCA are working closely with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (‘DLUHC’) in respect of an Interim Gateway Review.
	4.4	An internal Audit is being conducted on the Investment Programme monitoring under the instruction of ARAC and as part of routine reports on all aspects of the WMCA functionality. The Investment Board will be advised of the outcome and any recommendations arising when these are produced – expected in the next few weeks.
	5.1	The expenditure funded by the WMCA Investment Programme during Q3 of FY23-24 totals £48.9m. This expenditure comprises:
	5.2	The WMCA Investment Programme dashboard at Appendix 2 provides a detailed summary by project of project completion dates, business case stage and commentary on key project milestones.

	6	Investment Programme Dashboard
	6.1	The Investment Programme (IP) Dashboard is attached separately at Appendix 2.
	6.2	The dashboard identifies whether project starts, and completions are as forecast when compared with the original business case, or funding documentation where this supersedes the business case.
	6.3	There are eighty-four projects that have passed the Assurance Process and have received a financial commitment (noting that several projects have identified distinct sub-projects within the approval). One new project has been added to the Investment Programme Dashboard – CRSTS – CRNaC – West Coast Mainline M42 Bridge SOC. This was approved by DSO on 26 February 2024 and is utilising £510k of residual IP funds from the Hub Movement and Connectivity project within the UKC Interchange Programme.
	6.4	Sixteen schemes have a RED status for completion dates, with the Assurance and Appraisal team working with Sponsors to bring forward requests to extend dates to the relevant approval body. Those projects with a RED status are brought to the attention of Investment Board.
		UKC Interchange – UGC Business Plan – UGC Operating Costs has moved to a RED status due to a Change Request being received in Assurance and Appraisal to extend the completion date. The Change Request was resubmitted on 10/01/24 responding to queries raised by Appraisal. A further resubmission of the Change Request was submitted on 27/02/2024, reflecting Appraisal recommendations.
		UKC Infrastructure – There are now ten schemes which are listed as RED status because the original completion date has either expired without the project concluding or the project requires a time extension. The IP team are working with programme Assurance and Appraisal and Project Sponsor to determine a consolidated approach to reflect a number of time extension requests across the UKC Infrastructure Programme. The schemes currently RED status are:
		Coventry South Interchange -A46 Stoneleigh Junction (A46 Link Road Phase 1). RED status due to approved completion date having expired. A Change Request has been received in Assurance & Appraisal to extend the completion date (this has subsequently expired); queries raised with project sponsor are currently outstanding. Subsequently, the IP SRO has emailed the project SRO requesting an update.
		Metro Programme. Birmingham Eastside Extension – The original Project Change Request has been withdrawn due to a planned refresh of the Full Business Case. A date for this is to be confirmed.
		Rail. A Change Request is awaited from Project Team as the following three projects are being rebased, reflecting a number of known challenges:

	7	Legal Implications
	7.1	There are no legal implications as a result of the recommendations within this report.

	8	Equalities Implications
	8.1	There are no equalities implications as a result of the recommendations within this report.

	9	Inclusive Growth Implications
	9.1	There are no inclusive growth implications as a result of the recommendations within this report.

	10	Geographical Area of Report’s Implications
	10.1	There are no geographical implications as a result of the recommendations within this report. The Regional Investment Programme comprises an array of programmes throughout each of the seven West Midlands constituent member areas. These programmes also have implications for some non-constituent areas and the wider local area beyond the constituent member regions.

	11	Other Implications
	12.1	Not applicable.
	13	Schedule of Background Appendices
	Appendix 1: Tables and Graphs
	Table 1: WMCA Investment Programme Commitments (as at 29th February 2024) This table summarises the total grant funding approved to date to be provided by WMCA from the WMCA Investment Programme, summarised by programme.
	Graph 1: WMCA Investment Programme Funding Drawn This graph shows how Investment Programme Funding has been drawn to date and the current expectations for future drawings from within the current affordable limit.
	Appendix 2: WMCA Investment Programme Dashboard Report (as at 29th February 2024) See separate attachment. This appendix summarises the WMCA grant funding commitments by project, as well as business case stage and expected project completion dates.

	February 2024 IP Dashboard Final

	6 WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - Dashboard
	7 WMCA Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund (BLPDF) - Dashboard
	8 WMCA Residential  Investment Fund (RIF) - Dashboard
	9 Local Net Zero Accelerator Programme
	The LNZA Programme aims to address one of the key barriers to delivering place-based Net Zero projects at scale, that include retrofit, which is the gap between funding need and availability.  It will create a blended regional fund, combining outcome-seeking finance alongside grant funding and private debt to finance whole place solutions and create scalable investment opportunities.
	A blended approach to funding place-based net zero projects is required because grant funding is insufficient to meet the costs associated with meeting our Net Zero targets, so other sources of finance are needed. These include return-seeking finance, i.e. where the energy cost savings from the project cover some or all of the capital cost, and outcome seeking finance, where investors are prepared to fund a project based on non-financial or additional outcomes resulting from the project, for example carbon credits, healthcare savings and avoided infrastructure investment costs.
	Development of Net Zero Neighbourhood projects through LNZA, with a strong focus on data collection and business case development, will generate the evidence base needed to mobilise outcomes-seeking funding, and produce a pipeline of investable projects.
	The outputs from this project will be replicable across other areas as devolution is rolled out. Addressing these barriers and blending finance solutions will make financing for Net Zero projects more attractive to funders and maximize the leverage of future devolved funding through the Single Funding Settlement to deliver Net Zero at pace and scale.
	The core aim of this programme is to develop a scalable, replicable, and financeable model for accelerating progress to a just Net Zero energy transition.  To achieve the conditions of the funding award, we will design and build a regional Net Zero Fund, taking capital from grant funding, return seeking finance and outcomes funding, amalgamating into one funding pot and distributing equitably to enable place-based Net Zero projects.  This blended finance model will help address one of the key barriers to delivering Net Zero projects at scale – the funding gap.
	This programme has been built off the back of significant research and evidence, both regionally and nationally. Funded by Innovate UK, the Energy Capital Partnership has progressed research and understanding through its recent place-based smart local energy system (Zero Carbon Rugeley) and Net Zero Living (CAMPOS) projects. In the Innovate UK funded Project CAMPOS Phase 1 report, the potential for 'outcomes funding' was explored to bring new finance into place-based decarbonisation projects as part of a blended finance model - focusing on carbon, energy systems resilience and health outcomes. The results highlighted varying degrees of market readiness to fund these outcomes, and the need to overcome three key barriers.
	The primary barriers that must be removed to persuade outcome investors to engage with place-based projects such as WMCA's Net Zero Neighbourhoods (NZN) programme are:
	This project will address these barriers by achieving the following objectives:
	To accelerate delivery, maximise learning and realise the benefits, we will work with five Net Zero Neighbourhood demonstration projects across the region, maximising the value and impact of the existing regional NZN programme. By the end of the project, we will have delivered tangible outputs against each of the three barriers:
	WMCA-SAF-TP018_PBC - LNZA -
	COMPLETED APPRAISAL - NetZero - WMCA-SAF-GD008 Risk and Investment Appraisal_Report

	11 Stratford Gateway Acquisition
	Enc. 1 for Stratford Gateway Acquisition
	Enc. 2 for Stratford Gateway Acquisition
	Enc. 3 for Stratford Gateway Acquisition

	12 OBC Change Request – Electric Vehicle Charging Area Transit Stations (EV CATS)
	Enc. 2 for OBC Change Request – Electric Vehicle Charging Area Transit Stations (EV CATS)

	13 Midland Metropolitan Hospital Learning Campus
	14 Gee Business Centre
	15 Wavensmere, Canalside South
	16 Proposed Hotel, Edgbaston, Warwickshire County Cricket Club
	17 WMCA Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) - Dashboard
	18 WMCA Brownfield Land and Property Development Fund (BLPDF) - Dashboard
	19 WMCA Residential Investment Fund (RIF) - Dashboard
	20 Land and Property Investment Fund (LPIF)

